NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.



ROLE OF ERBB3 DURING MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS

By NIKI SHARAN, M.Sc.

•

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Niki Sharan, September 2004 ROLE OF ERBB3 DURING MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2004) (Medical Sciences) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Role of ErbB3 During Mammary Tumorigenesis

AUTHOR: Niki Sharan, M.Sc. (McMaster University)

- -

SUPERVISOR Professor William J. Muller

NUMBER OF PAGES: xiii, 195

ABSTRACT

Overexpression of the Neu/ErbB-2 receptor tyrosine kinase is implicated in the genesis of human breast cancer. Previous studies have observed elevated levels of endogenous ErbB3 protein in Neu-induced tumors. Although it has been suggested that the aberrant co-expression of Neu and ErbB3 may play a critical role in the induction of human breast tumors, the biological significance and the molecular mechanism of ErbB3 regulation during Neu-mediated tumorigenesis remains unclear.

The results of this thesis demonstrate that the ability of ErbB3 to be constitutively phosphorylated and to regulate cell cycle progression through the activation of the PI-3K/mTOR pathway fully depends on the activity of Neu. Both PI-3K and mTOR in turn are involved in sustaining high levels of ErbB3 protein by increasing its stability. A mutant of ErbB3 unable to recruit and activate PI-3K (ErbB3-6F), blocks Neu-induced transformation, disrupts the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway and leads to apoptotic cell death. This strongly suggests that ErbB3's role in these tumors is to provide cell survival signals by recruiting the p85 regulatory unit of PI-3K and coupling overexpressed Neu to the PI-3K/mTOR/4EBP1 pathway.

This thesis further demonstrates that the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin, delays the onset and inhibits the growth of Neu-induced mammary tumors in transgenic mice. The rapamycin-induced tumor inhibition correlates with downregulation of ErbB3, S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1. I also show that the ErbB3-6F mutant exhibits antitumor activity *in vivo* by preventing tumor growth and facilitating tumor regression. Therefore, the antitumor activity of the rapamycin analogue, CCI-779 in human breast cancer may be mediated, in part, through the inactivation of ErbB3 thereby inhibiting the critical cell survival signals necessary for transformation. Taken together these results strongly suggest that Neu requires ErbB3 to drive mammary transformation and that the ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer may function as an oncogenic unit to recruit distinct yet complimentary signaling pathways that cooperate during mammary tumor progression. The results of this thesis provide a molecular basis for the selective targeting of the ErbB3/PI-3K/mTOR signaling pathway in the treatment of HER2-mediated human breast malignancies in which HER3 is overexpressed.

111

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my supervisor Dr. William J. Muller for providing me with the opportunity to work in his lab and for his mentorship throughout the years. I would also like to thank my thesis committee members Dr. Peter Whyte, Dr. Jonathan Lee, and Dr. Suleiman Igdoura for their invaluable suggestions.

I thank the members of the Muller lab for making the time spent in the lab an enjoyable experience. In particular, I am forever indebted to my friends Jaimie Manlucu, Harold Kim and John Hutchinson. You have generously shared your time and have been very supportive. I will always cherish the laughter and fun times we all had together. Thank you also to Mike Laing, Rob Perry, Monica Graham and Don White for making the lab a fun place to work.

I would like to thank my family for their tremendous support without which this thesis would not have been possible. First and foremost I would like to thank my respected parents. Dad and Mom, you have provided me with a home filled with love and happiness. You've always encouraged me and believed that I could achieve anything I wanted. But most of all you have set an example for me that I can only hope to achieve one day. I also want to thank my brother Sumit. You're definitely one in a billion and I thank you so much for your love, encouragement and support throughout the years.

To my husband Amit- I have come to depend on you everyday for your kindness and generosity. You have been a tremendous support and have made this thesis both possible and worth achieving. I thank you from the bottom of my heart for your unconditional love.

iv

CONTRIBUTIONS BY OTHERS

Some of the work presented in this thesis was obtained by the help of others and I would like to thank those who contributed.

- 1. The ErbB3-6F adenovirus was constructed with the help of Mark Mitchell, a graduate student in Dr. S. Igdoura's laboratory.
- 2. The NeuKD adenovirus was provided by Dr. Y. Wan from the department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine at McMaster University.
- 3. The FACS analysis described in Figure 3.9 was performed by Nisha Anand, a graduate student in Dr. Jonathan Lee's laboratory.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page	i
Descriptive Note	'n
Abstract	• • • • •
Acknowledgments	iv
Contributions by Others	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xiv
List of Abbreviations	XV

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1	MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS	1
1.2	ROLE OF EGFR FAMILY IN MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS	1
1.3	THE NEU ONCOGENE	5
1.4	EGFR FAMILY OF LIGANDS	6
1.5	ERBB2/NEU DIMERIZATION AND ACTIVATION	7
1.6	INTER-RECEPTOR INTERACTIONS AMONG THE EGFR FAMILY	9
	MEMBERS	
1.7	SIGNALING FROM ERBB2/NEU TYROSINE KINASE	10
1.8	ERBB2 OVEREXPRESSION AND THE CELL CYCLE	11
1.9	SIGNALING FROM ERBB3 TYROSINE KINASE	12
1.10	THE MAMMALIAN TARGET OF RAPAMYCIN (mTOR)	14
	DOWNSTREAM TARGETS	
1.11	mTOR SIGNALING	15
1.12	MECHANISM OF ACTION OF RAPAMYCIN	22
1.13	mTOR AS A TARGET FOR BREAST CANCER	24
1.14	EXPERIMENTAL RATIONALE	25
	1.14.1 Background	25
	1.14.2 Purpose	26

1.14.3	Hypothesis	27
1.14.4	Testing the hypothesis	31

CHAPTER 2: Materials and Methods

2.1	PLASMIDS	36
2.2	ADENOVIRUS CONSTRUCTION	36
	2.2.1 Preparation of plasmid DNA	36
	2.2.2 Maintenance of 293 cells	38
	2.2.3 Adenovirus rescue by <i>in vivo</i> site-specific recombination	38
	2.2.4 Analysis of recombinant vectors	39
	2.2.5 Titration of Adenovirus	40
2.3	TISSUE CULTURE	40
	2.3.1 Cell lines	40
	2.3.2 Focus Assays	41
2.4	DNA ANALYSIS	41
	2.4.1 Genomic DNA extraction from cell culture and mouse tissue	41
	2.4.2 Analysis of DNA by southern blot	42
	2.4.3 Genotyping by PCR analysis	43
2.5	RNA ANALYSIS	44
	2.5.1 RNA isolation	44
	2.5.2 Plasmid templates for riboprobe synthesis	44
	2.5.3 Synthesis of Riboprobe using <i>in vitro</i> transcription reaction	45
	2.5.4 RNase Protection Analysis	45
2.6	PROTEIN ANALYSIS	46
·	2.6.1 Preparation of protein extract from cell culture and tissue	46
	2.6.2 Immunoprecipitation	46
	2.6.3 Immunoblotting	47
	2.6.4 Pulse Chase Analysis	47
2.7	FLOW CYTOMETRY	48
2.8	APOPTOSIS ASSAY	48
2.9	TUMOR INDUCTION AND DRUG TREATMENT	48

	2.9.1 Treatment with Rapamycin	49
	2.9.2 Adenoviral Infection and Intratumoral Administration	49
2.10	HISTOLOGICAL EVALUATION	50
	2.13.1 Autopsy of tumor-transplanted Fvb and NDL2-5 transgenic	50
	2.13.2 Whole mount Preparation	50

CHAPTER 3: The PI-3K/mTOR pathway is involved in the regulation of ErbB3

•

		During Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis	52
3.1	INTR	ODUCTION	52
3.2	RESU	ILTS	55
	3.2.1	Rapamycin decreases levels of ErbB-3 protein and dephosphorylates S6K	
		4EBP1	55
	3.2.2	Rapamycin does not alter ErbB3 mRNA levels	58
	3.2.3	Inhibition of PI-3K by LY294002 decreases ErbB3 protein levels	
		and dephosphorylates S6K and 4EBP1	61
	3.2.4	Rapamycin and LY294002 do not affect AkT phosphorylation	64
	3.2.5	Dominant negative PI-3K inhibits ErbB-3 protein in NAFA cells	64
	3.2.6	Dominant negative PI-3K affects S6K, 4EBP1, and cyclin D1 but not Akt	69
	3.2.7	Both rapamycin and LY294002 increase ErbB-3 turnover	72
	3.2.8	PI-3K inhibition induces apoptosis in NAFA cells	.73
	3.2.9	Rapamycin induces G1 arrest and inhibits cyclin D1 in NAFA cells	73
	3.2.10	Rapamcyin prevents tumor growth in vivo: Mouse rapamycin trial	80
	3.2.11	Rapamycin delays tumor onset and growth in transgenic mice	
		overexpressing constitutively activated Neu in the mammary gland	86
	3.2.12	Rapamycin has an effect on the subgross and histological patterns	
		of NDL2-5transgenics	89
	3.2.13	NDL2-5 mice treated with rapamycin show decreases in ErbB2 and ErbB3	
		protein levels	94
	3.2.14	Mammary glands of rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show	
		dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1 but not Akt	.97

3.2.15 Mammary glands of rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show a decrease in	
cyclin D1 mRNA and protein	97
3.3 DISCUSSION	105

÷ .

CHAPTER 4: ErbB3 drives Neu-mediated transformation by coupling to PI-3K and activating the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway.

4.1	INTRODUCTION	116
4.2	RESULTS	118
	4.2.1 NeuKD inhibits transforming activity of activated Neu in rat-1 fibroblasts	118
	4.2.2 NeuKD decreases ErbB3 protein levels in NAFA cells	119
	4.2.3 NeuKD leads to dephosphorylation S6K, 4EBP1 and inactivation of	
	cyclin D1 protein	124
	4.3.4 NeuKD induces apoptosis in NAFA cells	127
	4.2.5 ErbB3-6F mutant cannot bind to PI-3K but can still interact with Shc	127
	4.2.6 ErbB3-6F leads to dephosphorylation of ErbB3, S6K and 4EBP1 but has	
	no effect on the of Neu and Akt	132
	4.2.7 ErbB3-6 decreases Neu-mediated transformation in Rat-1 fibroblasts	132
	4.2.8 ErbB3-6F induces apoptosis in NAFA cells prevents growth of NAFA	
	cells in vivo	135
4.3	DISCUSSION	145

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS5.1 CONCLUSIONS1545.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS157

REFERENCES		166
	***************************************	100

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1.1	Activation of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Tyrosine Kinases	3
Figure 1.2	The target of rapamycin signaling pathway	16
Figure 1.3	Hypothetical Model Illustrating the potential signaling role of ErbB3	
	during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis	28
Figure 1.4	Testing the hypothetical model by the use of chemical inhibitors	
	and mutants	32

CHAPTER 2 No Figures

CHAPTER 3

ø

Figure 3.1.	Rapamycin decreases levels of ErbB-3 protein and	
	dephosphorylates S6K and 4EBP1	56
Figure 3.2	The levels of ErbB-3 transcript remain unchanged after treatment	
	with rapamycin	59
Figure 3.3	LY294002 decreases ErbB3 protein levels and leads to	
	dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1	62
Figure 3.4	Rapamycin and LY294002 do not affect Akt phosphorylation	65
Figure 3.5	Schematic illustration of Cre-inducible expression cassette carrying the	
	dominant negative PI-3K and its effects on levels of ErbB3 protein	67
Figure 3.6	Biochemical analysis of NAFA cells possessing the inducible dominant	
	negative p85 inhibitor	70
Figure 3.7	Pulse chase analysis on NAFA cells showing that inhibition of PI-3K and	
	mTOR leads to an increase in ErbB-3 turnover	74
Figure 3.8	Inhibition of PI-3K activity leads to apoptosis	76
Figure 3.9	Rapamycin induces G1 arrest in NAFA cells in a dose dependent manner	78
Figure 3.10	Rapamycin-treated NAFA cells show decreases in cyclin D1 mRNA	
	and protein	81
Figure 3.11	Rapamycin prevents tumor growth in vivo	84

Figure 3.12	Rapamycin delays the onset and progression of mammary tumors in	
	activated Neu-expressing transgenic mice	87
Figure 3.13	Wholemount analyses of mammary glands from vehicle versus	
	rapamycin-treated Neu-expressing transgenic mice.	90
Figure 3.14	Histological analyses of mammary glands from vehicle versus	
	rapamycin-treated Neu-expressing transgenic mice	92
Figure 3.15	Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show	
	decreases in ErbB2 and ErbB3 protein levels	95
Figure 3.16	Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show	
	dephosphorylation of S6K at the Thr389 site but not at Thr421/424	98
Figure 3.17	Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show an increase	
	in total 4EBP1 protein levels but a decrease in its phosphorylation state	
	(Ser65) compared to vehicle	100
Figure 3.18	Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin do not show	
	any changes in Akt phosphorylation when compared to vehicle	102
Figure 3.19	Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show a	
	decrease in cyclin D1 mRNA and protein compared to vehicle	105

CHAPTER 4

Figure 4.1	NeuKD decreases ErbB3 protein levels and dephosphorylates Neu	
	and ErbB3 in NAFA cells	122
Figure 4.2	NeuKD inhibits S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1 in NAFA cells	125
Figure 4.3	NeuKD induces apoptosis in NAFA cells	128
Figure 4.4	ErbB3-6F downregulates ErbB3 but has no effect on phosphorylation	
	status of Neu	130
Figure 4.5	ErbB3-6F leads to dephosphorylation of S6K and increases the	
	amounts of active hypophosphorylated 4EBP1	133
Figure 4.6	ErbB3-6F mutant decreases Neu-mediated transformation of	
	Rat-1 fibroblasts	136
Figure 4.7	Mutant ErbB3-6F induces apoptotic cell death	138
Figure 4.8	Mutant ErbB3-6F prevents the growth of NAFA cells in vivo	141

Figure 40	Mutant ErhB3_6F	facilitates	Neu-mediated	tumor regression	1/2
1 1guic 7.7	Mutant LIOD - OI	raemaaes	i vou-moutacou	cumor regression	 140

CHAPTER 5

Figure 5.1	Model illustrating the conclusions derived from the results obtained	
	in this thesis	168

TABLE

CHAPTER 4

Table 4.1	Effect of AdNeuKD on transformation of Rat-1 fibroblasts transfected	
	with either activated Neu (NeuNT), middle T antigen or activated Ras	
	(RasV12)	120

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
MAPK	Mitogen Activating Protein Kinase
MMLV	Moloney murine leukemia virus
MMTV-LTR	Mouse mammary tumor virus-long terminal repeat
mT	Middle T antigen
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NDL	Neu Deletion
NeuKD	Neu Kinase Dead
PGK	Phosphoglycerate kinase
PI-3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
S6K	p70 S6 kinase
4EBP1	4E binding protein 1

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS

Mammary tumor development is a multi-step process which begins with a benign hyperplasia and ends with an invasive tumor capable of metastasizing to distant organs. During this process, the cells escape normal regulatory processes which are necessary for the full malignant phenotype. Cancer cells must acquire proliferative potential and divide continuously. To accomplish this, cells must overcome contact inhibition and cellular checkpoints, which normally would induce apoptosis. The primary tumor also restructures its supply of nutrients and oxygen through the formation of new vessels. Finally, the tumor cells gain several new features including the ability to migrate and invade distant tissues.

The most frequently observed genetic abnormality associated with human breast cancer involves DNA amplification and/or overexpression of genes responsible for the generation of proliferative signals. The products of these genes include growth factors, growth factor receptors, cell cycle regulatory proteins and nuclear transcription factors. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) are critical in the genesis of human breast cancer and are the focus of this thesis.

1.2 ROLE OF EGFR FAMILY IN MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family of RTKs includes four members, EGFR/ErbB1/HER1 (Ullrich et al., 1984), ErbB2/Neu/HER2 (Bargmann et al., 1986b; Yamamoto et al., 1986) ErbB3/HER3 (Kraus et al., 1993; Plowman et al., 1990), and ErbB4/HER4 (Plowman et al., 1993a). The main function of these receptors is to send extracellular signals to the cell. All ErbBs have in common a highly glycosylated extracellular ligand-binding domain with two cystein-rich clusters, a single transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinase domain. Activation of

these receptors is regulated by expression of their respective ligands which are members of the EGF-related peptide growth factor family.

Ligand binding to ErbB receptors induces formation of homo-and heterodimers. This leads to activation of the intrinsic kinase activity of the component monomers and subsequent phosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues with the cytoplasmic tail. These phosphorylation residues serve as docking sites for Src homology 2 (SH2) and phophotyrosine-binding (PTB)-domain-containing cytoplasmic signaling molecules, whose recruitment leads to activation of appropriate downstream signaling cascades, including mitogen activated kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3K) (Figure 1.1).

Several clinical studies have implicated the ErbB-driven autocrine growth pathway in the development and progression of human breast cancer; its blockade therefore is a promising therapeutic strategy, and several candidate drugs are currently undergoing clinical trials.

Early investigations by Sainsbury et al revealed a strong correlation between EGFR overexpression and poor clinical outcome for the patient (Sainsbury et al., 1987). Similarly, Klijn et al suggested that EGFR overexpression was strongly associated with a higher risk of cancer relapse and death (Klijn et al., 1992). This finding however, was only weakly supported in longer follow-up studies (Bieche et al., 2003; Dittadi et al., 1993; Robertson et al., 1996).

Like EGFR, there is very little known about the correlation between ErbB3 and the genesis of human breast cancers. Studies have shown that ErbB3 overexpression has been observed in 13-29% of human breast cancers (Gasparini et al., 1994; Lemoine et al., 1992; Quinn et al., 1994) and this elevation is not due to gene amplification (Kraus et al., 1989; Lemoine et al., 1992). Very few studies have studied correlation between ErbB3 overexpression and patient prognosis. Bieche et al however, have shown that patients overexpressing ErbB3 experienced a shorter relapse-free survival (RFS) relative to patients with normal expression of the gene. Interestingly, RFS was not significantly influenced by the status of EGFR and ErbB2 expression (Bieche et al., 2003).

There is an extensive literature on the role of ErbB2 in breast cancer. ErbB2 amplification and overexpression has been found in 15-25% of breast cancers, and its

Figure 1.1. Activation of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family of RTKs includes four members, EGFR/ErbB1/HER1, ErbB2/Neu/HER2, ErbB3/HER3 and ErbB4/HER4. The main function of these receptors is to send extracellular signals to the cell. All ErbBs have in common a highly glycosylated extracellular ligand-binding domain (ECD) with two cystein-rich clusters, a single transmembrane domain (TMD), a kinase domain (KD) and a cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinase domain (CTD). Ligand binding to ErbB receptors induces formation of homo-and heterodimers. This leads to activation of the intrinsic kinase activity of the component monomers and subsequent phosphorylation residues serve as docking sites for Src homology 2 (SH2) and phophotyrosine-binding (PTB)-domain-containing cytoplasmic signaling molecules, whose recruitment leads to activation of specific downstream signaling cascades leading to an appropriate cellular response.





presence is strongly associated with poor prognosis (Press et al., 1993; Slamon et al., 1987; Slamon et al., 1989). ErbB2 overexpression predicts poor response to both chemo-(Thor, 2001; Thor et al., 1998) and hormonal therapy (Stal et al., 2000). For this reason several anti-ErbB2 cancer therapies have been developed and tested (summarized in (Atalay et al., 2003)). Trastuzuman (Herceptin), a humanized anti-ErbB2 monoclonal antibody has been approved in combination with paclitaxel for the treatment of patients with ErbB2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. The tyrosine kinase inhibitor TAK-165 is currently being evaluated in a phase I trial in HER-2 metastatic breast cancer (Naito et al., 2002; Yoshida et al., 2002). Several ongoing vaccination strategies aim to improve specific immune responses to tumor-specific antigen. A phase I/II clinical trial is currently assessing the tolerability of AutoVac HER-2 DNA pharmaccine (AutovacTM Pipeline [on-line], 2004). In addition a phase I gene therapy clinical trial using 5E1A (adenovirus type 5 which represses the HER-2 gene), has been studied in advanced stage breast cancer (Wang and Hung, 2001).

Given its increasing clinical importance, a better understanding of the molecular basis of EGFR family mediated tumorigenesis will identify important targets for therapy, as well as identify those patients who benefit most from certain interventional strategies.

1.3 THE NEU ONCOGENE

The neu oncogene was first identified as an activated oncogene. Purified DNA from tumors of carcinogen-treated rats was able to induce malignant growth of NIH 3T3 cells after transfection (Shih et al., 1979; Shih et al., 1981) suggesting that the DNA contained gene(s) with oncogenic potential. Secondary neuroblastoma transfectants were injected into mice in order to identify the protein responsible for the transformation. The crude antisera from tumor bearing mice precipitated a phosphoprotein of 185 kDa (Padhy et al., 1982). This transforming protein was then shown to be similar to growth factor receptors and was named 'neu' for the neuroglioblastoma from which it was derived (Schechter et al., 1984). Southern blot analysis indicated that the genomic DNA shared a high degree of similarity with the v-erbB oncogene and that the 185 kDa tumor antigen shared immunologic determinants with EGFR.

The neu cDNA was subsequently cloned and comparison of the transforming and wild type forms of neu revealed a single amino acid substitution in the transmembrane domain of ongonenic neu, converting a valine residue to glutamic acid (Bargmann et al., 1986). This oncogenic neu was referred as NeuNT. The consequences of this mutation for Neu activation is discussed in subsequent sections.

1.4 EGFR FAMILY OF LIGANDS

Under normal physiological conditions, activation of the ErbB receptors is controlled by their respective ligands which are produced as transmembrane precursors where proteolysis leads to production of soluble growth factors. These ligands are members of the EGF-related peptide growth factor family and can be subdivided into three groups based on their abilities to modulate the catalytic activity of the four EGFR family members. The first group includes EGF, amphiregulin and transforming growth factor- α , which bind specifically to EGFR (Normanno et al., 1994). The second group betacellulin, heparine-binding EGF and epiregulin possess dual specificity and therefore bind EGFR and ErbB4 (Riese and Stern, 1998). The third group consists of neuregulins (NRG), also known as Neu differentiation factors (NDFs) (Peles et al., 1992; Wen et al., 1992), and forms two subgroups based on their capacity to bind ErbB3 and ErbB4 (NRG-1 and NRG-2) or only ErbB4 (NRG-3 and NRG-4) (Carraway, III et al., 1994; Plowman et al., 1993b; Sliwkowski et al., 1994).

Despite the abundance of receptors identified for EGFR, ErbB3 and ErbB4, a fully characterized ligand that binds directly to Neu has yet to be discovered. However, there are candidates that do exist such as Neu-activating factor (NAF) (Dobashi et al., 1991; Samanta et al., 1994) which has been shown to interact with Neu expressed in insect cells and to stimulate dimerization and tyrosine phosphorylation of Neu expressed in mammalian cells (Samanta et al., 1994). Another transmembrane molecule referred to as ascites sialoglycoprotein-2 (ASGP-2) (Carraway et al., 1993) has been proposed as a native ligand for ErbB2 (Carraway et al., 1997).

1.5 ERBB-2/NEU DIMERIZATION AND ACTIVATION

Studies have shown that dimerization of two Neu receptor monomers is one of the first events to occur during receptor activation (Heldin, 1995; Schlessinger and Ullrich, 1992). The receptor has been shown to be activated by ligand binding, by overexpression and mutation leading to constitutive activation.

The principle mechanism by which ErbB2 is activated in human breast cancer is through amplification and overexpression. Several studies have shown that expression of high levels of wild-type ErbB2 and Neu in rat fibroblast cells induces transformation (di Fiore et al., 1987; Di Marco et al., 1990; Hudziak et al., 1987). Bargmann and Weinberg have suggested the importance of overexpression by demonstrating that expression of Neu at low levels does not lead to transformation of cultured mouse fibroblasts (Bargmann et al., 1986a). Indeed studies have shown that dimerization of Neu increases with increasing expression of Neu by resulting in a greater frequency of inter-receptor collision (Cao et al., 1992; Samanta et al., 1994).

Early studies identified that the effects of the point mutation seen in rat neu were mediated by dimerization. Weiner et al used nondenaturing gel electrophoresis with cell lysates prepared form cells overexpressing wild type Neu or NeuNT forms of p185 and found that the majority of p185 existed in a dimeric form, while wild type p185 existed in monomeric forms (Weiner et al., 1989). Further supporting the role of oligomerization of neu oncogene, Lofts et al co-transfected short neu transmembrane sequences lacking both the intracellular and extracellular domains (Lofts et al., 1993). These transfections inhibited oligomerization and the transforming potential of full-length p185neu oncogene. This strongly suggested that the formation of arranged oligomers are required for the activation of neu.

Several studies have identified the mechanism by which the transmembrane mutation observed in NeuNT leads to transformation. Although it is well accepted that this point mutation increases oligomerization and hence the activity of Neu, the mechanism by which this activation occurs remains elusive. Three models have been proposed to explain the mechanism by which the transmembrane point mutation leads to oligomerization.

The first model proposes that the adjacent 664E residues interact, while the second model proposes that the 664E residue interacts with the backbone of the adjacent receptor (Smith et al., 1996; Sternberg and Gullick, 1989). The third model proposes that the V664E mutation leads to a global conformational change within the transmembrane domain which results in a more stable dimmer formation. Molecular modeling and other structural analysis studies of the transmembrane domains of wild type Neu and NeuNT have suggested that wild type Neu contains a kinked transmembrane which prevents aggregation of the receptor whereas NeuNT is primarily helical which facilitates receptor dimerization (Brandt-Rauf et al., 1989; Brandt-Rauf et al., 1990; Brandt-Rauf et al., 1995). However, other studies have not supported this model (Sajot and Genest, 2000; Smith et al., 1996). Gullick et al argue this theory on the grounds that nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy results show that partial transmembrane domain peptides from Neu and NeuNT possess identical α -helical structures (Gullick et al., 1992). Despite the controversy as to the mechanism of NeuNT activation, it is well accepted that this point mutation leads to increased dimerization, increased receptor tyrosine kinase activity and increased transformation potential of the neu protooncogene.

In addition to the point mutant, mutations in the extracellular domain of the Neu oncogene have been identified. Initially, an engineered A653C substitution in the extracellular domain of Neu was shown to enhance dimerization, however, did not result in oncogenic activation of the receptor (Cao et al., 1992). Subsequent studies showed that transgenic mice overexpressing the Neu protooncogene in the mammary gland developed spontaneous activating mutations that remove, alter or insert cystein residues in the extracellular domain of the receptor (Siegel et al., 1994). These mutations lead to constitutive dimerization and activation through the formation of intermolecular disulfide bonds and enhance the oncogenic potential of the altered receptors (Siegel et al., 1996). Interestingly, a splice variant of ErbB2 has been cloned (Siegel et al., 1999). This splice variant is oncogenic and can induce ligand-independent activation of ErbB2. The above studies show that the Neu receptor can be activated by several different molecular mechanisms.

1.6 INTER-RECEPTOR INTERACTIONS AMONG THE EGFR FAMILY MEMBERS

Studies have shown that in addition to the formation of homodimers, the EGFR family of receptors also have the capacity to heterodimerize with one another (Carraway, III and Cantley, 1994; Earp et al., 1995; Riese and Stern, 1998). Receptor dimerization amongst the EGFR family members have shown to be quite complex and has been demonstrated for every ErbB receptor combination. Thus, from a family of four receptors, ten complexes are possible: four homodimers and six heterodimers. Signal originating from a given receptor complex varies depending on the combination present in the dimer, leading to a repertoire of EGFR molecules for diverse signaling.

Stern and Kamps first raised the possibility of heterodimerization given the observation that EGF stimulation of Rat-1 fibroblasts led to phosphorylation of Neu (Stern and Kamps, 1988). The fact that EGF cannot bind directly to Neu suggests that the EGF-dependent activation of ErbB2 is a result of transphosphorylation through the formation of EGFR/ErbB2 heterodimers. Direct evidence suggesting heterodimerization came from studies demonstrating the presence of physical complexes between EGFR and ErbB2 in both NIH 3T3 and human breast carcinoma cells (Goldman et al., 1990; Wada et al., 1990). Co-expression of EGFR and ErbB2 in mouse fibroblast cells leads to enhanced ability of these two receptors to induce transformation (Kokai et al., 1989). ErbB3 and ErbB4 have also been shown to interact with EGFR (Kim et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994; Tzahar et al., 1996) since NRG stimulation of ErbB3 (Riese et al., 1995) and ErbB4 (Cohen et al., 1996; Riese et al., 1995) leads to phosphorylation of EGFR.

ErbB2/Neu has also been shown to heterodimerize with ErbB3 and ErbB4. Transphosphorylation of ErbB2 has been observed by both ErbB3 and ErbB4 in response to NRG stimulation. Furthermore, several independent studies have detected both ErbB2/ErbB3 and ErbB2/ErbB4 heterodimers ((Karunagaran et al., 1996; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1996; Riese et al., 1995; Tzahar et al., 1996). Initial studies performed by Alimandi et al demonstrated the importance of the ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimerizations by showing that co-transfection of ErbB2/ErbB3 led to transformation of NIH 3T3 cells (Alimandi et al., 1995). This finding was further supported by studies showing that

9

coinfection of ErbB2/ErbB3 in NIH3T3 cells led to the formation of colonies in soft agar (Wallasch et al., 1995). Subsequently, several other independent studies highlighted the importance of transphosphorylation and heterodimerization amongst the EGFR members by using mammary carcinoma cell lines expressing all four members of the EGFR family (T47D and MCF7 cells). They used a single chain antibody that specifically retains ErbB2 in the endoplasmic reticulum. Both EGFR and ErbB3 were unable to undergo phosphorylation when stimulated with EGF or NDF, respectively ((Beerli et al., 1995; Graus-Porta et al., 1995). This demonstrated that the lack of ErbB2 surface expression leads to inhibition of transphosphorylation and heterodimerization. Further studies support these finding by demonstrating that ErbB2 or ErbB3 singly expressed in cells devoid of other ErbBs cannot be activated by ErbB ligands, even at very high ligand concentrations. However, in the presence of a co-receptor, ErbB2 and ErbB3 promote strong intracellular signaling (Harari and Yarden, 2000; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1996; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1997). Taken together, these results suggested that ErbB2 may play an important role in the ability of the other EGFR members to induce transformation (Graus-Porta et al., 1997; Karunagaran et al., 1996; Tzahar et al., 1996).

1.7 SIGNALING FROM ERBB2/NEU TYROSINE KINASE

Receptor dimerization leads to kinase activation and phosphorylation of cytoplasmic tyrosine residues which serve as docking sites for a variety of cytoplasmic signaling molecules containing SH2 or PTB domains (Pawson, 1995). Analysis of the repertoire of signaling molecules that associate with ErbB2 revealed no unique substrate which would explain the transforming ability of this oncogene. However, the transforming mutant of ErbB2, which serves as a model system for human breast cancer, strongly interacts with both the phosphotidylinositol 3- kinase (PI-3K) pathways (Peles et al., 1992) and the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Ben Levy et al., 1994). These observations support that cell proliferation and cell survival are activated by ErbB2 through these respective biochemical pathways.

The enzyme phospholipase C- γ (PLC- γ) was the first substrate shown to associate with ErbB2 by coimmunoprecipitation studies using NIH3T3 cells (Fazioli et al., 1991;

Peles et al., 1991). The following year, Jallal et al demonstrated the same interaction in human mammary tumor derived cell lines (Jallal et al., 1992). Phosphotidyl inositol kinases are additional substrates of ErbB2 that generate lipid second messengers. Scott et al have shown that activation of ErbB2 stimulates PI-3K activity in BT474 cells (Scott et al., 1991). In addition to PI-3K, ErbB2 can also regulate the Ras/MAPK pathway. The Ras-GTPase activating protein (Ras-GAP) SH2 domain can bind and activate Neu *in vitro* (Muthuswamy et al., 1994). In addition to PI-3K and Ras, c-Src and c-Yes are also able to associate with ErbB2 both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Luttrell et al., 1994; Muthuswamy and Muller, 1995a; Muthuswamy and Muller, 1995b).

Adaptor molecules such as Grb-2 and Shc are also considered substrates of ErbB2 since they are involved in linking ErbB2 to the Ras/MAPK pathway. Grb-2 exists in a complex with the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Son of sevenless (Sos), which can activate Ras by catalyzing the exchange of bound GDP for GTP (McCormick, 1994). Grb-2 contains SH3 domains and proline-rich regions within the C-terminus of Sos. This allows the SH2 domain of Grb-2 to bind either Shc or ErbB2. Interestingly, many ErbB2-overexpressing breast cancer cells also overexpress Grb-2 (Daly et al., 1994). In fact studies have demonstrated physical complexes between ErbB2 and Grb-2 in several breast tumor-derived cell lines (Janes et al., 1994). The importance of Grb-2 in mammary tumorigenesis is substantiated by the fact that Grb-2 mutants that lack their SH3 domains decrease transformation driven by activated ErbB2 (Xie et al., 1995).

1.8 ERBB2 OVEREXPRESSION AND THE CELL CYCLE

The D-type cyclins are induced by numerous mitogenic stimuli and play a central role in initiation of cell cycle progression. Cyclin D1 has been shown to play an important role in mammary transformation since its aberrant expression can reduce or overcome the dependency of mitogenic stimulation (Bartkova et al., 1997; Sherr and Roberts, 1999; Weinberg, 1995). In fact, cyclin D1 is overexpressed in approximately 40% of human breast cancers (Bartkova et al., 1994). Its overexpression is particularly high (>75%) in ductal carcinomas *in situ* (DCIS), the majority of which also overexpress ErbB2 (Allred et al., 1992; Mack et al., 1997). Other cyclin genes are very rarely

amplified in breast cancer (Courjal et al., 1996; Gillett et al., 1994). ErbB-dependent mitogenic signaling has been shown to channel through the activation of cyclin D1. In particular, cell lines transfected with either wild type or oncogenic ErbB2 show a dramatic upregulation of cyclin D1 protein expression and this upregulation is at least in part initiated at the transcription level (Lee et al., 2000). Involvement of cyclin D1 in ErbB2-mediated tumorigenesis is further supported by various studies demonstrating that cyclin D1 can be upregulated by activated Ras, Raf, MEK and Rac, all downstream targets of ErbB2 signaling cascades (Albanese et al., 1995; Aziz et al., 1999; Cheng et al., 1998; Gjoerup et al., 1998). These data implicate the requirement for cyclin D1 in breast cancer cells overexpressing ErbB2.

Direct evidence demonstrating the importance of cyclin D1 during neu-mediated transformation derives from studies using cyclin D1 deficient mice (Bowe et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2001b). Yu et al., have shown that mice lacking cyclin D1 expression are resistant to breast cancers induced by neu and ras but remain sensitive to other oncogenic pathways such as c-myc. This suggests the depency of neu on cyclin D1 for malignant transformation.

1.9 SIGNALING FROM ERBB3 TYROSINE KINASE

ErbB3 is a unique member of the EGFR family of protein tyrosine kinases. As mentioned earlier, the protein tyrosine kinase activity intrinsic to ErbB receptors is critical to their function. However, unlike other ErbB family members, the ErbB3 receptor lacks intrinsic kinase activity (Guy et al., 1994b). Interestingly, this does not prevent ErbB3 from being phosphorylated on C-terminal tyrosine residues. Studies suggest that this is due to ligand-driven or ligand-independent heterdomeric interactions with other ErbB family members (Kim et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994; Wallasch et al., 1995).

Of the various heterodimers formed, the ErbB2/ErbB3 dimer constitutes a coreceptor which is capable of eliciting potent mitogenic signaling (Carraway, III et al., 1995; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1996) as well as transforming signals (Cohen et al., 1996; Zhang et al., 1996). Indeed studies have shown that NIH3T3 fibroblasts devoid of endogenous ErbB expression is non-transforming when transfected with ErbB2 alone. However, coexpression of ErbB3 enhances ErbB2-mediated transformation of NIH3T3 cells and Rat-1 fibroblasts (Alimandi et al., 1995; Siegel et al., 1999). This notion is further supported by using ErbB2-expressing transgenic mouse models (Siegel et al., 1999). Here Siegel et al show that sites of activated ErbB2-induced tumor formation show elevated levels of ErbB3 expression. Consistent with these results is the observation that ErbB2 and ErbB3 are frequently overexpressed in human breast cancer cells (Naidu et al., 1998; Siegel et al., 1999). These results highlight the importance of the ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer during mammary tumorigenesis and reflect the ability of this heterodimer to activate cellular signaling pathways that elicit cellular proliferation and transformation.

The carboxyl-terminus of ErbB3 contains several docking sites for signaltransducing proteins containing SH2,SH3 and PTB domains (Hellyer et al., 1998; Olayioye et al., 2000) and hence increasing the mitogenic signaling for ErbB3-containing heterodimers. ErbB3 contains one Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr (NPXY) and six Tyr-Xaa-Xaa-Met (YXXM) sequence motifs, which are consensus binding sites for Shc and PI-3K, respectively. Shc is also known to interact with EGFR and ErbB2 through its PTB domain (Batzer et al., 1994; Dankort et al., 2001; Dankort et al., 1997). Upon association, Shc activates the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling cascade (Guan, 1994; Seger and Krebs, 1995) which is well known to regulate cell proliferation pathways (Pages et al., 1993; Posada and Cooper, 1992).

In addition to recruiting Shc, ErbB3 also recruits PI-3K (Kim et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994). The PI-3K protein consists of two subunits namely p85 and p110 (Escobedo et al., 1991; Hiles et al., 1992; Hu et al., 1993). The p85 regulatory subunit of PI-3K contains SH2 domains which associate with the YXXM motifs of ErbB3 (Hellyer et al., 1998). The p110 catalytic subunit is required for the catalytic function of PI-3K (Dhand et al., 1994; Otsu et al., 1991). Each of the six YXXM motifs on ErbB3 has the ability to bind the PI-3K holoenzyme (Hellyer et al., 2001). The regulatory subunit maintains the catalytic unit in a low-activity state in quiescent cells and mediates its activation by direct interaction with phosphotyrosine residues (Otsu et al., 1991). Direct binding of p110 to activated Ras further stimulates PI-3K activity (Kodaki et al., 1994).

Activated PI-3K then phosphorylates phosphoinositides on the D-3 position of the inositol ring (Varticovski et al., 1994) in response to cell stimulation by growth factors. The phosphorylated lipid product phosphotidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP₃), acts as a second messenger that mediate mitogenic and transforming signals within the cell (Toker and Cantley, 1997).

How does lipid phosphorylation set in motion a coordinated set of events leading to cell growth, cell cycle entry and cell survival? Many signaling proteins, including protein serine-threonine kinases and protein tyrosine kinases have pleckstrin homology domains that specifically bind to D-3 phosphorylated phosphoinositides (PI(3,4,5)P₃). These proteins are located in the cytosol of unstimulated cells and accumulate in the plasma membrane upon lipid phosphorylation. Of particular interest are the protein serine-threonine kinases Akt (also known as PKB) and phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1). Association of these kinases with PIP3 at the membrane brings them into close proximity allowing phosphorylation of Akt by PDK1 (Lawlor and Alessi, 2001).

Phosphorylation of Akt stimulates its catalytic activity resulting in phosphorylation and activation of several other proteins and signaling cascades that affect cell growth and cell survival. Of all the known targets of Akt, the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a particular interest of this thesis.

1.10 THE MAMMALIAN TARGET OF RAPAMYCIN (mTOR)

mTOR, also named FRAP (FK506-binding protein 12[FKBP12]- and rapamycinassociated protein), RAFT1 (rapamycin and FKBP-12 target-1) or RAPT1 (rapamycin target-1) is 289 kDa serine/threonie kinase (Sabatini et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1994; Sabers et al., 1995). Since the C-terminus of TOR is highly homologous to the catalytic domain of PI-3K, mTOR is a member of the phophoinositide 3-kinase-related kinase (PIKK) family. Studies show that Tor is a kinase that is highly conserved from yeast to humans. Human, mouse and rat mTOR proteins share 95% identity at the amino acid level (Abraham and Wiederrecht, 1996; Gingras et al., 2001b; Jacinto and Hall, 2003). mTOR consists of several domains and three of which are a catalytic kinase domain, a FKBP12-rapamycin binding (FRB) and a putative auto-inhibitory domain near the Cterminus. Several biochemical and genetic studies suggest that FKBP12 is the most important binding protein with respect to the rapamycin-sensitive signal transduction pathway (Fruman et al., 1995; Heitman et al., 1991; Koltin et al., 1991).

The cellular localization of mTOR varies according to the cell line and culture conditions. In HEK293 cells, mTOR is distributed in the cytoplasm, most likely associated with the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (Drenan et al., 2004). In contrast to HEK293 cells, cellular immunostaining and fractionation studies reveal nuclear localization of mTOR in several tumor cell lines (Zhang et al., 2002). Indeed studies have demonstrated that cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling might be important for mTOR function (Kim and Chen, 2000). Although a recent study suggests that cellular stress plays and important role in altering mTOR cellular distribution (Tirado et al., 2003), the exact reasons for mTOR shuttling remains unclear.

In mammalian cells, mTOR is regulated by availability of nutrients (amino acids and glucose) as well as growth factors (Fang et al., 2001; Jacinto and Hall, 2003; Peng et al., 2002; Proud, 2002). Studies suggest that growth factors regulate mTOR signaling directly through the PI-3K/Akt signaling pathway (Downward, 1998; Hu et al., 2000; Nave et al., 1999; Scott et al., 1998; Sekulic et al., 2000), however the mechanisms of how nutrients activate mTOR remain unknown. In response to growth stimuli, quiescent cells increase the translation of a subset of mRNAs whose protein products are required for traverse through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. There is accumulating evidence to suggest that mTOR is involved in the coupling of growth stimuli with cell cycle progression and therefore being the central regulator of cell growth and survival (reviewed in (Mita et al., 2003b; Raught et al., 2001).

1.11 mTOR SIGNALING

The importance of mTOR in the regulation of cell growth and proliferation has led to the discovery of several proteins (PI-3K, Akt, TSC1, TSC2, Rheb, Raptor, S6K, 4EBP1) involved in the mTOR signaling pathway (Figure 1.2). **Figure 1.2.** The target of rapamycin signaling pathway. mTOR is regulated by PI-3K-dependent signaling and by nutrients. Growth factors activate receptors on the cell surface. These signal to PI-3K, which can be inhibited by PTEN. PI-3K in turn, activates phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDK1) and Akt. Akt phosphorylates TSC2 and activates the TSC1/2 complex, which acts as a negative regulator of the small GTP-binding protein Rheb that might be the direct activator of mTOR. mTOR binds to raptor and either directly or indirectly regulates ribosomal protein p70S6K (S6K) which in turn regulates translation initiation. mTOR directly phosphorylates and inactivates eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E)-binding protein 1 (4EBP1), the suppressor of eIF4E. Release of eIF4E from phosphorylated 4EBP1 leads to binding of eIF4E to the 5'untranslated region, which is required for cap-dependent translation of mRNAs. Amino acid sufficiency is sensed by TSC1/2 complex, Rheb and mTOR. Arrows depict activation, bars depict inhibition and dotted lines depict unknown pathways.





PI-3K/Akt. An Akt consensus phosphorylation site, S2448, was shown to be phosphorylated on mTOR in vivo. Furthermore, growth factor stimulation leads to an increase in S2448 phosphorylation in a PI-3K/Akt dependent manner (Nave et al., 1999; Sekulic et al., 2000). On the contrary, a mutant mTOR possessing an alanine substitution at the S2448 site still retains its ability to phosphorylate and activate its downstream targets after growth factor stimulation (Sekulic et al., 2000). Furthermore, other studies have shown only a modest increase in mTOR kinase activity in mammalian cells overexpressing Akt suggesting that Akt may not be a major effector of mTOR. Due to conflicting results, it is unclear to what extent mTOR activity is regulated by PI-3K/Akt and whether or not the two signaling pathways function independently. Therefore, the role of the S2448 phosphorylation event in the regulation of mTOR currently remains unclear.

Mitogen activated Akt also associates with and inactivates the tuberous sclerosis (TSC) complex, formed by hamartin (TSC1) and tuberin (TSC2) (36), by phosphorylating TSC2 (Inoki et al., 2002; Potter et al., 2002). The TSC1/TSC2 complex inhibits TOR activation since loss of the complex results in an mTOR-dependent increase in the activity of mTOR-targets (Gao et al., 2002). However, whether this occurs through the binding of TSC complex to mTOR is unclear. Another phenomenon that is unclear is how phosphorylation of TSC2 regulates its function. One model proposes that Aktmediated phosphorylation destabilizes TSC1/TSC2 interactions thereby inhibiting formation of the complex and activating mTOR kinase activity (Inoki et al., 2002; Potter et al., 2001). In contrast, others have shown that Akt-dependent phosphorylation of TSC2 was not sufficient to disrupt the TSC complex in mammalian cells (Dan et al., 2002; Manning et al., 2002), or to increase the turnover of overexpressed TSC2 (Tee et al., 2003). Several studies indicate that binding of 14-3-3 protein family members to phosphorylated TSC2 is essential in rapid degradation of TSC2 thereby providing another mechanism for inactivation of the TSC complex (Li et al., 2002b; Nellist et al., 2002).

How the TSC complex regulates mTOR signaling was clarified by the discovery that TSC2 negatively regulates a small G protein named Rheb (Ras homolog enriched in

brain). TSC2 acts as a GTPase-activating protein (GAP) and maintains Rheb in its inactive GDP-bound state which ultimately results in downregulation of mTOR. Many studies have shown that Rheb functions as a positive regulator of cell and organ growth localizing downstream of PI-3K/Akt and TSC1/2 but genetically upstream of mTOR and its translational targets (Inoki et al., 2003; Saucedo et al., 2003; Stocker et al., 2003).

Another protein that contributes to mTOR function is known as raptor (Hara et al., 2002). It is a 150 kDa protein that contains seven WD repeat motifs and seems to have dual function. It inhibits mTOR under nutrient-deficient conditions and stimulates mTOR in a nutrient-replete environment (Hara et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2002). Consistent with this model, inhibition of raptor expression with small interfering RNA reduces cell size and recapitulates the phenotypes observed during mTOR deficiency. It has also been suggested that raptor may act as a scaffold protein that links mTOR to its downstream translational regulators such as S6K and 4EBP1 (discussed below)(Hara et al., 2002).

Downstream signaling pathways

As mentioned earlier, activation of receptors coupled to PI-3K signaling has been implicated in the stimulation of a complex network of downstream effector molecules, including a number of kinases known to affect specific components of the translational apparatus. Indeed several studies have shown that TOR regulates translation in mammalian cells (reviewed in (Gingras et al., 1999b) by regulating the phosphorylation state of several different translational effector proteins such as p70 ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein 1 (4EBP1).

The ribosomal S6 kinase regulates the translation of a unique family of mRNAs that possess a 5' terminal oligopyrimidine tract (5'TOP). This tract of 4-14 pyrimidines is found at the 5' terminus of ribosomal protein mRNAs as well as mRNAs coding for other translational effectors. The 5'TOP family members make up 20-30% of the total cellular mRNA, including ribosomal proteins and translational elongation factors whose increased expression is essential for cell growth and proliferation. Although the mechanism of 5'TOP mRNA regulation is poorly understood, it is well understood that S6K plays an important role in the modulation of 5'TOP translation.

S6K was initially described as a kinase activity responsible for the phosphorylation of S6 isolated from mitogen-stimulated Swiss mouse 3T3 cells (Jeno et al., 1988). Subsequent purification, cloning and expression studies revealed that two isoforms of the kinase are produced from the same transcript (Banerjee et al., 1990; Grove et al., 1991; Kozma et al., 1990). The shorter form is largely cytoplasmic (p70S6K) whereas the larger form appears to be exclusively nuclear (p85S6K). With the recent identification of a highly homologous gene product, S6K2, p70S6K/p85S6K have been collectively termed S6K1 or generally referred to as S6K.

S6K contains a highly acidic amino terminus, followed by a typical serine/threonine kinase catalytic domain and a regulatory carboxy-terminal tail. Four serine-threonine phosphorylation sites have been identified in the carboxyl-terminal tail (Ferrari et al., 1992). All four phosphorylation sites exhibit a degree of phosphorylation in quiescent cells, which is then increased upon mitogen treatment.

Several upstream effectors of S6K have been identified such as PDK1, Akt, mTOR as well as amino acids. For purposes of the thesis, the focus will reside on the role of mTOR is S6K regulation.

Upon activation by proliferative stimuli mediated by PI-3K/Akt signal transduction pathway, mTOR phosphorylates and activates S6K which, in turn, phosphorylates the 40S ribosomal protein S6 (Hu et al., 2000). The phosphorylation of S6 protein allows recruitment of the small 40S subunit into actively translating polysomes. Studies have shown that mTOR phosphorylates S6K at T389 site which most closely parallels kinase activity of the protein (Pearson et al., 1995). Conversion of T389 to either acidic or neutral amino acids revealed that T389 was a critical regulatory site, whereas the other sites played a modulatory function (Dennis et al., 1996).

Several studies have also reported an alternative mechanism of S6K regulation by mTOR. It has been proposed that mTOR represses a serine-threonine phosphatase that dephosphorylates rapamycin-sensitive sites of S6K (Brown et al., 1995; Burnett et al., 1998)(Brown et al., 1995; Burnett et al., 1998). The reversal of repression of this phosphatase by inhibition of mTOR may be the explanation as to why several studies observe a rapid dephosphorylation of S6K upon treatment with rapamycin and stimulation with growth factors (Di Como and Arndt, 1996).
Regulation of protein translation is an important aspect of the control of cell growth. A rate-limiting step in this process is the binding of the mRNA to the small ribosomal subunit, a step mediated by the eukaryotic initiation factor 4 (eIF4) group of proteins. eIF4F, though its smaller subunit eIF4E recognizes the cap structure that is present at the 5' end of all cellular mRNAs (reviewed in (Gingras et al., 2001b).

Overexpression of eIF4E in rodent cells leads to cellular transformation and eIF4E has been implicated in cell cycle control (Lazaris-Karatzas et al., 1990). Furthermore, studies show that NIH 3T3 cells expressing eIF4E are refractory to apoptosis induced by serum deprivation suggesting a cell survival role of eIF4E (Polunovsky et al., 1996).

eIF4E is the target of a family of translational repressors called 4EBPs (eIF4E-Binding Proteins, also known as PHAS). These repressors bind to eIF4E in order to inhibit its interaction with eIF4G and further incorporation into the eIF4F complex. This leads to inhibition of cap-dependent translation (Sonenberg and Gingras, 1998). In support of this, Rousseau et al have shown that overexpression of 4EBP1 in cells transformed by eIF4E, Ha-v-ras or v-src partially reverts their transformed phenotypes (Rousseau et al., 1996). The binding of 4EBP1 to eIF4E is dependent on the phosphorylation status of 4EBP1. In the unphosphorylated state, that predominates in quiescent cells, 4EBP1 binds to eIF4E which inhibits its activity (Gingras et al., 1999b; Sonenberg and Gingras, 1998). In response to mitogen or other stimuli, 4EBP1 becomes phosphorylated which in turn decreases its binding affinity for eIF4E (Gingras et al., 2001b). These actions promote the dissociation of 4EBP1 from eIF4E thereby increasing the availability of eIF4E which can in turn bind to eIF4G, 4B and 4A, forming the multisubunit eIF4F complex. These interactions lead to increase in mRNA translation (Rosenwald, 1995; Sonenberg and Gingras, 1998). In support of this theory, studies have shown that growth factor deprivation and inhibition of mTOR results in dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 and an increase in eIF4E binding both of which lead to a decrease in translation of mRNAs required for cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase (Brunn et al., 1997; Gingras et al., 1998).

There is ample evidence indicating that activation of either PI-3K/Akt and mTOR is sufficient to induce phosphorylation of 4EBP1 on multiple sites (Fingar et al., 2002;

Gingras et al., 1998; Martin and Blenis, 2002). mTOR has been reported to phosphorylate 4EBP1 directly in vitro. However, it had not been clear until recently whether mTOR was responsible for the phosphorylation of all 4EBP1 sites, nor which sites must be phosphorylated in order to release 4EBP1 from eIF4E. Furthermore, the relative sensitivity of each site to different stimuli and pharmacological inhibitors also remains unknown. For example, some studies suggest that all of the phosphorylation sites are sensitive to serum and certain pharmacological agents (Fadden et al., 1997), whereas other studies observed a differential sensitivity for different subsets of sites (Gingras et al., 1998; von Manteuffel et al., 1997). In the following years, Gingras et al showed that phosphorylation of 4EBP1 by mTOR occurs on two sites only, Thr36 and Thr47 (Gingras et al., 1999a). Both these sites are phosphorylated to a very high degree in serum-starved cells allowing it to be active and complexed to eIF4E. Interestingly, reports have shown that phosphorylation of Thr37 and Thr46 by mTOR is not sufficient for 4EBP1 to dissociate with eIF4E. Further analysis indicate that these initial phosphorylation events only serve as priming events for subsequent phosphorylation of Ser65 and Thr70 which ultimately lead to dissociation of 4EBP1 from eIF4E and subsequent increase in mRNA translation.

Inhibition of mTOR in cells overexpressing PI-3K or Akt, blocks the phosphorylation of 4EBP1 suggesting that mTOR is required for these activities (Burgering and Coffer, 1995; Gingras et al., 1998; Li et al., 2002a).

1.12 MECHANISM OF ACTION OF RAPAMYCIN

As mentioned earlier, several highly regulated processes are aberrant in breast cancer leading to uncontrolled cell growth and proliferation. Several key proteins regulating these pathways may be strategic targets for therapeutic development against breast cancer. Indeed, several novel classes of therapeutics that interfere with specific elements of aberrant signaling and cell cycle regulation are being developed as anticancer agents (reviewed in Atalay et al., 2003; Hidalgo and Rowinsky, 2000; Mass, 2004). One such agent, rapamycin is being investigated as an anti-tumor agent by several different investigators (reviewed in (Houghton and Huang, 2004; Mita et al., 2003b;

23

Tolcher, 2004). The antiproliferative actions of rapamycin has been demonstrated due to its ability to modulate critical signal transduction pathways that link mitogenic stimuli to the synthesis of proteins required for cell cycle traverse from G1 to S phase (Wiederrecht et al., 1995).

Rapamycin is a macrolide fungicide isolated form the bacteria Streptomyces hygroscopicus. It binds intracellularly to members of the immunophilin family of FK506 binding proteins (FKBPs) and inhibits their enzymatic activity (Fruman et al., 1995; Heitman et al., 1991). Although there are several members of the FKBP family, biochemical and genetic studies suggest that FKBP12 is the most important binding protein with respect to the rapamycin-sensitive signal transduction pathway (Fruman et al., 1995; Koltin et al., 1991). The rapamycin-FKBP12 complex interacts with mTOR and blocks its kinase activity (Sabatini et al., 1994; Sabers et al., 1995). However, whether rapamycin-FKBP12 complex inhibits mTOR directly is an unresolved issue. Three possible models for the action of rapamycin have been proposed. First, FKBP12rapamycin complex bound to mTOR destabilizes the mTOR-4EBP1/S6K scaffold complex which then leads to dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 and S6K (Hara et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2002). Since 4EBP1 and S6K regulate translation initiation, their dephosphorylation by rapamycin leads to inhibition of specific proteins and G1 arrest. Secondly, it has been shown that mTOR is a repressor of a cluster of protein phosphatases that regulate downstream targets. Binding of FKBP12-rapamcyin to mTOR leads to activation of certain protein phosphatases and the subsequent dephosphorylation of downstream targets such as 4EBP1/S6K (Gingras et al., 2001a; Oldham and Hafen, 2003). The third proposed mechanism of action of rapamycin is that FKBP12-rapamycin complex competes with a phosphatitic acid to bind to the FRB domain of mTOR and thereby blocking its kinase activity (Fang et al., 2001).

Other studies argue whether rapamycin really has a significant effect on mTOR activity. For example, studies have shown that rapamycin inhibits a moderate stimulation of mTOR kinase activity *in vitro* in response to stimuli and rapamycin can also inhibit mTOR autokinase activity *in vitro* (Scott et al., 1998)(Scott et al., 1998). However, other studies show that a much higher concentration of rapamycin is needed *in vivo* to elicit the same effect (Peterson et al., 2000). Other studies have shown very modest differences, or

no change at all in the kinase activity of mTOR after treatment with rapamycin (Peterson et al., 2000). Furthermore, rapamycin-treatment of cells in culture does not inhibit autophosphorylation at S2481. Therefore, although it is unclear whether rapamycin inhibits mTOR directly, it is clear that rapamycin functions through an inhibition of downstream signaling from mTOR and this repression may involve mechanisms other than direct repression of mTOR kinase activity.

Rapamycin has been shown to have a dramatic effect on both S6K and 4EBP1 phosphorylation. It exerts its inhibitory effects on S6K activation through either blocking activation of an upstream S6K kinase. Studies have identified rapamycin-sensitive phosphorylation sites on S6K and have shown that many of these sites were phosphorylated in response to mitogenic stimulation (Han et al., 1995). Furthermore, these sites were dephosphorylated upon rapamycin treatment in the hierarchical fashion Thr389>Ser404>Thr229 (Pearson et al., 1995). Mutational analysis revealed that the principal site of rapamycin-induced S6K inactivation was Thr389. This was further corroborated by the fact that substitution of an acidic residue in the Thr389 position led to an increase basal activity of the S6K that was extremely resistant to rapamycin treatment (Dennis et al., 1996; Pearson et al., 1995).

1.13 mTOR AS A TARGET FOR BREAST CANCER

Breast cancer provides one of the most well studied models that illustrate several different levels of pathway dysregulation. Since these aberrant signaling pathways distinguish between malignant and normal cells, they represent possible strategic targets for therapeutic developments against breast cancer. One such target, mTOR, was identified as a potential target for anticancer therapeutics after having seen that rapamycin demonstrated antineoplastic properties.

The anti-tumor activity of rapamycin was first discovered in the late 1970s, However, it was only until the mid-1990s that rapamycin re-emerged as a potential anticancer agent. In early studies, rapamycin was shown to inhibit the growth of a wide variety of murine and human cancers growing in both tissue culture and xenograft models in a concentration-dependent manner (Eng et al., 1984; Seufferlein and Rozengurt, 1996; Wiederrecht et al., 1995). Many experimental cancers such as melanoma, leukemia, small-cell lung cancer, and B cell lymphomas demonstrated sensitivity to rapamycin in these studies. In most cases rapamycin induces G1 cell-cycle accumulation and arrest (Heitman et al., 1991). Rapamycin has also been shown to induce apoptosis of cells such as B cells, renal tubular cells and dendritic cells (Huang and Houghton, 2002). Studies have also shown that rapamycin induces p53-independent apoptosis in childhood rhabdomyosarcoma and enhances the apoptosis-inducing effects of cisplatin in murine leukemias and ovarian sarcoma *in vitro* (Hosoi et al., 1999; Shi et al., 1995). These experimental results serve as the impetus to further understand the mechanism by which rapamycin may be inhibiting tumor growth.

1.14 EXPERIMENTAL RATIONALE

1.14.1 BACKGROUND

A hallmark of the malignant phenotype is autonomous or unchecked cellular growth. Various components of the proliferative and survival pathways are constitutively activated or dysregulated in most human malignancies (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Breast cancer, one of the most well studied models, illustrates many levels of pathway dysregulation. These levels include cell membrane receptors, hormone receptors, cytopasmic downstream circuitry, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and terminal elements that interact with nuclear targets (reviewed in (Atalay et al., 2003; Hidalgo and Rowinsky, 2000; Huang and Houghton, 2003; Mita et al., 2003a). Of relevance to this thesis is the observation that activating RTKs are amplified in the genesis of human breast cancer. In this regard, overexpression of wild-type ErbB2, generally attributable to gene amplification, occurs in 25-30% of human breast cancer and correlates with short time to relapse and lower overall survival (King et al., 1985; Slamon et al., 1987; Slamon et al., 1989; Yokota et al., 1986). Moreover, this poor prognosis correlates with enhanced catalytic activity of ErbB-2 (Bacus et al., 1996; DiGiovanna and Stern, 1995) suggesting that the constitutive activation of ErbB-2 regulated signaling pathways contribute to the progression of human breast cancers. The lipid kinase phosphotidylinoside 3-OH kinase (PI-3K) and some of its downstream targets, such as the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), p70 ribosomal S6 protein kinase (S6K) and the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein-1 (4E-BP1), are crucial effectors in oncogenic receptor tyrosine kinase signaling.

The generation of transgenic mice expressing wild type Neu (the rat homologue of ErbB2) in the mammary gland confirm the oncogenic potential of the Neu receptor in this tissue. Oncogenic mutations within the extracellular domain of the Neu receptor previously have been associated with mammary tumorigenesis in transgenic mice (Siegel et al., 1994; Siegel and Muller, 1996). However, studies have shown that the expression of altered Neu alleles is not sufficient to transform the entire mammary epithelium (Siegel et al., 1999).

One possible explanation is that in addition to Neu activation, the expression of another EGFR family member is required for efficient tumor induction. In this regard, Siegel et al. have shown that Neu-induced mammary tumors consistently express a dramatic 10 to 15-fold increase in endogenous ErbB3 protein levels without an increase in its transcript levels when compared to adjacent normal tissue suggesting a translational or post-translational regulation of ErbB3 during Neu-mediated tumorigenesis. This strong selective pressure for elevated levels of endogenous ErbB-3 protein highlights the importance of this receptor during Neu-mediated mammary gland transformation. Indeed, there is compelling evidence implicating that co-expression of both Neu and ErbB3 play a critical role in the induction of human breast tumors (Alimandi et al., 1995; Holbro et al., 2003; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1996; Siegel et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 1996).

1.14.2 PURPOSE

Although the ErbB-2/ErbB-3 heterodimer is capable of potent mitogenic signal, the role of ErbB3 in mammary tumorigenesis is not yet fully understood. The overall goal of this thesis is to elucidate the molecular pathway(s) involved in ErbB3 regulation and the biological significance of ErbB3 during Neu-mediated transformation.

1.14.2 HYPOTHESIS

One potential explanation for Neu and ErbB3 co-expression is the recruitment of cooperative cell proliferative and cell survival signaling pathways during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis. This hypothesis is illustrated in Figure 1.3. It has been previously shown that Neu induces transformation by sending strong proliferative signals predominantly through the Ras/MAPK pathway (Dankort et al., 1997). ErbB3, on the other hand, may be sending strong survival signals by recruiting p85 and activating the PI-3K/mTOR signaling pathway. Indeed, transgenic mouse models for breast cancer support the notion that both proliferative and survival signals must be activated within a cell before complete malignant transformation can occur (Amundadottir et al., 1996; Webster et al., 1998). Therefore, the overall hypothesis for this thesis is that Neu cannot act alone but requires ErbB3 for its full oncogenic potential. ErbB3 provides the necessary oncogenic signals by coupling to PI-3K and activating the PI-3K/mTOR pathway.

The details of the hypothetical model suggest: (1) Active Neu homodimers are necessary for induction of the proliferative Ras/MAPK signaling pathway. (2) Overexpressed Neu transphosphorylates kinase inactive ErbB3 which then recruits p85 and activates PI-3K/Akt and mTOR. (3) The ability of Neu to reach its full oncogenic potential is dependent on phospho-ErbB3-dependent recruitment and activation of PI-3K/mTOR cell survival pathway. (4) ErbB3-dependent activation of PI-3K leads to phosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1. (5) Both PI-3K and mTOR regulate S6K and 4EBP1 phosphorylation and are involved in sustaining high levels of ErbB3 protein by increasing the translation and/or stability of ErbB3.

Cell proliferation and cell survival are distinct yet coupled processes that need to go hand in hand to induce transformation. Similar to cyclin dependent kinases (cdks), which are central regulators of cell proliferation, mTOR may be the central regulator of cell growth and survival. The PI-3K/Akt pathway has been implicated in the phosphorylation and activation of mTOR. This subsequently leads to increased phosphorylation of 4EBP1 and S6K, both of which are important steps in the stimulation of protein translation (Gingras et al., 1998; Gingras et al., 2001b). Indeed, studies have **Figure 1.3. Hypothetical Model Illustrating the potential signaling role of ErbB3 during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis.** This model illustrates the hypothesis of the thesis. Both Neu and ErbB3 function as an oncogenic unit to recruit proliferative and survival pathways, respectively. These pathways are distinct yet coupled and therefore cooperate to drive cell transformation. Briefly, Neu transphosphorylates and activates kinase inactive ErbB3 which then binds to the p85 regulatory unit of PI-3K and activates the PI-3K/mTOR pathway. This leads to phosphorylation of p70 S6 kinase and 4EBP1 which are required for translational and/or post-translational regulation of ErbB3 itself.



shown that overexpression of eIF4E leads to cellular transformation (Lazaris-Karatzas et al., 1990) and plays a role in cell survival (Polunovsky et al., 1996).

Since ErbB3 can bind and activate PI -3K directly (Fedi et al., 1994; Kim et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994), ErbB3-dependent inactivation of 4E-BP1 and activation of S6K may, in part, account for elevated levels of ErbB3 protein in Neu-induced tumors. In support, studies have shown that PI-3K is activated by growth factor receptors and induces cell proliferation and cell survival. Indeed ErbB3 has been characterized as a major mediator of heregulin-dependent activation PI-3K pathway (Fedi et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994; Wallasch et al., 1995). Recruitment and activation of PI-3K involves the binding of the SH2 domains of its p85 regulatory subunit to the phosphorylated YXXM motifs found in several signaling proteins (McGlade et al., 1992). ErbB3 is very well adapted to mediate PI3'K signaling since it contains six consensus p85 binding motifs in its C-terminal phosphorylation domain (Hellyer et al., 1998). Studies have shown that the phosphorylated motifs can directly associate with the SH2 domains of p85 (Hellyer et al., 1998; Prigent and Gullick, 1994). The significance of the recruitment and activation of PI-3K by ErbB3 during mammary tumorigenesis needs to be elucidated.

Aberrant signaling of the PI-3K/mTOR signaling pathways often distinguish malignant from normal cells and therefore may represent possible strategic targets for therapeutic developments. Furthermore, activation of the PI-3K/mTOR pathway has been correlated with chemotherapeutic resistance arguing that other treatment modalities may be necessary. Indeed, the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin, has demonstrated impressive antiproliferative actions in a diverse range of experimental tumors (Dilling et al., 1994; Eng et al., 1984; Guba et al., 2002; Mohi et al., 2004; Muthukkumar et al., 1995; Panwalkar et al., 2004; Seufferlein and Rozengurt, 1996; Yu et al., 2001a). Although the antitumor action of rapamycin has been attributed to its ability to modulate protein translation and G1 to S cell cycle phase traverse (Wiederrecht et al., 1995), the mechanism of how rapamycin inhibits tumor growth remains poorly understood. The rapamycin analog, CCI-779, is currently being evaluated in phase I/II clinical trials. Although it shows some promise as a potential therapeutic agent, a better understanding of the mechanism of mTOR regulation will identify those patients who may best respond to CCI-779 treatment. In this regard, the ability of rapamycin to inhibit Neu-mediated

tumor growth in transgenic mice was evaluated. The hypothesis is that inhibition of ErbB3 function and hence downregulation of the constitutively activated PI-3K/mTOR pathway may represent one mechanism by which rapamycin induces its anti-proliferative effects. This may represent one reason why ErbB2 overexpressing tumors are more likely to depend on rapamycin-sensitive pathways for growth and thus may be especially sensitive to rapamycin and its analogs.

1.14.4 TESTING THE HYPOTHESIS

In order to test the validity of the hypothetical model, various members of the Neu/ErbB3/PI-3K/Akt/mTOR signal transduction pathways were inhibited using either chemical inhibitors or dominant negative mutants (summarized in Figure 1.4). The signal transduction and biological effects of these inhibitions were then determined *in vivo* using tumor-transplanted and transgenic mouse models overexpressing Neu.

mTOR and PI-3K were chemically inhibited by the use of rapamcyin and LY294002, respectively. The effects of this inhibition on S6K, 4EBP1, cyclin D1, Neu and most importantly ErbB3 were determined. The observation that both mTOR and LY294002 led to a significant decrease in ErbB3 protein levels without affecting its transcript levels suggested a PI-3K/mTOR-dependent translational or post-translational regulation of ErbB3. Therefore, the effects of LY294002 and rapamycin on the stability of the ErbB3 protein were determined. Since the hypothesis suggests that PI-3K and mTOR predominantly send cell survival signals, the effects of rapamycin and LY294002 on cell cycle progression and apoptosis were also determined. Studies have suggested that LY294002 may not be a specific inhibitor of PI-3K. Rather, it may inhibit other members of the PIKK family. In order to ensure the effects of LY294002 were due to inhibition of PI-3K alone, a dominant negative mutant of PI-3K (Δp85) was introduced into a Neu-expressing cell line. The mutant contains alterations in its p85 regulatory domain that prevents it from binding and activating the p110 catalytic domain. Neu activation was inhibited by use of an adenovirus expressing the Neu protein with an

inactive kinase domain (NeuKD). The NeuKD (Neu Kinase Dead) receptor

Figure 1.4. Testing the hypothetical model by the use of chemical inhibitors and mutants. In order to test the validity of the hypothetical model, various members of the Neu/ErbB3/PI-3K/Akt/mTOR signal transduction pathways were inhibited using either chemical inhibitors or genetic mutants. Briefly, mTOR and PI-3K were chemically inhibited by the use of rapamcyin and LY294002, respectively. The dominant negative mutant of PI-3K (Δ p85) contains alterations in its p85 regulatory domain that prevents it from binding to and activating the p110 catalytic domain. The NeuKD (Neu Kinase Dead) receptor retains its ability homo-or heterodimerize with Neu and ErbB3, respectively but loses its ability to auto- and transphosphorylate tyrosine residues in the carboxyl terminus. The ErbB3-6F mutant contains mutations in all six (YXXM) of its p85 docking sites that prevents it from interacting with and activating PI-3K. This allows for direct assessment of the importance of the ErbB3/p85 interaction. Finally, the signal transduction and biological effects mTOR and ErbB3 inhibition was also determined *in vivo* using tumor-transplanted and transgenic mouse models overexpressing Neu.



retains its ability homo-or heterodimerize with Neu and ErbB3, respectively but loses its ability to auto- and transphosphorylate.

In order to determine the biological significance of the ErbB3/p85 interaction, a mutant ErbB3 (ErbB3-6F) was expressed in Neu-mediated tumor cells. This mutant ErbB3 contains mutations in all six (YXXM) of its p85 docking sites that prevents it from interacting with and activating PI-3K. This allows for direct assessment of the importance of ErbB3 in activating PI-3K and subsequently sending signals that govern mTOR-dependent cell cycle regulation as well as PI-3K-dependent antiapoptotic signals. It was also important to determine whether the ErbB3-6F mutant inhibits Neu-mediated transformation and induces apoptosis in Neu-mediated tumors since the hypothetical model suggests that these tumors highly depend on ErbB3's ability to recruit PI-3K in order to induce the survival signals necessary for complete transformation.

Studies have suggested that aberrant signaling of the PI-3K/mTOR signaling pathway distinguish malignant from normal cells and lead to chemotherapeutic resistance in many cases. Therefore, non-conventional therapies, such as the use of rapamycin and EGFR inhibitors alone or in combination have been under investigation. Although the rapamycin analog CCI-779 shows some promise as a potential therapeutic agent in Phase I/II clinical trials, a better understanding of the mechanism of mTOR regulation is important for targeting patients that will more favourably respond to this treatment.

In order to better understand the mechanism of action of rapamycin, randomized placebo controlled trials were conducted on mice transplanted with subcutaneous Neuinduced tumor cells as well as in transgenic mice overexpressing constitutively activated Neu in the mammary gland. Control groups received vehicle whereas treatment groups received intraperitoneal injections of rapamycin at various doses. Biochemical analyses of the tumors were performed in order to gain mechanistic insight into how rapamycin inhibits tumor growth.

To test growth inhibitory effects of AdErbB3-6F, Neu-mediated tumor cells were infected with AdErbB3-6F and transplanted into mice. Tumor volume was measured weekly for 4 weeks. For tumor regression studies using AdErbB3-6F, Neu-mediated tumor cells were transplanted subcutaneously into the flank of each mouse, and each group was randomized to intratumoral injections with AdErbB3-6F starting at either

week 1, week 2, week 3 or week 4 post-transplant. Two control groups were used (vehicle and Adlacz).

Figures presented in chapters 3 and 4 characterize various aspects of the hypothetical model.

CHAPTER 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 PLASMIDS

The pJ4 Ω plasmid was kindly provided by Rowley and Bolen (Bristol-Myers Squibb). To construct the pJ4 Ω ErbB3 and pJ4 Ω ErbB3-6F expression plasmids, individual cDNAs were excised from pcDNA3B3X and pcDNA36F (Koland et al., 1999) shuttle vectors as HindIII- fragments and inserted into the corresponding sites on pJ4 Ω . This placed the cDNAs encoding wild type ErbB3 and the mutant form under the control of the moloney murine leukemia virus (MoMuLV) promoter-enhancer. The pJ4 Ω NeuNT and pJ4 Ω Neu8142 plasmids were provided by Peter Siegel (McMaster University). The Δ p85 construct was provided by Marc Webster (McMaster University). The pJ4 Ω RasV12 plasmid was provided by John Hassel (McMaster University). The pJ4 Ω MT plasmid was constructed by excising the polyomavirus middle T antigen cDNA from MMTVMT (Guy et al., 1992a) as a Hind III-Eco RI fragment and ligating it into the cloning sites of pJ4 Ω vector. A plasmid (PGK-puro) containing the puromycin resistant gene under the transcriptional control of phosphoglycerate kinase promoter was provided by Michael A. Rudnicki (McMaster University).

2.2 ADENOVIRUS CONSTRUCTION

2.2.1 Preparation of plasmid DNA

The vector expressing a kinase dead form of Neu (Ad NeuKD) was provided by Yongwon Wan (McMaster University) and was constructed as previously described (Chen et al., 2001). The Adlacz virus was also kindly provided by Frank Graham (McMaster University). The mutant ErbB3-6F receptor cDNA was provided by John Koland (University of Iowa) and was constructed with pcDNA-ErbB3 as a template by six sequential rounds of polymerase chain reaction mutagenesis (Stratagene) by which

each codon corresponding to Tyr-1051, Tyr-1194, Tyr-1219, Tyr-1257, Tyr-1273, and Tyr-1268 was substituted with phenylalanine codon. The ErbB3-6F Adenovirus was constructed as described in Ng and Graham (1995). First, the pDC116ErbB3-6F shuttle vector was generated using the pDNA36F plasmid. Briefly, the ErbB3-6F mutant cDNA was excised from pcDNA36F as a HindIII-HindIII fragment and was inserted into the pDC116 empty Ad shuttle plasmid. The plasmid was transformed into E.coli and grown in 500 mL of LB supplemented with 50 µg/ml ampicillin overnight at 37°C. The culture was transferred to a falcon tube and centrifuged at 6000g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 40 ml of cold solution I (10 mM EDTA, pH 8.0; 50 mM glucose, 25 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0) followed by 80 ml of freshly prepared solution II [1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS); 0.2 N NaOH]. The resulting viscous lysate was allowed to sit for 10 minutes on ice after which it was resuspended in sterilized solution III (3M potassium acetate; 11.5% glacial acetic acid) and incubated for 20 minutes on ice. The tube was then centrifuged at 6000g for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was filtered using layers of cheesecloth. The plasmid DNA present in the supernatant was then precipitated by adding 0.6 volume of isopropanol and incubating for 30 minutes at room temperature. The plasmid DNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 6000g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellet was dried and dissolved in 5 mL of TE and 2 mL of pronase-SDS solution and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. CsCl (8.6g) was added to the DNA mix, incubated on ice for 30 min and centrifuged at a maximum speed in a Beckman tabletop centrifuge for 30 min at 5°C. The supernatant was slowly collected using a 10 mL syringe and 16-gage needle in order to avoid the pellicle. 25 μ l of 10 mg/ml ethidium bromide was added and the supernatant was then transferred to a Beckman VTi 65.1 ultracentrifuge tube. The tube was sealed and centrifuged in a Beckman VTi 65.1 rottor at 55 000 rpm (288 000g) for 14 hours at 14°C. The supercoiled plasmid DNA band was collected using a 3 mL syringe and 18gage needle. The plasmid DNA was then transferred to a 15 mL polypropylene tube containing 5 mL of isopropanol. The tube was mixed immediately to extract the ethidium bromide from the solvent layer. The phases were allowed to separate and pink ehtidium bromide-containing layer was removed. This process was repeated until the solvent layer was completely colourless. The volume was brought up to 4 mL with TE and then 8 mL of cold 95% ethanol was added and mixed by inversion in order to

precipitate the DNA. The tube was then centrifuged at top speed for 15 min in order to pellet the DNA. The pellet was washed twice in 70% ethanol, allowed to dry and resuspended in TE to a concentration of 1-2 μ g/ μ l. The plasmid DNA concentration was determined by OD₂₆₀.

2.2.2 Maintenance of 293 cells

Low passage 293 cells were maintained in 150 mm tissue culture dishes and were split 1 to 3 when they reached approximately 90% confluency (every 2-3 days). Complete medium [minimum essential medium (MEM; Gibco-BRL) containing 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) (heat inactivated), 100 U/mL penicillin/streptomycin, 2mM L-glutamine, and 2.5 µg/mL fungizone] was used to maintain 293 cells. The medium was removed from the plates, the monolayer was rinsed twice with citric saline (135 mM KCl, 15 mM sodium citrate, autoclaved). The citric saline was removed from the plates and 0.5 mL citric saline was then added and left for 1 min. Cells were then resuspended in complete medium and distributed to new dishes. For cotransfections, a confluent 150 mm dish of 293 cells was split into eight 60 mm dishes for use the next day.

2.2.3 Adenovirus rescue by in vivo site-specific recombination

This step involves generating a large number of plaques by cotransfecting a single 60 mm dish of 293 cells with $2\mu g$ of shuttle plasmid and $2\mu g$ of Ad genomic plasmid. The shuttle plasmid (pDC116B3-6F) was generated as described in section....and pBHGloxE3Cre was used as the Ad genomic plasmid. Briefly, 293 cells were grown and allowed to reach 80% confluency in 60 mm dishes. One hour prior to cotransfection, the medium from the 60 mm dishes of 293 cells was replaced with 5 mL of freshly prepared complete medium without washing. Meanwhile, 8 mL of HEPES-buffered saline (HBS) and 40µl of salmon sperm DNA was combined in a conical tube and vortexed at maximum setting for 1 min. Two mL each of this solution was added to three polystyrene tubes labeled 'A', 'B' an d'C' and 1 mL into the fourth tube labeled 'D'. To tube 'A', 2 µg pDC116B3-6F shuttle plasmid and 2 µg of pBHGloxE3Cre genomic

plasmid was added. To tube 'B', 8 µg pDC116B3-6F and 8 µg of pBHGloxE3Cre was added. For tube 'C', 20 µg of pDC116B3-6F and 20 µg of pBHGloxE3Cre was added. These will ultimately result in four 60 mm dishes of 293 cells cotransfected with 0.5, 2 and 5 μ g of each plasmid. Finally in tube 'D' 1 μ g of the infectious Ad genomic plasmid pFG140 was added. This plasmid is used as control for transfection efficiency and under optimal conditions it should yield approximately 100 plaques per 0.5 µg of DNA. To tubes 'A', 'B', and 'C' 100 µl of 2.5 M CaCl₂ was added dropwise with gentle mixing and then incubated at room temperature for 30 min. Next, 0.5 mL of the contents of tube 'A' were applied to the monolayer of each of the 4 60 mm dishes. The same was done for the remainder tubes. The next day, the medium was removed from the dishes and overlayed with 10 mL of 0.5% agarose in 2× maintenance medium [2× MEM (Gibco-BRL) supplemented with 10% horse serum (heat inactivated), 200 U/mL penicillin/streptomycin, 4 mM L-glutamine, 5 µg/mL fungizone and 0.2% yeast extract] and allowed to solidify at room temperature after which they were returned to the incubator. Plaques began to appear within a week post-cotransfection. After 10 days, well-isolated plaques were picked from the monolayer by punching out agar plugs using a sterile cotton-plugged Pasteur pipet. The agar plugs were transferred into 0.5 mL PBS⁺⁺ supplemented with glycerol to 10%, vortexed briefly and stored at -70°C.

2.2.4 Analysis of recombinant vectors

Once the plaques were isolated, they were expanded for extraction of AdErbB3-6F for analysis and to yield a working Ad vector stock. Briefly, 60 mm dishes of 293 cells (one per plaque) were seeded to reach 90% confluency. The virus plaque pick (0.2 mL) was added to the dish and allowed to absorb for 1 hr at 37°C after which 5 mL of maintenance medium was added and the dishes were returned back to the 37°C incubator until complete cytopathic effect (CPE) was observed (3-4 days post-infection). After complete CPE, the medium was supplemented with 10% glycerol and stored at -70°C. The rounded cells were treated with 0.5 mL pronase-SDS and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. The lysate was transferred to microfuge tube containing 1 mL of 95% ethanol. The DNA was precipitated and centrifuged to form a pellet which was then washed with 70%

ethanol. The DNA was allowed to dry and resuspended in 50 μ l of TE and subsequently dissolved by heating at 65°C. The structure of the AdErbB3-6F recombinant virus was analyzed by digesting 5 μ l with Hind III.

2.2.5 Titration of Adenovirus

After verification of the DNA structure of AdErbB3-6F, it was purified and the concentration was determined by titration. 293 cells were seeded in 60 mm dishes and allowed to reach 90% confluency in 1-2 days. Serial dilutions of the AdErbB-6F recombinant virus were prepared $(10^{-2}-10^{-6})$ and 0.2 mL was used to infect each 60 mm dish. The dishes were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C, overlayed with 10 mL of 0.5% agarose in 2×maintenance medium, allowed to solidify and subsequently incubated at 37°C. Plaques were counted at 12 days post infection. The following formula was used to determine the titer of the adenovirus in pfu/mL: (number of plaques)(dilution factor)/(infection volume).

2.3 TISSUE CULTURE

2.3.1 Cell lines

All cell culture reagents were purchased from Gibco-BRL (Grand Island, NY, USA). All cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 μ g/ml) and fungizone (1 μ g/ml). The NAFA cell line was provided by Dr. William Muller and was derived from tumors of transgenic mice overexpressing the point activated version of Neu in the mammary gland. Rat-1 fibroblasts were obtained from the American Tissue Type Collection (Rockville, Maryland). The Δ p85NAFA stable cell line was derived by electroporation and selection with neomycin. Briefly, NAFA cells were transfected with a vector expressing the dominant negative PI-3K along with the neomycin-resistant gene. Cells positive for Δ p85 gene were screened by treating the cells with mg/ml of G418 (neomycin). After the formation of colonies (10 days), the colonies were picked and

expanded into 24-well plates. After reaching confluence, each well was split 1 in 2 and. The first half was used to confirm positive colonies by detecting the presence of the neomycin-resistant gene using Southern blot analysis. Genomic DNA was extracted from the cells and were subjected to southern blot analysis using a neomycin-specific probe.

2.3.2 Focus Assays.

DNA was introduced into Rat-1 cells at a ratio of 40:1 of expression plasmid :puromycin resistant plasmid (PGK-puro) and colonies were selected in puromycin (3 µg/ml) containing media. Cotransfection of plasmids was conducted by lipofectamine trasfection (Gibco-BRL) following the manufacturer's instructions. For each cotransfection, one μg of each pJ4 Ω expression plasmid was used and sheared salmon sperm DNA was used in the case where a single plasmid was transfected in order to ensure that equal DNA (2 μ g) was used for each condition. Prior to transfection, 2×10⁵ cells/well were seeded into 6-well plates. Post transfection, the cells were allowed to reach confluence and were then split into two 100 mm plates. The cells were maintained in 2% FBS in DMEM for 2 weeks after reaching a monolayer. The medium was changed every 3 days and at the end of 2 weeks the cells were washed with 1×PBS (140 mM NaCl. 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.4 mM KH₂PO₄) and fixed for 4 hours with 10% buffered formalin phosphate and stained overnight with Geimsa stain (Fisher Scientific) following manufacturer's instructions. In the case of the NeuKD experiment, Rat-1 fibroblasts were infected with AdNeuKD (70pfu/ml) on day 2 post-transfection.

2.4 DNA ANALYSIS

2.4.1 Genomic DNA extraction from cell culture and mouse tissue

DNA from $\Delta p85NAFA$ cells were extracted to determine neomycin-positive cells as well as to determine the time-course for excision of the Lox/Neo cassette upon Cre infection. Briefly, cells were treated with lysis buffer. Protein and RNA were digested with proteinase K and RNase, respectively. The residual protein was removed by centrifugation and the DNA from the supernatant was recovered by precipitation with isopropanol. The DNA was washed $2\times$ in 70% ethanol and resuspended in 100 µl of distilled H₂0. To identify NDL2-5 transgenic progeny, genomic DNA was extracted from the tails of 4 week old pups. Approximately 1 cm of the tail was clipped and incubated overnight at 50°C in 500 µl of tail digestion buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0; 100 mM NaCl; 10 mM EDTA; 0.5% sodium dodecyl sulfate; 0.2 mg/ml proteinase K). The next day, the samples were extracted once with an equal volume of phenol-chloroform following by a single extraction with chloroform alone. The DNA was then precipitated with 100% ethanol, the pellet was dried and resuspended in 100 µl of distilled H₂0.

2.4.2 Analysis of DNA by southern blot

To determine the time-course for excision of the Lox/Neo cassette upon Cre infection of $\Delta p85NAFA$ cells, 15 µl of the genomic DNA solution was digested with 30 U of PvuII restriction enzyme at 37°C overnight. The digests were separated by electrophoresis through a 1% agarose gel and transferred to Gene Screen filters by Southern blot capillary action (Southern 1975). Briefly, the DNA fragments were denatured by incubating gel in denaturing solution (0.4 N NaOH; 0.6 M NaCl) for 45 min after which it was submerged in neutralizing solution (0.5 M Tris-HCl. pH 8.0; 1.5 M NaCl). The gel was then equilibrated in 20× SSC (1.5 M NaCl; 0.15 M sodium citrate) and for 45 min and place on a long piece of blotting paper (3 MM whatman) whose ends were suspended in a reservoir of 20× SSC solution. Gene Screen membrane was soaked in 20× SSC solution and placed on top of the gel, followed by additional whatman paper and stack of dry paper towels. The transfer occurred overnight after which the membrane is rinsed in $2 \times$ SSC. The single-stranded DNA molecules were then fixed to the membrane using an auto crosslinker (Stratalinker 1800, Stratagene). The probe was created by digesting the pJ4nl∆p85 plasmid with KpnI and PvuII to create a 650 bp fragment of ∆p85. The probe was radiolabeled $[\alpha^{32}P]dCTP$ by random priming as described previously (Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983). Briefly, 200 ng of DNA template was denatured in total volume of

7µl at 100°C for 5 min and then chilled on ice for 5 min. The following components were added to the DNA template: 2 µl of 10× cocktail C (0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0; 0.05 M MgCl₂; 0.5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol; 0.1 M each of dGTP, dATP, dTTP), 5 µl synthetic random oligonucleotide primers (hexamers, 2 µg/µl), 5 µl of $[\alpha^{32}P]dCTP$ (10 µci/µl, 3000 µCi/mmol), 10 U of Klenow fragment of DNA polymerase I. The template was incubated for 45 min at 37°C and then 230 µl of TE (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0; 1 mM EDTA) was added and the entire reaction was denatured for 5 min at 100°C. The membrane as incubated at 60°C for several hours in prehybridization solution (0.25 M Na₂HPO₄; 0.25 M H₃PO₄; 15% formamide; 7% SDS; 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma) after which the denatured probe was added. The DNA and probe were allowed to hybridize overnight at 60°C. The membrane was then washed for 15 min at room temp followed by two 30 min washes at 60°C in 0.15 M sodium phosphate and 1% SDS. The membranes exposed to X-ray film overnight at -80°C.

2.4.3 Genotyping by PCR analysis

The genotypes of the potential NDL2-5 transgenic mice were determined by PCR using oligonucleotide primers that amplify a region of neu encoding the transmembrane domain and a small portion of the extracellular domain (nucleotides 1492 to 2116). The sequence of the primers used for PCR amplification were as follows: CGGAACCCAGATCAG-GCC and TTTCCTGCAGCAGCCTACGC. The PCR reaction was set up using PCR eppendorf tubes containing the following: 1 μ l each of the oligonucleotide primers (10 μ M), 2.5 μ l 10X PCR buffer, 1 μ l MgCl2 (50 mM), 1.5 μ l deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate (dNTP) mix (5 mM each dATP, dCTP, dGTP, dTTP), o.2 μ l of Taq DNA polymerase (5 units/ml), 16.8 μ l of dH2O and 1 μ l of genomic tail solution. The amplification was performed for 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 58°C for 30 sec, and 72°C for 1 min. A 1% agarose gel was used to resolve the PCR products. The gel was visualize by ethidium bromide staining.

2.5 RNA ANALYSIS.

2.5.1 RNA isolation

RNA from tissue culture cells and mammary tissues was isolated using guanidinium thiocyanate extraction followed by cesium chloride sedimentation gradient centrifugation (Chirgwin et al., 1979). Mammary tissue was homogenized in 3 mL of guanidium thiocyanate (GIBCO-BRL) solution (4 M guanidinium thiocyanate, 25 mM sodium citrate, 0.1 M 2-mercaptoethanol). The homogenized tissue was placed in a tube over 4 mL of cesium chloride (5.7 M cesium chloride containing 25 mM sodium acetate, pH 5.2). The RNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 32 000 r.p.m (20°C) using a SW41Ti rotor (Beckman) for at least 18 hours. The resulting pellet was resuspended in 100 μ l of tissue resuspension buffer [5 mM EDTA (pH 8), 0.5% N-lauroylsarcosine, 0.7 M 2-mercaptoethanol] and 300 μ l of diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated water. The RNA was extracted by phenol-chloroform followed by precipitation with ethanol. Finally, the RAN yield was determined by U.V. absorption at 260 nm (1 OD₂₆₀=40 μ g/mL of RNA).

2.5.2 Plasmid templates for riboprobe synthesis

The antisense murine ErbB3 riboprobe was provided by Peter Siegel (McMaster University). The plasmid used to generate this riboprobe was constructed by inserting a 375 bp PCR product (corresponding to nucleotides 2489 to 2864 of the human ErbB3 cDNA) (Plowman et al., 1990) into the Eco RI-Bam HI sites of pSL301. This region of ErbB3 was PCR-amplified following а RTreaction with AB10860 (CGGAATTCGCAGCCTGGACCATGCCC) and AB10861 (CGGGATCCGTGTATT-TCCC-AAAGTGG) using RNA derived from an MMTV/NDL mammary tumor. The riboprobe was produced by digesting the template plasmid with Eco RI and transcribing the purified fragment with T7 RNA polymerase.

2.5.3 Synthesis of Riboprobe using *in vitro* transcription reaction

Linearized template plasmids were used in order to synthesize antisense ribonucleotide protection probes. The plasmids were digested and electrophoresed through a 1% gel and the fragment of interest was recovered from the gel by a gene using sodium iodide and glass milk beads (gene clean protocol provided by manufacturer, Geneclean, Biocan). A 25 µl in vitro transcription reaction (200 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5; 30 mM MgCl₂; 20 mM spermidineHCl; 8mM DTT; 40 U RNasin (Pharmacia); 100 μCi [α-³²P]UTP (10 μCi/μl, 3000 mCi/mmol); 0.4 mM each GTP, ATP, CTP, and 0.04 mM UTP) required the use of 500 ng of DNA. The appropriate RNA polymerase (SP6, T3 or T7) was added (30 U) and allowed to incubate at 37°C for 45 min. An additional 30-60U of RNA polymerase was added to the reaction and further 30 min incubation at 37°C. The DNA template present in the reaction was removed by adding 20 U of RNase free DNase I, 1 µl MgCl₂ (0.5M), 20 μ l of dH₂O and a 10 min incubation at 37°C. Next, dH₂O was added to bring the reaction volume to 100 µl after which an equal volume of phenol-chloroform was added and extraction of the aqueous phase took place. The labeled riboprobe was precipitated using 95% ethanol, 300 mM of sodium acetate (pH 5.2) and 20 µg RNase-free tRNA (Boehringer Manheim). The pellet was dried and resuspended in 100 μ l of dH₂0.

2.5.4 RNase protection analysis

RNase protection assays were performed in order to determine the levels of mRNA. The procedure was followed as described by Melton et al. (1994). Briefly, 20 μ g of total RNA was mixed and incubated with [α -³²P]UTP-labeled antisense riboprobes at 85°C for 5 min in hybridization buffer (50% formamide, 400 mM NaCl, 40 mM piperazine-M-N'- bis (2-ethanesulfonic acid) pH 6.4 (PIPES), 1 mM EDTA pH 8.0). The reaction was incubated overnight at 50°C in order for hybridization to occur. The following day, the hybridization reactions were incubated with 300 µl of digestion buffer (300 mM NaCl; 10 mM Tris pH 7.4; 5 mM EDTA pH 8.0; 200 U RNase T1; 30 µl/mL RNase A) for 30 min at 37°C. The samples were further incubated with 20 µl of 10% SDS and 10 µl of proteinase K (10 µg/) for 20 min at 37°C. The samples were extracted using phenol-

chloroform and they were ethanol precipitated with 20 μ g of RNase-free tRNA. The RNA pellets were then dried and resuspended in 10 μ l of formamide loading buffer (80% formamide; 10 mM EDTA pH 8.0; 1 mg/ml xylene cyanol; 1 mg/ml bromophenol blue). The loading buffer containing the RNA was then heated to 95°C for 10 min and resolved on a 6% polyacrylamide/8M urea sequencing gel which was subsequently dried and exposed to Kodak XAR film at -80°C.

2.6 PROTEIN ANALYSIS

2.6.1 Preparation of protein extract from cell culture and tissue

Lysates from cell lines were prepared by first washing them 3 times in ice-cold PBS and then lysing for 20 min on ice in TNE lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8; 150 mM NaCl; 1% NP-40; 2mM EDTA pH 8; 1mM sodium orthovanadate; 10 mM sodium fluoride; 10 μ g/ml aprotonin; 10 μ g/ml leupeptin). Proteins were extracted by centrifugation at 12 000g for 15 min at 4°C and the protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad). Lysates from tissue samples were established by first grounding the tissue to a powder in liquid nitrogen followed by lysing for 20 min on ice in TNE lysis buffer. All lysates were cleared by centrifugation for 20 min and protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay (Bio-Rad).

2.6.2 Immunoprecipitation

The desired proteins were immunoprecipitated by incubating the appropriate antigenspecific antibody, 20 μ l of protein G-Sepharose beads (Pharmacia), and anywhere from 600-2000 μ g of the protein lysate (depending on the desired protein) to a final volume of 600 μ l for 3-5 hours at 4°C on a eppendorf rotator. ErbB3 immunoprecipitates were carried out using the C-17 antibody (2 μ g/mL total lysate) by using 2 mg of total protein from lysates prepared as mentioned above. Immunoprecipitations for phosphor-tyrosine proteins were performed using PY-20 antibodies (2 μ g/mg total lysate).

2.6.3 Immunoblotting

Lysates from cell lines were prepared by first washing them 3 times in ice-cold PBS and then lysing for 20 min on ice in TNE lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8; 150 mM NaCl; 1% NP-40; 2mM EDTA pH 8; 1mM sodium orthovanadate; 10 mM sodium fluoride; 10 μ g/ml aprotonin; 10 μ g/ml leupeptin). Proteins were extracted by centrifugation at 12 000g for 15 min at 4°C and the protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad). Lysates from tissue samples were established by first grounding the tissue to a powder in liquid nitrogen followed by lysing for 20 min on ice in TNE lysis buffer. All lysates were cleared by centrifugation for 20 min and protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay (Bio-Rad). Immunoblots were performed using 20-100 µg of protein lysate (depending on origin on the lysate). Samples were resuspended in SDS gel loading buffer (62.5 mM Tris-HCl, 2% SDS, 5% glycerol, 0.8M 2mercaptoethanol, 0.25% bromophenol blue), resolved by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred to Immobilon membranes (Millipore). Membranes were blocked for 1 hour in 5% (w/v) dry milk, TBS, and 0.1% Tween 20. Primary antibodies as indicated in figure legends were incubated with membranes overnight at 4°C and were then washed in TBS with 0.1% Tween 20. Subsequently, horseradish peroxidaseconjugated secondary antibodies were added and incubated for 1 hr at room temperature. The membranes were again washed in TBS with 0.1% Tween 20 and the membranebound proteins were visualized using an enhanced chemiluminescence detection system (Amersham).

2.6.4 Pulse Chase Analysis.

The half-life of ErbB3 after treatment of NAFA cells with rapamycin and LY294002 was determined using pulse chase analysis. Briefly, cells were plated at 80% confluence, washed in PBS and starved for 30 min at 37°C by adding 1 ml of DMEM (met/cys-free)/5% dialyzed FCS. Following starvation, 50 μ l of Tran ³⁵S-label (500 μ Ci/plate) was added to the plates and incubated for 40 min at 37°C. Radioactive media was then removed and 5 ml of DMEM (FCS, 2mM methionine, 2mM cysteine) was added to all

plates. NAFA cells were then treated with either DMSO (control), rapamycin or LY294002 and allowed to incubate for 48 hrs. They were then washed in PBS, lysed in TNE lysis buffer, immunoprecipitated for ErbB3 and finally they were separated on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis. The gel was then transferred onto Immobilon P membrane and ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 was quantified on a phosphoimager according to manufacturer's directions.

2.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY.

NAFA cells were treated with various concentrations of rapamycin for 24 hrs after which the cells were washed with PBS, trypsinized with trypsin-EDTA and resuspended in 1 ml of PBS. The cells were slowly fixed by adding ice-cold ethanol while gently vortexing the sample. The DNA content of each sample (approximately 2×10^6 cells) was estimated by staining with propidium iodide and then filtering the samples and quantifying the fluorescence by the use of a Cell Quest FACScan flow cytometer (Becton, Dickinson) according to manufacturer's directions.

2.8 APOPTOSIS ASSAY.

TUNEL was performed to detect apoptotic cell death. The adherent cultured cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde in PBS (pH 7.4), washed with PBS and post-fixed in Ethanol:acetic acid at -20°C. Cells were then quenched in 3% H_2O_2 and subsequently incubated in TdT Enzyme for 1 hour at 37°C. The cells were then incubated with antidigoxigen peroxidase conjugate for 30 min in a humidified chamber after which they were washed 4 times in PBS and stained for 3 min with peroxidase substrate. The cells were then counterstained in 0.5% (w:v) methyl green and washed 3 times with 100% nbutanol and dehydrated by washing in xylene. The cells were then mounted using Permount and viewed under the microscope.

2.9 TUMOR INDUCTION AND DRUG TREATMENT

Randomized placebo controlled trials were conducted on 8 week old female Fvb/n mice (Taconic Farms, Germantown, New York) transplanted with subcutaneous breast cancer cells (NAFA). In all trials groups of five Fvb/n mice were transplanted subcutaneously with 10⁷ NAFA cells. Two, four-arm parallel group was randomized to treatment with placebo, 7.5, 10 or 15 mg / week of intraperitoneal rapamycin. Treatment with rapamycin began one day after NAFA cell transplantation in the first trial, and ten days after transplantation in the second trial. In both trials subcutaneous tumor volume was assessed with calipers 4 weeks after transplantation.

2.9.1 Treatment with Rapamycin.

In both NAFA transplanted trials four groups of five Fvb/n mice were transplanted with 10^7 NAFA cells subcutaneously in the right flank, and each group was randomized to treatment with vehicle, 7.5, 10 or 15 mg /kg/ week of intraperitoneal rapamycin. Treatment with rapamycin began one day after NAFA cell transplantation in the first trial, and ten days after transplantation in the second trial. Tumor size was measured on day 24 of study. Transgenic mice overexpressing constitutively activated Neu (Neu DeLetions in the extracellular domain) in the mammary gland (NDL2-5) were treated with rapamycin starting at 140 days of age (prior to palpable tumor onset). Both control and treatment groups consisted of 5 mice each. Control group received vehicle whereas treatment group received intraperitoneal rapamycin at 5 mg/kg twice weekly for a total of 8 weeks. At end of study, whole mammary gland (with or without tumor) was removed and used for biochemical analysis.

2.9.2 Adenoviral infection and intratumoral administration.

To test growth inhibitory effects of AdErbB3-6F, NAFA cells were infected at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 20 with either control adenovirus (Adlacz) or AdErbB3-6F. Two days after infection, cells were harvested, washed 3 times in PBS and injected subcutaneously into 8 week female Fvb mice. Tumor volume was measured

weekly for 4 weeks. For tumor regression studies using AdErbB3-6F, 10⁷ NAFA cells were transplanted subcutaneously into the right flank of each mouse, and each group was randomized to intratumoral treatment with AdErbB3-6F starting at either week 1, week 2, week 3 or week 4 post-transplant. Two control groups were used (vehicle and Adlacz). Each mouse was injected intratumorally with the recombinant AdErbB3-6F.

2.10 HISTOLOGICAL EVALUATION

2.10.1 Autopsy of tumor-transplanted Fvb and NDL2-5 transgenic mice

For both transplanted Fvb and NDL2-5 transgenic mouse tumor model studies, the growth of transplanted tumors and of mammary tumors were monitored by regular physical palpation of the tumor transplantation site and of each mammary gland. Tumor bearing mice were sacrificed for autopsy by CO₂ asphyxiation when the tumor size had reached approximately 10% of body mass. Mice were considered tumor free if tumors failed to develop by the end of the treatment study. During autopsy, tumor tissues were fixed overnight at 4°C in 4% paraformaldehyde and transferred to 70% ethanol the following day. The Department of Anatomical Pathology at McMaster University kindly performed all the embedding, sectioning (5µm sections), and staining (hematoxylin and eosin). The histological analysis and description was kindly provided by Dr. Robert Cardiff (University of California, Davis, California).

2.10.2 Wholemount Preparation

Wholemount analyses were performed as described (Vonderhaar and Greco, 1979). Briefly, mice were sacrificed by CO_2 asphyxiation and the mice were placed on the dissecting board with their ventral side up. Their skin was washed with 70% ethanol and a midline incision was made through the skin, initiating at the tail end and terminating at the lower jaw. Further incisions were made extending from the midline incisions to the end of each paw. The skin was pulled away from the body wall using the flat ends of forceps and was pinned on the dissecting board. The number three thoracic mammary

gland from either side was dissected out by initiating the cut site from the inner surface of the skin using scissors. The excised glands were quickly spread onto glass slides and allowed to dry overnight in acetone. The glands were then allowed to stain overnight in Harris' modified hematoxylin. The next day, the glands were destained by washing it in destain solution (1% HCL in 75% ethanol). This process was repeated until the epithelial component was seen in sharp contrast to the light background of the fat pad. The glands were then placed for one minute in 0.002% ammonium hydroxide in order to fix the stain and were then transferred to 70% ethanol for a few hours followed by 100% ethanol. Finally, the gland was placed in xylene and the slides were coverslipped with Permount (Fisher Scientific).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical differences with respect to the focus forming assays were performed by Analysis of Variance followed by independent t-test. Differences between vehicle and rapamycin-treated groups in the transplanted tumor models were also perfomed by Analysis of Variance followed by independent t-test. The survival curve was analyzed using a log rank test. Variance estimates presented in all graphs were standard deviations.

CHAPTER 3

The PI-3K/mTOR pathway is involved in the regulation of ErbB3 during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis

3.1 INTRODUCTION

A hallmark of the malignant phenotype is autonomous or unchecked cellular growth. Various components of the proliferative and survival pathways are constitutively activated or dysregulated in most human malignancies (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Breast cancer provides one of the most well studied models which illustrate many levels of pathway dysregulation. These levels include cell membrane receptors, hormone receptors, cytoplasmic downstream circuitry, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and terminal elements that interact with nuclear targets (reviewed in (Atalay et al., 2003; Hidalgo and Rowinsky, 2000; Huang and Houghton, 2003; Mita et al., 2003a). Of relevance to this chapter is the observation that activating RTKs are amplified in the genesis of human breast cancer. In this regard, overexpression of wild-type ErbB2, generally attributable to gene amplification, occurs in 25-30% of human breast cancer and correlates with short time to relapse and lower overall survival (King et al., 1985; Slamon et al., 1987; Slamon et al., 1989; Yokota et al., 1986). The generation of transgenic mice expressing wild type Neu (the rat homologue of ErbB2) in the mammary gland confirm the oncogenic potential of the Neu receptor in this tissue. Furthermore, activating mutations within the extracellular domain of Neu were discovered in 65% of the mammary tumors arising in the MMTV/wt Neu strain (Siegel et al., 1994). Moreover, these altered Neu receptors had the capacity to induce tumors (Siegel et al., 1994) through the formation of constitutive homodimers when expressed in the mammary gland of transgenic mice (Siegel and Muller, 1996) suggesting that the activating mutations in Neu play a causal role in the transformation process. Characterization of these altered Neu receptors revealed a potential collaborating event during Neu-mediated tumorigenesis.

Strikingly, endogenous ErbB3 levels have been shown to be uniformly upregulated by 10-15 fold in mammary tumors overexpressing activated Neu when compared to normal adjacent tissue (Siegel et al., 1999). The presence of equivalent levels of ErbB3 transcript in normal versus tumor tissues suggests that this increase is a result of either increase translation or stability of the ErbB3 protein. Furthermore, the overexpressed ErbB3 is constitutively tyrosine phosphorylated suggesting an active signaling role for this receptor in Neu-mediated transformation (Siegel et al., 1999). ErbB3 itself however, has impaired tyrosine kinase activity (Guy et al., 1994b) and needs a dimerization partner to become phosphorylated and acquire signaling potential (Kim et al., 1998). These observations compliment published results demonstrating elevated levels of ErbB2 and ErbB3 in sporadic human cancers (Naidu et al., 1998; Siegel et al., 1999).

The significance of Neu and ErbB3 co-expression is unclear. Therefore, the overall goal of this thesis is to address the molecular pathway of ErbB3 regulation and its role during Neu-mediated tumorigenesis. One potential explanation for Neu/ErbB3 coexpression may be that they recruit signaling pathways that cooperate during mammary tumorigenesis. Studies have shown that Neu induces transformation by sending strong proliferative signals predominantly through the Ras/MAPK pathway (Dankort et al., 1997). ErbB3, on the other hand, may be sending strong survival signals by recruiting the PI-3K-dependent antiapoptotic signaling pathway. Studies clearly demonstrate that ErbB3 has six consensus binding motifs that are specific for PI-3K and that ErbB3 is the preferred binding partner for PI-3K versus the other EGFR members (Fedi et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994). Therefore, there is a strong possibility that ErbB3, in conjunction with Neu, activates the PI-3K-dependent cell survival circuitry and helps Neu in reaching its full oncogenic potential. Indeed, transgenic mouse models for breast cancer support the notion that both proliferative and survival signals must be activated within a cell before complete malignant transformation can occur (Amundadottir et al., 1996; Webster et al., 1998).

Cell proliferation and cell survival are distinct yet coupled processes that need to go hand in hand to induce transformation. There is accumulating evidence implicating that just as cdks are central regulators of cell proliferation, the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) may be the central regulator of cell growth and survival. The PI-3K/Akt pathway has been implicated in the phosphorylation and activation of mTOR. This subsequently leads to increased phosphorylation of 4EBP1 and S6K, both of which are important steps in the stimulation of protein translation (Gingras et al., 1998; Raught and Gingras, 1999). Since ErbB3 can bind and activate PI 3'K directly (Fedi et al., 1994; Kim et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994), inactivation of 4E-BP1 and activation of S6K may, in part, account for elevated levels of ErbB3 protein in Neu-induced tumors. Furthermore, ErbB3 may be involved in activating mTOR targets that impinge on cell survival pathways.

Aberrant signaling of the PI-3K/mTOR signaling pathways often distinguish malignant from normal cells and therefore may represent possible strategic targets for therapeutic developments. Indeed, the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin, has demonstrated impressive antiproliferative actions in a diverse range of experimental tumors (Dilling et al., 1994; Eng et al., 1984; Guba et al., 2002; Mohi et al., 2004; Muthukkumar et al., 1995; Panwalkar et al., 2004; Seufferlein and Rozengurt, 1996; Wiederrecht et al., 1995; Yu et al., 2001a). Although the antitumor action of rapamycin has been attributed to its ability to modulate protein translation and G1 to S cell cycle phase traverse (Wiederrecht et al., 1995), the mechanism of how rapamycin inhibits tumor growth remains poorly understood. The rapamycin analog, CCI-779, is currently being evaluated in phase I/II clinical trials and although it shows some promise as a potential therapeutic strategy, a better understanding of the mechanism of mTOR regulation will enable targeting of those patients that will more favourably respond to CCI-779 treatment.

The results illustrated in this chapter suggest the following (1) Both PI-3K and mTOR are involved in the regulation of ErbB3 protein levels. (2) Inhibition of PI-3K leads to apoptotic cell death which implicates PI-3K in the cell survival circuitry in Neu-induced tumors. (3) Inhibition of mTOR by rapamcyin induces G1 arrest in a Neu-induced tumor cell line and inhibits the growth of transplanted tumors in vivo. (4) Importantly, rapamycin delays the onset and progression of tumors in a transgenic mouse model. (4) Interestingly, this decrease in tumor progression correlates with decreased expression of ErbB3 and cyclin D1. (5) The rapamycin-induced delay in tumor onset and progression in Neu-mediated transgenic mice also correlates with dephosphorylation of S6K at the rapamycin-sensitive Thr 389 only without affecting phosphorylation of

Thr421/424. (6) There is also a correlation between tumor inhibition and increased levels of hypophosphorylated 4EBP1 in transgenic mice treated with rapamycin.

In summary this chapter implicates the PI-3K/mTOR pathway in the regulation of ErbB3 protein. Furthermore, it suggests that downregulation of ErbB3 may represent one additional mechanism by which rapamycin works to inhibit ErbB2-mediated tumor growth.

3.2 RESULTS

3.2.1 Rapamycin decreases levels of ErbB-3 protein and dephosphorylates S6K and 4EBP1.

As mentioned earlier, Neu-induced tumors show a 10-15 fold increase in endogenous ErbB3 protein levels highlighting the importance of better understanding the molecular mechanism of ErbB3 regulation in these tumors. Since ErbB3 contains six consensus binding motifs for PI-3K and since PI-3K activates mTOR, we first tested whether mTOR was involved in regulating and sustaining the high levels of ErbB3 protein observed in Neu-induced tumors. Cell lines derived from MMTVNeuNT mice (NAFA cells) were used to study ErbB3 regulation. The kinase activity of mTOR was inhibited by use of its specific inhibitor, rapamycin. NAFA cells treated with DMSO alone were used as controls for each timepoint. This would assure that any changes observed are due to rapamycin alone and not DMSO. As shown in Figure 3.1, NAFA cells treated with rapamcyin show a significant decrease in the levels of ErbB3 protein at 24 and 48 hrs. Having seen a change in ErbB3 protein levels after rapamycin treatment, we examined whether this effect was a general phenomenon for other receptor tyrosine kinases as well. Interestingly, levels of Neu remained unchanged upon rapamycin treatment of NAFA cells suggesting specificity of mTOR for ErbB3. This result supports the hypothesis that mTOR is involved in the regulation of ErbB-3 in these tumors.

As mentioned earlier, 4EBP1 and p70S6 kinase are the primary downstream effectors of mTOR and are involved in the regulation of protein translation and their phosphorylation statuses are often used as a read-out for mTOR kinase activity. We

Figure 3.1. Rapamycin decreases levels of ErbB-3 protein and dephosphorylates S6K and 4EBP1.Western immunoblot showing changes in ErbB3, Neu, phospho-S6K and phospho-4EBP1 after treatment of NAFA cells with rapamycin (40 ng/ml). Cells were lysed at 24 and 48 hrs. Equivalent amounts of protein (50 µg) from lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either ErbB-3, Neu, phospho-S6K (Thr389), phospho-4EBP1(Ser65) or Grb2-specific antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblot was used as protein loading control. NAFA (untreated cells), C24 hrs (treatment with DMSO for 24 hrs), R24 hrs (treatment with rapamycin for 24 hrs), C48 hrs (treatment with DMSO for 48 hrs), R48 hrs (treatment with rapamycin for 48 hrs).


- -

tested whether NAFA cells were sensitive to rapamycin treatment. Indeed there are many cell lines that are resistant to rapamycin treatment as observed by the inability of rapamycin to dephosphorylate rapamycin-sensitive Ser/Thr phosphorylation sites on these translational effectors. In order to test the sensitivity of NAFA cells to rapamycin, NAFA cells were treated with rapamycin and protein extracts were subjected to immunoblot analysis using 4EBP1 and S6K phospho-specific antibodies to sites Ser65 and Thr 389, respectively. These sites were chosen because both sites are indicative of kinase activity. As mentioned earlier, of the four phosphorylation events required to 4EBP1 inactivation, phosphorylation of Ser 65 allows it to dissociate from its target eIF4E and allows translation to occur. Similarly, Thr 389 phosphorylation most closely parallels kinase function of S6K. Figure 3.1 shows that inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin decreases the phosphorylation statuses of both 4EBP1 and S6K on Ser65 and Thr 389 sites at 24 and 48 hr time-points. This strongly shows that the NAFA cell line is rapamycin-sensitive and most importantly, dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 and S6K may, in part, play a role in the decrease in ErbB3 observed upon rapamycin treatment.

3.2.2 Rapamycin does not alter ErbB3 mRNA levels

As mentioned earlier, the dramatic increase in endogenous ErbB3 protein levels observed in Neu-induced tumors does not arise from an increase in its transcript levels. This strongly suggests a translational or post-translational regulation of ErbB3. Since we hypothesize that ErbB3 is regulated at the protein level by PI-3K/mTOR pathway, inhibition of mTOR should not lead to changes in ErbB3 transcript levels. In order to assess this, NAFA cells were treated with rapamycin at a concentration of 40 ng/ml and the cells were lysed at various time-points (6, 12, 24, 48 hrs) and total RNA was extracted and subjected to RNase protection analysis using radiolabeled ErbB3-specific riboprobe. The results of this analysis revealed that rapamycin does not affect ErbB-3 mRNA levels in NAFA cells (Figure 3.2). This strongly suggests that mTOR is not involved in regulating ErbB3 at the mRNA level but rather at the translational or posttranslational level. Figure 3.2. The levels of ErbB-3 transcript remain unchanged after treatment with rapamycin. NAFA cells were treated with rapamycin (40 ng/ml) and the cells were lysed at different time periods (6, 12, 24, 48 hrs). Total RNA was isolated from these cells and levels of ErbB-3 transcripts were determined by RNase protection analysis. Total RNA (15 μ g) was hybridized to an antisense ErbB-3 riboprobe. The protected fragment corresponding to the ErbB-3 message is indicated. An antisense internal control probe directed against the mouse phosphoglycerate kinase (PGK) gene was included to control for equal loading of RNA onto the gel.



3.2.3 Inhibition of PI-3K by LY294002 decreases ErbB3 protein levels and dephosphorylates S6K and 4EBP1.

While our observations so far suggest that ErbB3 protein levels are regulated by the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway, there is no direct evidence to suggest that it is funneling through PI-3K. Since ErbB3 is a likely binding partner of PI-3K, it is very probable that PI-3K may play a role in modulation of ErbB3 protein levels. However, we cannot rule out the fact that other pathways may be predominantly responsible. Indeed studies have shown that members of the Ras/MAPK pathway also activate the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway directly. Since this pathway is upregulated in Neu-induced tumors, there is a possibility that it may play a significant role. Therefore, in order to directly assess whether PI-3K is involved in the regulation of ErbB3, we inhibited PI-3K by its specific inhibitor LY294002 in NAFA cells and determined the levels of ErbB3 and Neu proteins. The results shown in Figure 3.3 demonstrate that ErbB-3 protein levels decrease after treatment with LY294002. Similar to rapamycin treatment, LY294002 also does not have an effect on the levels of Neu protein which strongly suggests that PI-3K specifically regulates the ErbB3 receptor tyrosine kinase.

As mentioned above, treatment of NAFA cells with LY294002 led to a significant decrease in the levels of ErbB3 protein suggesting a role for PI-3K in ErbB3 protein regulation. Several reports strongly suggest that PI-3K is directly involved in the phosphorylation of S6K. In order to assess whether the decrease in ErbB3 observed upon LY294002 treatment is due to dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 and S6K, NAFA cells were treated with LY294002 and the protein extracts were subjected to immunoblot analysis using phospho-specific antibodies for 4EBP1 and S6K. Figure 3.3 shows that LY294002 leads to dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 at the Ser65 site which suggests that it is activated and bound to eIF4E and may perhaps play a role in suppression of ErbB3 on S6K suggests that it too may play a role in ErbB3 protein regulation. These results most certainly argue that PI-3K is involved in regulating both the downstream translational effectors of mTOR in NAFA cells. In particular, it inactivates 4EBP1 and activates S6K, both of which are required for translation of proteins involved

Figure 3.3. LY294002 decreases ErbB3 protein levels and leads to dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1. Western immunoblot showing changes in ErbB3, Neu, phospho-S6K and phospho-4EBP1 after treatment of NAFA cells with LY294002 (50μ M). Cells were lysed at 24 and 48 hrs. Equivalent amounts of protein (50μ g) from lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either ErbB-3, Neu, phospho-S6K (Thr389), phospho-4EBP1(Ser65) or Grb2-specific antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblot was used as protein loading control. NAFA (untreated cells), C24 hrs (treatment with DMSO for 24 hrs), LY24 hrs (treatment with LY294002 for 24 hrs), C48 hrs (treatment with DMSO for 48 hrs), LY48 hrs (treatment with LY294002 for 48 hrs).



in cell growth and survival. This suggests that the PI-3K itself is involved in the regulation of ErbB3 protein levels and may in part, play a role in sustaining the high levels of ErbB3 protein observed during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis.

3.2.4 Rapamycin and LY294002 do not affect Akt phosphorylation

Figure 3.4A suggests that inhibition of mTOR does not affect the phosphorylation state of Akt. The hypothetical model suggests that Akt is the mediator between ErbB3/PI-3K and mTOR signaling. Since Akt is upstream of mTOR, it is very much possible that rapamycin would not have a significant effect on Akt. According to the hypothetical model, Akt-mediated regulation of mTOR phosphorylation is dependent upon activation of PI-3K. Therefore, inhibition of PI-3K using LY294002 should have a significant effect on Akt phosphorylation. However, this is not the case. Figure 3.4B clearly demonstrates that Akt is not dephosphorylated upon PI-3K inhibition in NAFA cells suggesting an alternative pathway connecting PI-3K to mTOR.

3.2.5 Dominant negative PI-3K inhibits ErbB-3 protein in NAFA cells

In order to confirm that the decrease in ErbB-3 observed is due to specific inhibition of PI-3K, stable cell lines expressing the inducible dominant negative PI-3K ($\Delta p85$) were derived using NAFA cells. Since PI-3K is involved in the anti-apoptotic/cell survival pathway, expression of this mutant would not be compatible with cell survival, and hence an inducible form was constructed as shown in Figure 3.5A. This mutant contains mutations in the p85 regulatory unit which prevents it from binding to the p110 catalytic subunit. The inducible nature of $\Delta p85$ derives from the presence of loxP sites which are natural targets of Cre recombinase. Therefore, infection of $\Delta p85$ NAFA cells with AdCre leads to excision of the Neo cassette and subsequent transcription of $\Delta p85$ under the control of MoMULV-LTR promoter. NAFA cell lines that inducibly express the $\Delta p85$ mutant, were derived as described in section 2.3.1. Complete excision of the neomycin cassette occured within 48 hrs. To determine whether the dominant negative

Figure 3.4. Rapamycin and LY294002 do not affect Akt phosphorylation. Western immunoblot showing changes in Akt phosphorylation after treatment of NAFA cells with rapamycin (40 ng/ml)(R) (A) or LY294002 (50 μ M) (LY) (B). Cells were lysed at 24 and 48 hrs. Equivalent amounts of protein (50 μ g) from lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with phospho-Akt (Ser473)-specific antibodies. C24 hrs (treatment with DMSO for 24 hrs), R24 or LY24 hrs (treatment with rapamycin or LY294002 for 24 hrs), C48 hrs (treatment with DMSO for 48 hrs), R48 or LY24 hrs (treatment with rapamycin or LY294002 for 48 hrs).





B

Figure 3.5. Schematic illustration of Cre-inducible expression cassette carrying the dominant negative PI-3K and its effects on levels of ErbB3 protein. (A) Stable cell lines expressing the inducible dominant –ve PI-3K ($\Delta p85$) were derived using NAFA cells. This mutant contains mutations in the Src homology 2 bearing p85 regulatory unit which prevents association with the p110 catalytic subunit. The inducible nature of $\Delta p85$ derives from the presence of loxP sites which are natural targets of Cre recombinase. Therefore, infection of $\Delta p85$ NAFA cells with AdCre leads to excision of the Neo cassette and subsequent transcription of $\Delta p85$ under the control of MoMULV-LTR promoter. (B)Western immunoblot showing that infection of NAFA cells with AdCre (moi=20) for 48 hrs leads to a decrease in ErbB3 but not Neu protein levels. Equivalent amounts of protein (50 µg) from lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The blot was probed with either ErbB3, Neu or Grb2-specific antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblot was used to confirm that equivalent amounts of protein were present in each lane.



PI-3K leads to a decrease in ErbB3 protein levels, $\Delta p85NAFA$ cells were infected with AdCre and the cells were lysed at various time-points (12, 24, 36, 48 hrs). The results in Figure 3.5B demonstrate that AdCre expression leads to a specific decrease in levels of ErbB3 protein. There are no changes in ErbB3 levels at 12, 24 and 36 hrs suggesting that the levels of ErbB3 only start to decrease anywhere between 36-48 hrs and by the 48 hr time-point there is a clear decrease in ErbB3 protein.

After determining that ErbB3 levels decrease after full excision by the AdCre virus, the 48 hr timepoint was used in the second set of experiments to confirm these results using proper adenovirus control. An adenovirus expressing β -galactosidase reporter (Adlacz) was used as a control to ensure that any changes observed were due to Cre expression and subsequent excision and expression of the mutant PI-3K. Figure 3.6 confirms that expression of the dominant negative PI-3K leads to a subsequent decrease in ErbB3 levels after 48 hrs. This effect is not due to presence of any adenovirus since Adlacz had no effect on ErbB3 levels. Interestingly, we observe similar results with the $\Delta p85$ mutant as we do with LY294002 in that we see no changes in the levels of Neu suggesting specificity of PI-3K-induced regulation for ErbB-3. These results strongly support the notion that PI-3K is involved in ErbB3 protein regulation in Neu-induced tumors.

3.2.6 Dominant negative PI-3K affects S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1 but not Akt

Previous studies have shown that PI-3K is involved in the regulation of the two important mTOR translational effectors, S6K and 4EBP1. PI-3K is thought to be directly involved in the phosphorylation of Thr389 site on S6K and indirectly phosphorylates 4EBP1 by activating mTOR. Since the Δ p85 mutant led to a decrease in ErbB3 protein levels, we examined whether this decrease may, in part, be due to dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1. The results in Figure 3.6 show that expression of the PI-3K mutant leads to complete dephosphorylation both S6K and 4EBP1. Since phosphorylation of Thr 389 and Ser 65 closely parallel the function of these protein, these results suggest that PI-3K may be involved in the regulation of S6K and 4EBP1 activity in Neu-mediated transformation.

Figure 3.6. Biochemical analysis of NAFA cells possessing the inducible dominant negative p85 inhibitor. Western immunoblot showing effects of Adcre (48 hrs) on ErbB3, Neu, Akt and components of the PI3'K/mTOR pathway. Equivalent amounts of protein lysates (50 μ g) from AdCre-infected Δ p85NAFA cells were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either ErbB-3, Neu, Akt, phosphoS6K (Thr389), phospho4EBP1(Ser65) or cyclin D1-specific antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblot was used to confirm that equivalent amounts of protein were present in each lane.



Several studies have shown that activation of PI-3K leads to phosphorylation of Akt. To confirm that Akt was involved in linking PI-3K to the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway, the phosphorylation status of Akt at Ser 473 was determined in NAFA cells expressing an inducible dominant negative PI-3K (Δ p85). Figure 3.6 illustrates that Δ p85 had no affect on Akt phosphorylation suggesting that PI-3K impinges on S6K and 4EBP1 by alternate mechanisms that are independent of Akt.

Taken together, the results of figure 3.6 suggest that the role of PI-3K in these Neu-induced tumors may be to sustain high levels of ErbB3 protein by upregulating mTOR and its downstream effectors, S6K and 4EBP1.

3.2.7 Both rapamycin and LY294002 increase ErbB-3 turnover.

So far the results suggest that PI3K and mTOR are involved in the regulation of ErbB3 protein. However, whether this regulation is at the translational and/or post-translational level remains to be addressed. Indeed, studies have shown that mTOR regulates the translation as well as post-translation of specific proteins. In order to determine whether the rapamycin and LY294002-induced decrease in ErbB-3 protein levels in NAFA cells was due to an increase in protein turnover, NAFA cells were first treated with either DMSO alone, rapamycin or LY294002 and pulse-labeled with ³⁵S methionine. There is a significant decrease in ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 at 12 hours when compared to the control (NAFA) (Figure 3.7). As time goes by, there is a further decrease in ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 suggesting an increase in its turnover over the course of 48 hrs. ErbB3 turnover started to increase anywhere between 6-12 hrs when compared to the control (NAFA) and continued to increase at 24 and 48 hrs post rapamycin treatment. Treatment of NAFA cells with LY294002 also led to a decrease in ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 at the 48 hr timepoint compared to the NAFA control suggesting an increase in its turnover. Both rapamycin and LY294002 had comparable effects on ErbB3 turnover. The results of this pulsechase analysis study suggest that both PI-3K and mTOR are involved in the regulation of ErbB3 at the post-translational level. Therefore, there is a possibility that the dramatic increase in endogenous ErbB3 proteins observed in Neu-induced tumors may, in part, be

due to a decrease in its turnover. Furthermore, both PI-3K and mTOR may play a role in sustaining high levels of ErbB3 by increasing the stability of this oncogene.

3.2.8 PI-3K inhibition induces apoptosis in NAFA cells

So far the biochemical data suggests that ErbB3 is regulated by the PI-3K/mTOR pathway. However, the biological significance of this regulation remains unknown. Since the hypothesis is that ErbB3 may be providing cell survival signals by coupling to the PI-3K/mTOR anti-apoptotic pathway, we determined whether inhibition of several different members of this pathway would result in apoptosis. The members that were targeted were Neu, PI-3K and mTOR. NAFA cells were treated with either rapamycin or LY294002 and cells were examined after 48 hrs for cell death due to apoptosis by performing a TUNEL assay. Furthermore, the inducible Δ p85 dominant negative PI-3K mutant expressing NAFA cell line was infected with AdCre and apoptotic cell death was determined after 48 hrs. The results of this study are illustrated in Figure 3.8. The control panels were either treated with DMSO alone (NAFA) or Adlacz. The results clearly demonstrate that inhibition of PI-3K using LY294002 and the dominant negative mutant (Δ p85) leads to apoptotic cell death. Rapamycin, however, did not induce apoptosis in NAFA cells. Taken together these results suggest that PI-3K signaling may be providing the necessary anti-apoptotic signals during Neu-mediated transformation.

3.2.9 Rapamcyin induces G1 arrest and inhibits cyclin D1 in NAFA cells

Results of the TUNNEL assay revealed that rapamycin does not lead to apoptotic cell death in NAFA cells. Therefore, the biological significance of mTOR inhibition in NAFA cells needed to be elucidated. Previous studies have shown that rapamycin leads to G1 arrest in certain cell types by predominantly impinging on the activity of cyclin D1. Therefore, we hypothesized that G1 arrest may be a biological outcome of mTOR inhibition in NAFA cells. Figure 3.9 illustrates the results of the FACS analysis. Figure 3.9A demonstrates the normal cell cycle distribution of NAFA cells treated with DMSO

Figure 3.7. Pulse chase analysis on NAFA cells showing that inhibition of PI-3K and mTOR leads to an increase in ErbB-3 turnover. The half-life of ErbB3 after treatment of NAFA cells with rapamycin and LY294002 was determined using pulse chase analysis. ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 was transferred onto immobilon P membrane and transferred onto film. The amount of ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 was quantified using a phosphoimager and summarized in the graph shown. Note the decrease in the ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3 upon treatment with rapamycin which starts between 6 and 12 hours. By 48 hrs, there is approximately a 90% decrease in ³⁵S-labeled ErbB3. Note the same for LY294002 when compared to untreated NAFA cells.



Figure 3.8. Inhibition of PI-3K activity leads to apoptosis. TUNEL Assay was performed on NAFA cells treated with either DMSO alone (NAFA control), rapamycin or LY294002. NAFA Δ p85 stable cell lines were infected with either control Adlacz virus or AdCre followed by TUNEL assay after 72 hrs. Both LY294002 and dominant negative PI-3K (Δ p85) lead to apoptotic cell death as shown. Cells undergoing apoptosis have their nucleus stained dark brown. Note that rapamycin does not induce apoptosis in NAFA cells.



Figure 3.9. Rapamycin induces G1 arrest in NAFA cells in a dose dependent manner. NAFA cells were treated with various concentrations of rapamycin for 24 hrs after which the cells were fixed by adding ice-cold ethanol and the DNA content of each sample (approximately 2×10^6 cells) was estimated by staining with propidium iodide and quantifying the fluorescence by the use of a Cell Quest FACScan flow cytometer. (A) FACS analysis showing normal cell cycle distribution of untreated NAFA cells. (B) Rapamycin (4µg/ml) arrests 96% of NAFA cells in G1 phase of the cell cycle. (C) Rapamycin leads to G1 arrest in a dose dependent manner.





C

only. The graph shows an expected distribution of cells in the G1, G2, S and M phases of the cell cycle. The phase of interest in this case is the G1 phase. The distribution shows that NAFA plates that have not been treated with rapamycin have approximately 63% of their total cells in G1 phase of the cell cycle. Treatment of NAFA cells with rapamycin $(4\mu g/ml)$ leads to approximately 96% of cells in G1 phase (Figure 3.9B). This strongly suggests that inhibition of mTOR in NAFA cells leads to G1 cell cycle arrest. Furthermore, the percentage of cells in G1 phase depends on the concentration of rapamycin. Figure 3.9C shows a concentration dependent increase in G1 arrest upon rapamycin treatment.

Studies have suggested that mTOR regulates cell cycle by exerting its effects on cyclin D1. Therefore, we determined whether rapamycin-induced inhibition of mTOR and the subsequent G1 arrest of NAFA cells was a result of cyclin D1 downregulation. The results revealed a decrease in cyclin D1 mRNA levels upon rapamycin treatment of NAFA cells. Figure 3.10A shows that control NAFA cells treated with DMSO only do not show changes in cyclin D1 mRNA even after 48 hours. However, at 24 hours there is a clear decrease in cyclin D1 mRNA. These changes were not a result of unequal RNA loading since GAPDH levels remain unchanged. We also determined whether mTOR regulated cyclin D1 at the protein level as well in NAFA cells. Protein extracts derived from rapamcyin treated NAFA cells were subjected to immunoblot analysis using cyclin D1-specific antibodies. The results of the western blot shown in Figure 3.10B demonstrate that rapamcyin substantially decreases levels of cyclin D1 protein. Control samples treated with DMSO alone remain unchanged. Cyclin D1 protein seems to almost be almost completely downregulated by 24 hours. Grb2 protein was used as a control of equal protein loading.

3.2.10 Rapamycin prevents tumor growth in vivo: Mouse rapamycin trial

The above biochemical and biological data from rapamycin-treated NAFA cells led us to investigate whether rapamycin can inhibit NAFA cell tumor growth in a mouse randomized placebo controlled trial. Indeed studies have used rapamycin to inhibit tumor growth, however, it has been difficult to identify which tumors may be sensitive to Figure 3.10. Rapamycin-treated NAFA cells show decreases in cyclin D1 mRNA and protein. (A) RNase protection showing that rapamycin decreases cyclin D1 mRNA. NAFA cells were treated with rapamycin. Total RNA was isolated from these cells and levels of cyclin D1 transcripts were determined by RNase protection analysis. Total RNA (15 μ g) was hybridized to an antisense cyclin riboprobe. The protected fragment corresponding to the cyclin D1 message is indicated. An antisense internal control probe directed against the mouse GAPDH gene was included to control for equal loading of RNA onto the gel. (B) Western immunoblot showing that rapamycin decreases cyclin D1 protein. NAFA cells were treated with rapamycin. Equivalent amounts of protein (50 μ g) from lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The blot was probed with cyclin D1-specific antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblots were used to confirm that equivalent amounts of protein the equivalent amounts of protein the equivalent amounts of protein D1-specific antibodies.



Rapamycin





A

rapamycin and which tumors will most favourably respond to its antitumor effects. In order to do so, it is important to better understand the mechanism by which rapamycin may be inhibiting tumor growth. The above biochemical data suggests that one possible mechanism of rapamycin-induced tumor inhibition in ErbB2-mediated mammary tumors may involve downregulation of ErbB3 and thereby inhibiting the cell survival pathway. The goal in the subsequent experiments is to determine whether rapamycin can regress or inhibit tumor growth of a Neu-induced breast cancer cell line (NAFA cells) in vivo. To examine the antitumor effect of rapamycin in vivo, randomized placebo controlled trials were conducted on mice subcutaneously transplanted with NAFA cells. Two, four-arm parallel group was randomized to treatment with either placebo or 7.5, 10, 15 mg/kg/week of intraperitoneal rapamycin (Figure 3.11). Treatment with rapamycin began one day after NAFA cell transplantation in the first trial (Figure 3.11A), and ten days after transplantation in the second trial (Figure 3.11B). Results of the first arm of the study allow us to determine whether rapamycin inhibits the initiation of tumor growth. In the second arm, the tumors were allowed to grow for 10 days before rapamycin treatment began in order to determine whether rapamycin is capable of tumor regression. In both trials subcutaneous tumor volume was assessed with calipers three weeks after tumor transplantation. Figure 11A shows the results of the first trial. After 21 days, untreated mice show an average tumor growth of approximately 1cm³. Mice treated with 2.5 mg/kg/3xwk (total of 7.5 mg/kg/wk) of rapamycin show approximately 50% reduction in tumor size. Increasing the dose to 5 mg/kg/2xwk (total of 10 mg/kg/wk) leads to tumor inhibition by approximately 70% compared to the untreated group. The highest dose used was 5mg/kg/3xwk (total of 15mg/kg/wk). No tumor growth was detected at the end of week 2, however the mice were unable to reach study endpoint since they died from toxicity. Since therapy is a fine balance between effectiveness and toxicity, this study suggests that the most effective dose was 10mg/kg/wk. The results of the second arm of the trial in which rapamycin treatment started 10 days after tumor transplantation, are shown in Figure 11B. Similar to the previous group, untreated mice show a tumor growth of approximately 1 cm³ at the end of 21 days. The group treated with 7.5 mg/kg/wk show about 25% reduction in tumor size. Increasing the dose to 10 mg/kg/wk did not substantially decrease the tumor size as it still remained approximately 25% reduced

Figure 3.11. Rapamycin prevents tumor growth *in vivo*. Bar graphs illustrating the effect of rapamycin on mice subcutaneously transplanted with NAFA cells. Four groups of five Fvb/n mice were transplanted with 10^6 NAFA cells subcutaneously in the right flank, and each group was randomized to treatment with vehicle, 7.5, 10 or 15 mg /kg/ week of intraperitoneal rapamycin. Treatment with rapamycin began one day after NAFA cell transplantation in the first trial (A), and ten days after transplantation in the second trial (B). Tumor size was measured on day 24 of study. Mice treated with 15 mg / week of intraperitoneal rapamycin demonstrated no detectable tumor, however did demonstrate signs of toxicity.









Mean Tumor Volume (cm³)



Rapamycin dose (mg/week)

compared to the untreated group. The results of these studies clearly indicate that rapamycin prevents *in vivo* tumor growth. The above results specifically show that rapamycin has a better effect on prevention of tumor growth than it does on tumor regression.

3.2.11 Rapamycin delays tumor onset and growth in transgenic mice overexpressing constitutively activated Neu in the mammary gland.

Given the promising results of the above transplanted mouse clinical trial, combined with the finding that rapamycin inhibits ErbB3, we attempted to determined whether rapamycin can delay or prevent the onset and progression of Neu-induced tumors originating from spontaneous somatic mutations in a transgenic mouse model. We next determined whether rapamycin-induced tumor inhibition in these transgenics was due to the mechanisms observed in tissue culture. The transgenic mouse model used was MMTV-NDL2-5 line of mice. These mice overexpress the activated Neu DeLetion mutant (NDL2-5) in their mammary glands. Previous studies have shown that the NDL2-5 transgenics develop tumors at an average of 161 (\pm 10) days (Siegel *et al*, 1996). Since the results of the NAFA isograft studies showed that rapamycin was better at preventing tumor growth than it was as regressing existing tumors, rapamycin treatment in these transgenic mice was initiated prior to tumor onset (140 days). Two groups of 10 NDL2-5 transgenic mice were used for this study. The mice were randomized to receive either vehicle of rapamycin. Five mice were treated with rapamycin (5mg/kg/2xwk, i.p) and the other 5 were treated with vehicle starting at 140 days for 8 weeks. Since all the mice were not of same age, the treatments were staggered but all mice started to receive treatment at exactly 140 days. Mice were sacrificed at a mean age of 218 days old (range 204 to 234 days) because this was the average age where the control vehicle group had reached ethical endpoint and required euthanization. The results of this study are illustrated in the Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve as shown in Figure 3.12. Outcomes that were assessed were the following: Date of Tumor Onset: All 5 untreated vehicle mice developed palpable tumors at a mean of 168 days (range 155 to 183 days). Three of the rapamycin mice did not demonstrate any palpable tumors at study completion. The

Figure 3.12. Rapamycin delays the onset and progression of mammary tumors in activated Neu-expressing transgenic mice. Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve illustrating that rapamycin delays tumor onset and growth in Neu-activated transgenic mice. Ten NDL2-5 transgenic mice were treated with rapamycin (5mg/kg/twice weekly,i.p) or vehicle starting at 140 days for 8 weeks. Mice were sacrificed at a mean age of 218 days old (range 204 to 234 days). All 5 vehicle mice developed palpable tumor at a mean of 168 days (range 155 to 183 days). Three of the rapamycin mice did not demonstrate any palpable tumor at study completion. The remaining 2 developed palpable tumor at 181 and 219 days. When the 5 vehicle mice were sacrificed, all demonstrated obvious tumors greater than 10% of their body weight. Three of the rapamycin mice demonstrated no tumor, and the other two demonstrated minimal tumors





remaining 2 developed palpable tumors at 181 and 219 days. *Tumor Size*: When the 5 vehicle mice were sacrificed, all demonstrated obvious tumors greater than 10% of their body weight. Three of the rapamycin mice demonstrated no tumor, and the other two demonstrated minimal tumors. The results of this study demonstrate that NDL2-5 mice that receive regular treatment of rapamycin develop tumors with a longer latency period compared to control mice receiving vehicle treatment only. Rapamycin not only increases the time to event (ie detection of palpable tumors) but also decreases the rate of tumor growth when compared to untreated NDL2-5. The results of this study are the first to show the antitumor efficacy of rapamycin in an activated Neu-induced transgenic mouse model. Given the fact that many of the aberrant downstream targets of mTOR (eg. 4EBP1, S6K) and cell cycle regulatory proteins (eg. cyclin D1) in breast cancer are implicated in involvement of tumor initiation, suggests that mTOR may be an ideal target against which to develop therapeutics to prevent early tumor formation.

3.2.12 Rapamycin has an effect on the subgross and histological patterns of NDL2-5 transgenics

In addition to inhibition of tumor growth of NDL2-5 mice, rapamycin treatment also resulted in a decrease in the number of mammary tumors present. Consistent with previous studies examining the morphological patterns of NDL2-5 mammary glands, vehicle treated NDL2-5 mice exhibit large multifocal, proliferating tumors at 29 weeks of age (Figure 3.13A). Interestingly, mammary glands from rapamycin treated NDL2-5 mice of the same age display only diffuse cystic hyperplasias, lacking large focal proliferative lesions (Figure 3.13B). Histological analysis of hematoxylin/eosin stained sections derived from the mammary gland of NDL2-5 mice treated or untreated (vehicle) with rapamycin reveal that the vehicle mice show large, typical ErbB-type tumor (measuring 8 mm in dimension) which are clearly a carcinoma (Figure 3.14A). The rapamycin-treated glands on the other hand only show few small tumors measuring up to 3.5 mm in greatest diameter (Figure 3.14B). Importantly, rapamycin-treated mammary glands contain small clusters of ErbB-type mammary intraepithelial neoplasia (MIN) which are known to be precursors to invasive carcinoma. These mice also demonstrate

Figure 3.13. Wholemount analyses of mammary glands from vehicle versus rapamycin-treated Neu-expressing transgenic mice. Wholemount preparations of hematoxylin-stained mammary glands comparing the morphology of NDL2-5 mice treated and untreated with rapamycin. Note that the untreated NDL2-5 exhibit large multifocal, proliferating tumors whereas mammary glands from rapamycin treated NDL2-5 much smaller multifocal proliferating tumors.

A NDL2-5 Control (29 wks)



B NDL2-5 Rapamycin (29 wks)



Figure 3.14. Histological analyses of mammary glands from vehicle versus rapamycin-treated Neu-expressing transgenic mice. Histological analysis of hematoxylin/eosin stained sections derived from the mammary gland of NDL2-5 mice treated or untreated (vehicle) with rapamycin. The vehicle mice show large, typical ErbB tumor measuring 8mm in greatest dimension, clearly a carcinoma. The rapamycin-treated glands display numerous small clusters of ErbB-type mammary intraepithelial neoplasia (precursors of invasive carcinoma).
NDL2-5 Control (29 wks)



B

A

NDL2-5 Rapamycin (29 wks)



small glandular and solid acini that are scattered throughout the gland. These clusters have abnormal cells with poor orientation and larger nuclei with abundant cytoplasm (Figure 3.14B). The fact that rapamycin has an effect on MIN supports the notion that rapamycin increases the latency period in NDL2-5 mice.

3.2.13 NDL2-5 mice treated with rapamycin show decreases in ErbB2 and ErbB3 protein levels.

In order to determine the possible mechanism of rapamycin-induced inhibition of tumor growth in NDL2-2 transgenics, whole mammary glands were isolated from treated and untreated mice. The protein extracts were subjected to immunoblot analysis and levels of Neu, ErbB3 and downstream targets of mTOR were examined using specific antibodies. Figure 3.15 summarizes the findings. Consistent with previous studies, vehicle treated NDL2-5 mice show high levels of expression of the Neu transgene (Siegel and Muller, 1996). The two rapamycin-treated mice (8882 and 8877) that developed tumors prior to study completion have elevated levels of Neu but to a lower degree compared to the untreated group. Three of the 5 rapamycin-treated mice that do not develop palpable tumors at end of study, do not show upregulation of the Neu transgene. Previous studies have shown that the endogenous ErbB3 protein is upregulated in the tumors of these mice (Siegel et al., 1999). All 5 vehicle-treated mice in this study show expression of endogenous levels of ErbB3, however, analysis of all 5 rapamycin-treated mice reveal no expression of ErbB3 in their mammary glands. The two rapamycin-treated mice that developed tumors with longer latency before study endpoint also do not demonstrate increase in ErbB3 protein levels. This rapamycin-induced downregulation of ErbB3 strongly supports the role of mTOR in the regulation of ErbB3 in these tumors. Therefore, the inhibition of tumor growth compounded with the lack of ErbB3 expression in rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice suggests an important role for endogenous ErbB3 upregulation during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis. This supports our hypothesis that ErbB3 may be providing the essential survival signals necessary for rapid tumor growth by coupling to the PI-3K/mTOR anti-apoptotic signaling pathway.

Figure 3.15. Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show decreases in Neu and ErbB3 protein levels. Western immunoblot illustrating that rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show decreases in Neu and ErbB3 protein levels. Equivalent amounts of total protein (50µg) from mammary tumor lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The blot was probed with either Neu or ErbB3-specific antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblots were used to confirm that equivalent amounts of protein were present in each lane. Note the lack of ErbB3 expression in rapamycin-treated mice.



3.2.14 Mammary glands of rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1 but not Akt.

The phosphorylation status of S6K at two critical sites were examined. Interestingly, rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show dephosphorylation of S6K on Thr 389 but not on Thr421/424 sites (Figure 3.16). Dephosphorylation of mTOR-specific and rapamycin-sensitive Thr 389 site suggests the importance of this phosphorylation site in Neumediated tumorigenesis. Note that the total levels of S6K protein remained unchanged in both groups.

We also determined whether rapamycin-induced inhibition of tumor growth was a result of dephosphorylation of the mTOR effector target, 4EBP1. Rapamycin treatment of NDL2-5 mice led to complete dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 at the crucial Ser65 site (Figure 3.17). This strongly suggests that 4EBP1 is not dissociated but rather bound to eIF4E, thereby repressing translation of specific proteins. More interestingly, total 4EBP1 protein is elevated in mammary glands of rapamcyin treated NDL2-5 transgenics when compared to the vehicle treated mice. Therefore the end result of rapamycin treatment is an increase in hypophosphorylated 4EBP1 protein. This may suggest that rapamycin may be preventing tumor onset in NDL2-5 transgenics by maintaining abundant 4EBP1 in its active hypophosphorylated form and therefore inhibiting several proteins such as ErbB3.

As observed in tissue culture models, inhibition of mTOR in transgenic mice does not lead to dephosphorylation of Akt (Figure 3.18). This suggests Akt does not play a role in the rapamycin-induced inhibition of tumor growth in the NDL2-5 transgenic mouse model.

3.2.15 Mammary glands of rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show a decrease in cyclin D1 mRNA and protein.

Earlier studies with NAFA tissue culture cells revealed that rapamycin induces G1 arrest but does not induce apoptotic cell death (Figures 3.8 and 3.9). Therefore, we hypothesized that the rapamycin-mediated inhibition of NDL2-5 tumor growth may be **Figure 3.16.** Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show dephosphorylation of S6K at the Thr389 site but not at Thr421/424. Western immunoblot illustrating that NDL2-5 mice treated with rapamycin show a decrease in S6K phosphorylation. Equivalent amounts of total protein (50µg) from mammary tumor lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane probed with either phospho-specific S6K (Thr389 and Thr421/424) or S6K-specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Note that Thr 421/424 site on S6K remains unchanged whereas the mTOR-specific Thr 389 site is completely dephosphorylated. Also note that total S6K protein remains unchanged.



Figure 3.17. Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show an increase in total 4EBP1 protein levels but a decrease in its phosphorylation state (Ser65) compared to vehicle. Western immunoblot illustrating that NDL2-5 mice treated with rapamycin show a decrease in 4EBP1phosphorylation but an increase in its total protein levels. Equivalent amounts of total protein (50µg) from mammary tumor lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane probed with either phospho-specific 4EBP1 (Ser 65) or 4EBP1-specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Note the decrease in phosphorylation status of 4EBP1 at the mTOR-dependent Ser 65 site but an increase in total 4EBP1 protein levels resulting in an increase in the activated form of the hypophosphorylated 4EBP1 in rapamycin-treated NDL2-5



Figure 3.18. Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin do not show any changes in Akt phosphorylation when compared to vehicle. Western immunoblot illustrating that NDL2-5 mice treated with rapamycin do not show dephosphorylation of Akt. Equivalent amounts of total protein (50µg) from mammary tumor lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane probed with either phospho-specific Akt or Akt-specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Note that Ser 473 site on Akt remains unchanged. Also note that total Akt protein remains unchanged.



due to G1 cell cycle arrest. Previous studies illustrated that rapamycin-induced G1 arrest in NAFA cells correlated with downregulation of cyclin D1 levels both at the mRNA and protein levels (Figure 3.10). Therefore, we determined the levels of cyclin D1 in mammary glands of vehicle vs rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice. The results are shown in Figure 3.19. RNA was extracted from mammary glands and subjected to RNAse protection assay using cyclin D1-specific riboprobes. Figure 3.19A illustrates that rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice show a substantial downregulation of cyclin D1 at the mRNA level. Protein extracts were also isolated from the mammary glands of the two groups and subjected to immunoblot analysis using cyclin D1-specific antibodies. The results clearly show a decrease in cyclin D1 protein levels in rapamycin treated transgenics compared to vehicle (Figure 3.19B). These results may suggest that rapamcyin inhibits tumor growth by downregulating cyclin D1 which may then lead to arrest of mammary cells in the G1 phase of the cell cycle.

3.3 DISCUSSION

The results presented in this chapter provide a novel mechanism of ErbB3 regulation by PI-3K and mTOR during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis. ErbB3, in conjunction with Neu, may be providing survival signals through activation of the PI-3K/mTOR/4EBP1 pathway. The antitumor activity of rapamycin in breast cancer may be mediated, in part, through the inhibition of the ErbB3 oncogene, therefore providing a molecular basis for the selective targeting of this signaling pathway in the treatment of HER2-mediated human breast malignancies.

One of the first and most striking results was the ability of mTOR to specifically regulate ErbB3 protein levels without affecting levels of Neu. There was a rapamycindependent decrease in ErbB-3 protein levels most likely as a result of increased ErbB-3 turnover only. Although the results in figure 3.7 clearly demonstrate that both PI-3K and mTOR are involved in increasing the stability of ErbB3 in Neu-induced tumors, it is not clear whether mTOR regulates ErbB3 at the translational level as well. Indeed, studies have shown that mTOR regulates cyclin D1 at both the translational and post-translational levels (Grewe et al., 1999; Hashemolhosseini et al., 1998).

Figure 3.19. Neu-expressing transgenic mice treated with rapamycin show a decrease in cyclin D1 mRNA and protein compared to vehicle. (A) RNase protection illustrating the decrease in cyclin D1mRNA in rapamycin-treated NDL-2-5 mice. Total RNA was isolated from these cells and levels of cyclin D1 transcripts were determined by RNase protection analysis. Total RNA (15 µg) extracted from mammary tumors were hybridized to an antisense cyclin riboprobe. The protected fragment corresponding to the cyclin D1 message is indicated. An antisense internal control probe directed against the mouse GAPDH gene was included to control for equal loading of RNA onto the gel. Normalization of cyclin D1 mRNA with GAPDH mRNA suggests a 50% decrease in cyclin D1 mRNA in rapamycin-treated mice compared to vehicle. (B) Western immunoblot illustrating levels of cyclin D1 protein in rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice. Equivalent amounts of protein (50 µg) from mammary tumor lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The blot was probed with cyclin D1-rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Grb-2 immunoblots were used to confirm that equivalent amounts of protein were present in each lane.





Although the biochemical reason for specificity of mTOR for ErbB3 protein regulation was not determined, there are a few possibilities that may require further investigation. Indeed mTOR has been shown to link growth factor signaling and translational and post-translational control of several mammalian proteins (Peng et al., 2002; Rajasekhar et al., 2003; Shamji et al., 2000). Studies have suggested that mTOR is highly specific for the control of translation of 5'TOP (5'-terminal oligopyrimidine tract) mRNAs (Gingras et al., 1999b; Gingras et al., 2001a; Raught et al., 2001). It would be interesting to determine the differences in sequences within the 5'untranslated regions (UTR) of ErbB3 and Neu and to determine whether ErbB3 contains a stretch of 4-14 pyrimidines in its extreme 5'terminus region that may have been conserved for its regulation by mTOR. Another possibility may be that mTOR is not specific for 5'TOP mRNAs only and may therefore have specificity for ErbB3 for other unknown reasons. In support of this, recent studies have provided evidence to suggest that mTOR regulates the translation of the Ewing's sarcoma (EWS) protein as well as the EWS/FLI-1 fusion protein which is not translated from a 5'TOP mRNA (Mateo-Lozano et al., 2003). This study showed that the EWS/FLI-1-dependent upregulation of mTOR played an essential role in Ewing's sarcoma (ES) and that inhibition of mTOR with rapamycin (10 ng/ml) in cell culture for 24, 48 and 72 hours led to almost complete depletion of EWS and EWS/FLI-1 protein levels. Furthermore, expression of a rapamycin-resistant mTOR construct prevented both proliferation and decreases in EWS and EWS/FLI-1 protein levels.

Further evidence supporting mTOR-dependent regulation of ErbB3 comes from studies showing that mTOR regulates the expression of TGF β type 2 receptor (TGF β RII). In this study, treatment of Ewing's sarcoma cell lines with rapamycin (10 ng/ml) for 24 hours resulted in a dramatic increase in TGF β RII at both the mRNA and protein levels (Mateo-Lozano et al., 2003). TGF- β has shown to be a potent inhibitor of mammary cell proliferation and overexpression of TGF- β in mouse mammary tissue induces mammary hypoplasia and inhibits tumorigenesis (Sherr, 1994; Sherr, 1996). Many types of cancer cells show partial or complete loss of the negative growth control by TGF- β which is thought to be an important step in the process of oncogenic transformation (Morgan, 1995). Interestingly, Siegel et al have recently shown that a

dominant negative TGF β type II receptor decreases the latency of Neu-induced mammary tumors in transgenic mouse models suggesting the importance of TGF β in impairing Neu-mediated transformation (Siegel et al., 2003). Therefore, downregulation of TGF β may be another possible mechanism by which mTOR facilitates tumor progression. Similarly, since many ErbB3-overexpressing ErbB2 tumors may depend on ErbB3 for their full oncogenic potential, increasing ErbB3 protein levels may be another mechanism by which mTOR accelerates ErbB2-mediated tumor growth. Nonetheless, the above studies implicate mTOR in the regulation of a receptor and highlight the complexity of mTOR-dependent protein regulation.

Results of recent reports support mTOR-dependent post-translational regulation of ErbB3. These results come from proteomic studies on the specific translational control by rapamycin demonstrating that most proteins inhibited by rapamycin were RNAbinding proteins (Grolleau et al., 2002). Furthermore, translation of a set of genes that were unaffected by rapamycin treatment included transcription factors, kinases, phosphatases and members of the RAS superfamily. Since ErbB3 is a kinase, there remains the possibility that it may not be regulated at the level of translation by mTOR.

It is clear from results of figure 3.7 that both PI-3K and mTOR are regulating ErbB3 at the post-translational level in Neu-mediated tumors. In support of this finding, recent reports have linked mTOR with possible protein degradation pathways, however the mechanism of mTOR-dependent protein degradation remains unclear. Therefore, there is a possibility that although mTOR may not regulate the translation of ErbB3, it may regulate specific proteosomes involved in ErbB3 protein stability. For example, studies have shown that PI-3K/mTOR signaling inhibits the ubiquitin-mediated degradation of cyclin D1 (Diehl et al., 1998). Recent reports by Razeghi et al have also shown that mTOR inhibits the ubiquitin proteasome proteolytic (UPP) pathway, independent of Akt, in order to increase the half-life of some of its target proteins (Razeghi et al., 2003). Activation of the UPP pathway is associated with an increase in mRNA levels of ubiquitin, ubiquitin conjugating enzymes, ubiquitin ligases, and components of the proteasome (Bodine et al., 2001; Medina et al., 1995; Voisin et al., 1996). Inhibition of mTOR with rapamycin in skeletal muscles leads to decreased phosphorylation of S6K, 4EBP1 and an increase in the ubiquitin-dependent pathway of protein degradation

(Razeghi et al., 2003). Further studies supporting rapamycin-induced decrease in ErbB3 half-life comes from studies showing that the antibiotic benzoquinone ansamycin geldanamcyin induces degradation of the mTOR-regulated hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α) during treatment of prostate cancer (Mabjeesh et al., 2002). These studies support the possibility of mTOR increasing the stability of ErbB3 through inactivation of protein degradation pathways. Further studies will be necessary to investigate the mechanism responsible for PI-3K/mTOR-dependent regulation of ErbB3 stability during cellular transformation.

Rapamycin-induced dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1 suggests that NAFA cells are sensitive to rapamycin. Inhibition of mTOR in the NAFA cell line leads to inactivation of S6K and activation of 4EBP1 so that it is hypophosphorylated and bound to the eIF4E. Although LY294002 and rapamycin lead to almost complete dephosphorylation of these two downstream targets of mTOR, comparable changes in ErbB3 protein levels were not observed. One possibility is that there may be alternative mTOR-independent pathway regulating ErbB3 protein that is unaffected by rapamycin. Another possibility is that the activated proteolytic system might not be sufficient to degrade the overexpressed and over-phosphorylated ErbB3 in these tumors.

Whether ErbB-3 is being regulated at the translational level remains to be determined. Nevertheless, the results presented here suggest that translational and/or post-translational control of ErbB-3 by PI3'K/mTOR may be important to mediate cell survival during ErbB-2-mediated tumorigenesis. The importance of ErbB3-dependent activation of PI-3K is further explored in the next chapter.

The ability of LY294002 and the dominant negative PI-3K to induce apoptosis strongly supports the hypothesis that PI-3K is a key mediator in sending the necessary anti-apoptotic signals during Neu-mediated transformation. The next chapter further supports this model in that both Neu and ErbB3 cooperate to activate the PI-3K pathway and induce cell survival. In support of this finding, other studies have shown that inhibition of PI-3K leads to apoptotic cell death (Davies et al., 2004; Webster et al., 1998).

The antitumor efficacy of rapamycin in Neu-induced tumors was indeed very promising. In the case of the transplanted NAFA isografts, rapamycin was far more

successful in preventing the onset and progression of tumors than it was in facilitating tumor regression. An explanation for this may be that when rapamycin is given the day of transplant, many of the cells arrest at the G1/S boundary earlier during tumor development and those cells that escape cell cycle inhibition contribute to the tumor size and demonstrate impressive growth inhibitory effects. The fact that rapamycin did not induce apoptosis may be one explanation for its inability to have a significant effect on tumor regression.

The most encouraging finding was the ability of rapamycin to increase the time of tumor onset and decrease the rate of tumor progression in the NDL2-5 transgenic mouse model. The mammary fat pad gland of rapamycin treated NDL2-5 show only small tumors measuring up to 1.5 mm in greatest diameter compared to 8 mm in control transgenics. The rapamycin treated mammary glands clearly show presence of small clusters of ErbB-type MIN which are precursors to invasive carcinoma (hyperplasias without atypia). The presence of MIN in rapamycin-treated mice strongly supports the finding that although rapamycin does not prevent tumor onset, it certainly delays the onset and progression.

One of the most striking results of the mouse clinical trial was the observation that ErbB3 levels were not detected in any of the NDL2-5 mice treated with rapamycin. Interestingly, the two rapamycin-treated mice that developed tumors prior to study completion, demonstrated upregulation of Neu without similar increases in ErbB3. Therefore, the rapamycin-mediated inhibition of ErbB3 may, in part, affect the latency period and the ability of overexpressed Neu to drive cell proliferation.

Interestingly, the transgenic mouse study also showed a significant increase in the levels of 4EBP1 in its active state in rapamycin treated NDL2-5. This strongly suggests that rapamycin increases the levels of hypophosphorylated (Ser 65) 4EBP1 in order to suppress the activity of various proteins including ErbB3 which is necessary for cell survival and tumor progression in NDL2-5 transgenics. In support, studies have shown that increased expression of 4EBP1 leads to reduced rates of cell growth and that transformed cells express higher levels of hyperphosphorylated 4EBP1. Furthermore, it has been shown that the Ras/MAPK pathway leads to increased phosphorylation of eIF4E, and the ability of Ras to transform cells is diminished when eIF4E expression is

decreased (Rinker-Schaeffer et al., 1992; Rinker-Schaeffer et al., 1993), implying that eIF4E and hence 4EBP1 proteins may be key mediators of Ras-mediated transformation. Although changes in 4EBP1 protein levels were observed, that was not the case with total S6K protein. In support of these findings, studies have shown that overexpression of eIF-4E has been reported in 100% of human breast cancers and that its overexpression by 7 fold is associated with poor prognosis (Li et al., 1997; Li et al., 1998). S6K on the other hand is amplified in less than 10% of human breast cancers and does not correlate with poor prognosis (Barlund et al., 2000). This finding raises the possibility that rapamycin inhibits tumor growth, in part, by increasing hypophosphorylated 4EBP1 and hence decreasing the ability of eIF-4E to bind to the 5'end of the mRNA.

Another interesting result from the transgenic mouse clinical trial studies was the rapamycin-induced dephosphorylation of S6K on the Thr 389 site only and not on the Thr 421/Ser 424 site. Studies have shown that although S6K has several phosphorylation sites, phosphorylation of Thr 389 is particularly important since substitution of this site with alanine inhibits its ability to phophorylate the S6 protein on the small ribosomal unit. Furthermore, Thr 389 site is the only site directly phosphorylated by mTOR (Dennis et al., 1996). Therefore, our findings suggest that phosphorylation of Thr 389 may be crucial for ErbB2-mediated mammary tumor progression.

The results in this chapter further show that in addition to its inhibitory effects on S6K and 4EBP1, rapamycin also interfered with a crucial member of the cell cycle machinery. Rapamycin-treated NAFA cells as well as rapamycin-treated NDL2-5 mice demonstrated a decrease in cyclin D1 both at the mRNA and protein levels. In support of this finding, it has been suggested that mTOR plays an important role in the regulation of cyclin D1 (Grewe et al., 1999; Hashemolhosseini et al., 1998). The mechanism of mTOR-induced cyclin D1 regulation is unclear, however, it has been proposed that rapamycin delays accumulation of cyclin D1 mRNA during G1 and affects its mRNA stability and accelerates the degradation of newly synthesized cyclin D1 protein (Hashemolhosseini et al., 1998; Muise-Helmericks et al., 1998). Furthermore, inhibition of mTOR by the rapamycin analog (CCI-779) results in the reduction of cyclin D1 expression in MDA-468 breast cancer cell line (Yu et al., 2001a). These actions result in a decrease in the translation of cyclin D1 mRNA caused by inhibition of 4EBP1 which

results in a deficiency of active cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK)4/cyclin D1 complexes required for Rb phosphorylation. Our results suggest that these actions, along with the inhibition of ErbB3 may be resulting in tumor growth inhibition (Noh et al., 2004). Indeed, recent studies have suggested that although overexpression of PI-3K, Akt and S6K are evaluated as predictors of rapamycin-sensitivity, it is cyclin D1 levels that provide the marker for response to rapamycin-induced tumor inhibition. In support, studies have shown that overexpression of cyclin D1 has been reported in 50% of invasive breast cancers and is associated with tumor progression (Buckley et al., 1993; Weinstat-Saslow et al., 1995). These findings suggest that inhibition of cyclin D1 may very likely contribute to the antiproliferative activities of rapamycin and mTOR may be involved in coupling the growth stimulus provided by ErbB3 and cell cycle progression facilitated by cyclin D1. The next chapter demonstrates that cyclin D1 expression is partly dependent on the ability of ErbB3 to recruit and activate the PI-3K/mTOR pathway. Since cyclin D1 depends on this pathway for its upregulation, ErbB3 may play an important role in activating and sustaining the high levels of cyclin D1 which has been shown to be required for Neu-mediated transformation (Lee et al., 2000).

Studies have suggested several mechanisms by which rapamycin inhibits tumor growth. Inhibition of cdks, S6K, 4EBP1, Rb and acceleration of cyclin D1 turnover all contribute to its inhibitory effects. Recently, Guba et al. have shown that rapamycin inhibits tumor growth in mouse models through the inhibition of tumor vascularization correlating with a significant decrease in VEGF production (Guba et al., 2002). Similarly our results demonstrate that although downregulation of ErbB3 alone does not contribute to the rapamycin-induced tumor inhibition, it may certainly represent one possible novel antitumor mechanism of rapamycin, specifically in those tumors that depend on ErbB3 for proliferation.

One finding in this thesis refutes an important aspect of the hypothetical model. The model suggests that Akt is the mediator between ErbB3/PI-3K and mTOR signaling. Generation of this hypothesis was based on previous published results showing that PI-3K sends anti-apoptotic signals predominantly through Akt activation (reviewed in (Krasilnikov, 2000). Akt levels, however, remained unchanged in all cell culture experiments as well as in the animal studies suggesting that it is not involved in the phosphorylation of S6K/4EBP1 and activation of ErbB3. More interestingly, inhibition of PI-3K did not lead to dephosphorylation of Akt at the Ser 473 site. One possibility is that the NAFA cell line may express a constitutive active form of Akt which is not affected by PI-3K inhibition. Nonetheless, there are a few recent studies that propose Akt-independent mechanisms of PI-3K and mTOR regulation which may also explain the findings in this thesis.

Although PI-3K-dependent activation of S6K and 4EBP1 was predominantly believed to occur via Akt, recent evidence shows that PI-3K can activate S6K independently of Akt through an alternative pathway involving PDK1 (Radimerski et al., 2002). Akt directly phosphorylates a number of proteins that impact cell survival and proliferation, however, the details defining the connection between PI-3K, Akt and mTOR are still unclear. As mentioned in chapter 1, a series of biochemical and genetic studies have revealed a pathway from Akt to mTOR involving the tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) proteins tuberin and hamartin, as well as the small Ras-like GTPase, Rheb (Inoki et al., 2002; Manning et al., 2002; Potter et al., 2002). Recent identification of these novel regulators of mTOR implicate the complexity of this growing pathway. There is a possibility that there may be a direct link between PI-3K and TSC2 or Rheb which would allow Akt independent activation of mTOR. Nonetheless, the simple linear model of ErbB3/PI-3K/Akt/mTOR cannot account for these experimental findings, therefore, further studies are required to elucidate the connection between ErbB3 and mTOR targets.

Another possible component of the PI-3K pathway that may be involved in linking ErbB3 to mTOR may be TSC2. Although recent studies have focused on the importance of Akt in the phosphorylation and inactivation of TSC2, others have suggested that TSC2 may be altered by a novel pathway that involves post-translational modification of this protein that prevents it from inhibiting Rheb (Dan et al., 2002; Plas and Thompson, 2003). It would be interesting to determine whether ErbB3 has an effect on the TSC1/TSC2 complex that is independent of Akt. There is a possibility that cells that overexpress ErbB3, depend on ErbB3 to disrupt the TSC1/TSC2 complex. Future experiments may involve targeting endogenous ErbB3 without affecting ErbB2 signaling (Holbro et al., 2003) and assessing the phosphorylation status of TSC2 and Rheb.

Another explanation for why Akt levels may not be altered upon disruption of the ErbB3/PI-3K/mTOR pathway may be that the antibodies used in the western blot analyses were specific for Akt1 only. Indeed it has been shown that Akt2 and Akt3 are frequently upregulated in HER-2/neu-positive positive breast cancers and that it may contribute to tumor aggressiveness by enhancing cell survival (Bacus et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 1996; Nakatani et al., 1999). Further experiments are required to determine the phosphorylation statuses of different Akt isoforms and whether they are affected by inhibition of ErbB3/PI-3K interaction and/or by inhibition of PI-3K and mTOR.

From a clinical point of view, CCI-779 (analog of rapamycin) has reached phase II of development in clinical trials (Banerji et al., 2001; Chan et al., 2002). Phase I singleagent trials showed potential activity in breast cancer. The results of the Phase I/II clinical trials suggest that patients with advanced disease do not respond favourably to the drug. The results in this chapter, suggest that this finding is not surprising since rapamycin was not successful in reduction of tumor growth at later stages of tumor development. The ability of rapamycin to prolong tumor onset and progression in mouse tumor models suggests that patients with less advanced cancer may respond more favourably. Therefore, use of rapamycin in clinical trials may reveal that it is better at stabilizing the disease and preventing it from progressing versus reducing the disease burden. One potential reason for the inability of rapamycin to be as effective in tumor regression may be due to the fact that the molecular abnormality (overexpression of ErbB3-dependent PI-3K pathway) may represent a late event in the history of the tumor. Indeed the disease stage could be critical since inhibitors that block an initiating oncogenic event are, presumably, more likely to induce a clinical response than the ones that block a later event involved in disease progression.

In addition to defining maximal therapeutic indices, an important challenge during clinical development includes the ability to predict which tumors will be sensitive or resistant to rapamycin. Therefore, a better understanding of the possible mechanisms by which rapamycin acts as an antitumor agent may enable targeting of patients that will most favourably respond to treatment. Indeed Yu et al. have demonstrated that breast cancer cell lines found to be remarkably sensitive to rapamycin overexpress ErbB2 and possess constitutively activated PI3'K/mTOR pathway (Yu et al., 1998). However, the

reason for this sensitivity to rapamycin remains unclear. The results of this chapter suggest that inhibition of ErbB3 activity may be critical for downregulation of the constitutively activated PI-3K/mTOR pathway and this may represent one mechanism by which rapamycin induces its anti-proliferative effects. These results provide a rational or a model for why many ErbB2 overexpressing tumors depend on rapamycin-sensitive pathways for growth and are sensitive to rapamycin and its analogs.

CHAPTER 4

ErbB3 drives Neu-mediated transformation by coupling to PI-3K and activating the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway.

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The activity of ErbB2 in normal cells depends on dimerization with another ligand-binding ErbB receptor. However, in tumor cells, amplification of c-ErbB2 results in dramatic overexpression and constitutive activation of the receptor. A wealth of clinical data has demonstrated that ErbB2 overexpression plays a role in the development of breast cancer. ErbB2 overexpression is observed in 25-30% of breast cancer and correlates with poor prognosis of the patient (King et al., 1985; Slamon et al., 1987; Slamon et al., 1989; Yokota et al., 1986). Interestingly, overexpression of phosphorylated ErbB3 has been observed in many tumors that overexpress ErbB2. Since ErbB3 itself has impaired tyrosine kinase activity, it needs a dimerization partner to become phosphorylated and hence acquire signaling potential. The most likely heterodimerization partner is ErbB2 since it is overexpressed in ErbB2-mediated tumors.

The significance of ErbB2 (Neu) and ErbB3 co-expression in both human and transgenic mammary tumors is not well understood. One potential explanation is that both ErbB2 and ErbB3 recruit distinct yet complimentary signaling pathways that cooperate during mammary tumor progression. Studies have shown that ErbB2 sends strong proliferative signals predominantly through the Ras/MAPK pathway. Perhaps the role of ErbB3 in these tumors is to provide cell survival signals by recruiting the p85 regulatory unit of PI-3K and activating mTOR and its downstream targets. Indeed it has been shown that ErbB3 contains six docking sites for the p85 regulatory subunit of PI-3K and activating mTOR and its downstream targets. Indeed it has been shown that ErbB3 contains six docking sites for the p85 regulatory subunit of PI-3K and Gullick, 1994). The hypothesis of this chapter is that both ErbB2-dependent proliferative signals and ErbB3-dependent cell survival signals are necessary for complete transformation. In support of this hypothesis, studies have shown that cell proliferation and cell survival are distinct yet coupled processes that need to go hand in hand to induce

cellular transformation (Amundadottir et al., 1996). One example supporting the importance of cell survival pathways during transformation derives from studies using transgenic mice overexpressing a mutant PyVmT (mT) antigen (Y315/322F) uncoupled to the PI-3K pathway (Webster et al., 1998). These mice develop apoptotic epithelial hyperplasias compared to wild-type mT antigen-expressing transgenics that develop multi-focal metastatic mammary tumors (Guy et al., 1992b). Interestingly, tumors arising from these hyperplasias have elevated levels of both endogenous ErbB2 and ErbB3 protein levels (Webster et al., 1998).

The focus of this chapter was to determine whether ErbB3 tyrosine phosphorylation is a mere consequence of ErbB2 activation and signaling or whether it is a necessary step to activate the PI-3K/mTOR pathway and thus contribute directly to the proliferation of mammary tumors. Furthermore, this chapter determines whether inhibiting the activity of Neu affects transformation and subsequent inhibition of ErbB3 as well as the PI-3K/mTOR pathway. The remainder of this section summarizes the findings of this chapter.

Neu activation was inhibited by use of an adenovirus expressing the Neu protein with an inactive kinase domain (NeuKD). The NeuKD (Neu Kinase Dead) receptor can still homo-or heterodimerize with Neu and ErbB3, respectively but loses its ability to auto- and transphosphorylate. The results show that NeuKD completely blocks Neumediated transformation of Rat-1 fibroblasts and this correlates with inactivation of ErbB3 as well as the targets of mTOR (S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1). So far, the evidence provided suggests only a possibility that downregulation of ErbB3 may, in part, play a role in the decreased proliferation and inactivation of the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway.

In order to determine whether inhibition of proliferation and inactivation of mTOR targets was, in part due to inhibition of ErbB3/p85 interaction, a mutant ErbB3 (ErbB3-6F) was expressed in Neu-mediated tumor cells. This mutant ErbB3 has mutations in all six of its p85 docking sites that prevents it from interacting with and activating PI-3K. This allows for direct assessment of the importance of ErbB3 in activating PI-3K and subsequently sending signals that govern mTOR-dependent cell cycle regulation as well as PI-3K-dependent antiapoptotic signals. The results presented in this chapter demonstrate that both Neu and ErbB3 heterodimerize to function as an

oncogenic unit. Neu requires ErbB3-dependent activation of PI-3K/mTOR pathway for its full oncogenic potential. Importantly, ErbB3-6F mutant induces apoptosis in Neumediated tumors suggesting that these tumors highly depend on ErbB3's ability to recruit PI-3K in order to induce the survival signals necessary for complete transformation. Finally, the ErB3-6F mutant prevents the growth of tumors *in vivo* and also facilitates tumor regression.

Taken together, these results suggest that ErbB2 and ErbB3 heterodimerize in order to function together as a unit. Neu requires ErbB3 to activate the PI-3K/mTOR pathway and to accelerate mammary tumor cell proliferation.

4.2 RESULTS

4.2.1 NeuKD inhibits transforming activity of activated Neu in rat-1 fibroblasts

Activation of ErbB-3 during Neu-induced mammary tumorigenesis most likely results from transmodulation by constitutively activated Neu. Studies have proven that Neu sends strong proliferative signals predominantly through the Ras/MAPK pathway. Members of the Ras/MAPK pathway have shown to regulate mTOR mediators (Blalock et al., 2003; Gao et al., 2003; Kelleher, III et al., 2004). For example the MEK inhibitor PD-98059 significantly dephosphorylates S6K at Thr 421/Ser 424 (Lehman et al., 2003). On the contrary, other studies have suggested that Ras/MAPK and PI-3K/mTOR pathways are independent (Pene et al., 2002). According to the hypothetical model, kinase inactive ErbB3 depends on Neu for its ability to activate the PI-3K/mTOR Therefore, we assessed whether inactivation of Neu and the subsequent pathway. inhibition of the Ras/MAPK pathway leads to a decrease in the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway and a subsequent decrease in ErbB-3 protein levels. An adenovirus expressing the dominant negative form of Neu (NeuKD) was used to inhibit the function of Neu in NAFA cells. NeuKD possesses a mutation in its kinase domain which prevents its ability to auto and transphosphorylate. However, this NeuKD receptor retains its ability homo and heterodimerize with other EGFR members.

We first determined the ability of NeuKD to inhibit Neu-mediated transformation. This was determined by performing focus forming assays in Rat-1 fibroblasts using point-activated Neu (NeuNT). An adenovirus expressing the kinase-dead Neu mutant (AdNeuKD) was used to infect Rat-1 fibroblasts expressing the NeuNT gene. Adlacz was used as a positive control to ensure that any changes observed were due to the expression of NeuKD alone and not due to the presence of an adenovirus. The results are summarized in Table 4.1 and they clearly demonstrate that NeuKD has a dramatic effect on NeuNT-induced transformation. The average number of foci per plate in NeuNTinduced transformation is 158±15. Addition of AdNeuKD completely inhibited foci formation. Addition of Adlacz had no effect on the number of foci suggesting that inhibition of transformation was not due to a viral effect. Two additional activated oncogenes (middle T antigen and RasV12) were used as controls to determine whether the inhibition of NeuNT transformation by NeuKD was specific to Neu-mediated transformation. Interestingly, NeuKD did not have any effect on the transformation of Rat-1 fibroblast by either middle T antigen or RasV12. These studies strongly demonstrate that NeuKD is able to inhibit Neu-induced transformation. Further biochemical analysis (described below) may allow for understanding of the molecular mechanism by which NeuKD may be inhibiting transformation.

4.2.2 NeuKD downregulates Neu and ErbB3 in NAFA cells

- ·

In order to determine whether NeuKD has an effect on ErbB3/PI-3K/mTOR pathway, NAFA cells were infected with AdNeuKD and a series of biochemical analyses were performed. One of the most interesting results is that NeuKD decreases total ErbB3 protein levels as shown in Figure 4.1. This suggests that Neu itself is involved in regulating ErbB3 protein levels. Since previous results suggest that the PI-3K/mTOR pathway may be regulating ErbB3 at the translational or post-translational level, there may be a possibility that Neu may be exerting its action on ErbB3 by being involved in the regulation of S6K and 4EBP1. Described below (section 4.2.4) are the phosphorylation statuses of these mTOR effectors in the presence of NeuKD.

Table 4.1NeuKD inhibits the transforming activity of activated Neu in rat-1fibroblasts. Results of focus forming assays demonstrating that an adenovirus expressingthe dominant negative form of Neu (NeuKD) inhibits Neu-induced transformation in Rat-1 fibroblasts. Focus assays were performed with point-activated Neu (NeuNT). Middle Tantigen (MT) and constitutively activated Ras (RasV12) were used as controls to showthat NeuKD specifically inhibits Neu-mediated transformation. Foci were scored over 6plates. Note that NeuNT-mediated transformation is completely inhibited by infection ofAdNeuKD while MT and RasV12-mediated transformation is not affected by AdNeuKD.

Expression Plasmid	Average No. of foci/plate	
pJ4ΩNeuNT	158 ± 15	
pJ4ΩNeuNT + Adlacz	161 ± 22	
pJ4ΩNeuNT + AdNeuKD	0	
pJ4ΩmT	214 ± 17	
pJ4ΩmT + AdNeuKD	216 ± 13	
pJ4ΩRasV12	184 ± 21	
$pJ4\Omega RasV12 + AdNeuKD$	188 ± 18	

Table 4.1 Effect of AdNeuKD on transformation of Rat-1 fibroblasts transfected with either activated Neu (NeuNT), middle T antigen (mT) or Ras (RasV12).

All cDNAs are placed under the transcriptional control of the Moloney murine leukemia virus long terminal repeat (Mo-MuLV LTR). Rat-1 fibroblasts were maintained in a monolayer for 14 days following electroporation at which time they were stained with Geimsa Values for each assay represent mean number of foci/plate counted on three plates \pm standard deviation. This experiment was repeated three times with similar results. Figure 4.1 NeuKD decreases ErbB3 protein levels and dephosphorylates Neu and ErbB3 in NAFA cells. Western blot illustrating that infection of NAFA cells with AdNeuKD leads to a decrease in ErbB3 protein levels as well dephosphorylation of ErbB3 and Neu. Equivalent amounts of protein lysates ($50 \mu g$) from AdNeuKD-infected NAFA cells were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either ErbB-3-specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Equivalent amounts of lysates ($1500 \mu g$) from AdNeuKD-infected NAFA cells were also immunoprecipitated with phosphotyrosine antibodies (P-tyr) and blotted for either Neu or ErbB3 using Neu or ErbB3specific antibodies. Note the decrease in ErbB3 total protein as well as a dephosphorylation of ErbB3 and Neu upon AdNeuKD infection.



As mentioned earlier, NeuKD lacks the ability to auto and transphosphorylate other EGFR members. Since ErbB3 depends on Neu for it phosphorylation and activation, we investigated the effects on NeuKD on ErbB3 phosphorylation state. The results in Figure 4.1 show a substantial dephosphorylation of Neu upon infection with AdNeuKD. Notice that Adalcz had no effect on Neu phosphorylation. Furthermore, the levels of Neu protein are expectedly higher since the antibody cannot distinguish between the wild type and mutant forms. A dramatic increase in Neu protein levels upon AdNeuKD treatment confirms the high efficiency of the infection. Dephosphorylate itself. Interestingly, NeuKD also lead to dephosphorylation of the ErbB3 protein. This strongly supports the hypothesis that Neu is the predominant trans-modulator of ErbB3 in Neuinduced tumors.

4.2.3 NeuKD leads to dephosphorylation of S6K, 4EBP1 and inactivation of cyclin D1 protein.

As shown above, NeuKD decreases levels of ErbB3 protein. Results of this thesis also suggest that S6K and 4EBP1 may be involved in the translational and/or posttranslational regulation of ErbB3. Therefore, in order to determine whether Neu is involved in the regulation of ErbB3 protein by exerting its action on the downstream mTOR effectors, we determined the phosphorylation statuses of S6K and 4EBP1 after inhibition of Neu activity. The results are shown in Figure 4.2. Interestingly, NeuKD leads to dephosphorylation of 4EBP1 at the Ser 65 site. This suggests that 4EBP1 is activated and is bound to the eIF4E thereby preventing translation of specific proteins. Furthermore, S6K is dephosphorylated at Thr389 suggesting that the S6 ribosomal protein is not phosphorylated, therefore, preventing mRNA binding. Interestingly, NeuKD also has a dramatic effect on cyclin D1 protein levels. NeuKD, however, did not affect the phosphorylation status of Akt. This refutes the hypothetical model and suggests that Akt may not play an important role in tumor progression in this cell line. These results strongly suggest that activated Neu plays an important role in regulating the mTOR pathway in these tumors.

Figure 4.2. NeuKD inhibits S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1 in NAFA cells. Western blot illustrating that infection of NAFA cells with AdNeuKD leads to dephosphorylation of S6K/4EBP1 and a substantial decrease in cyclin D1 protein levels. Equivalent amounts of protein lysates (50 μ g) from AdNeuKD-infected NAFA cells were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either phosphospecific S6K (Thr 421/424 and Thr389), phospho-4EBP1-specific (Ser65) or cyclin D1specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Dephosphorylation of S6K at both Thr422/Ser424 and Thr 389 was observed along with a decrease in 4EBP1 phosphorylation at Ser 65 site. Cyclin D1 protein levels also decrease upon AdNeuKD infection of NAFA cells.



4.2.4 NeuKD induces apoptosis in NAFA cells.

Interestingly, NeuKD leads to apoptotic cell death (Figure 4.3) as observed by TUNEL assay. Since the hypothetical model illustrates the coupling of Neu/Ras/MAPK pathway to PI-3K/mTOR pathway, these results support the model and strongly suggest that the Neu/MAPK pathway is coupled to cell survival pathways. Taken together these results suggest that PI-3K in conjunction with Neu may be providing the necessary survival or anti-apoptotic signals during Neu-mediated transformation.

4.2.5 ErbB3-6F mutant cannot bind to PI-3K but can still interact with Shc.

As mentioned earlier, the hypothetical model illustrates that ErbB3 provides survival signals by coupling to the SH2 bearing p85 regulatory unit of PI-3K and subsequently activating mTOR and its targets. If this theory holds true, then inhibiting the interaction of ErbB3 and PI-3K should result in downregulation of members of this antiapoptotic pathway and lead to induction of apoptosis. The next couple of sections provide results supporting this hypothesis. An adenovirus expressing a mutant ErbB3 (ErbB3-6F or Ad6F) unable to bind to and activate PI-3K was generated in order to study the effects of ErbB3-PI-3K interactions in Neu-induced tumors. As mentioned earlier, this mutant contains a phenylalanine group instead of tyrosine in each of the 6 YXXM motifs that are specifically recognized by the SH2 domain located in the p85 subunit of PI-3K. We assessed the biochemical properties of ErbB3-6F mutant by infecting NAFA cells with Ad6F. An adenovirus expressing the β -galactosidase gene (lacz) was used as a control to ensure that changes observed were due to the presence of the ErbB3-6F mutant alone. Figure 4.4A shows that there is a dramatic decrease in the ability of ErbB3-6F to bind to p85. In order to confirm that the substitution of the six tyrosine residues did not alter the conformation of the C-terminal domain of ErbB3 such that the Shc binding site was less accessible, we confirmed whether the ErbB3-6F mutant is capable of recruiting Shc. The results indicate that the ErbB3-6F mutant still retains its ability to bind to Shc through its NPXY motif located in the carboxyl terminus.

Figure 4.3. NeuKD induces apoptosis in NAFA cells. TUNEL analysis showing induction of apoptosis in NAFA cells after 72 hr treatment with NeuKD. NAFA cell lines were infected with either control Adlacz virus or AdNeuKD followed by TUNEL assay after 72 hrs. NeuKD leads to apoptotic cell death whereas cells left untreated or infected with Adlacz do not show signs of apoptotic cell death. Cells undergoing apoptosis have their nucleus stained dark brown.


Figure 4.4. ErbB3-6F downregulates ErbB3 but has no effect on phosphorylation status of Neu. NAFA cells were infected with Ad6F (moi = 20) for 48 hrs. Equivalent amounts of lysates (1500 μ g) from AdErbB3-6F-infected NAFA cells were immunoprecipitated with antibodies to either p85, Shc (A) or phosphor-tyrosine (B)(C). The lysates were then electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either ErbB3-specific antibodies (A)(B) or Neu-specific antibodies (C). Note the substantial decrease in the ability of ErbB3-6F mutant to bind to the p85 domain of PI-3K. Also note that the ErbB3-6F mutant still retains its ability to bind to Shc. Infection of NAFA cells with Adlacz was used as a control and note that Adlacz does not alter binding of ErbB3 to p85 or Shc. ErbB3-6F decreases ErbB3 phosphorylation but does not affect Neu.



4.2.6 ErbB3-6F leads to dephosphorylation of ErbB3, S6K and 4EBP1 but has no effect on the status of Neu and Akt.

In order to determine the phosphorylation status of ErbB3 upon Ad6F treatment of NAFA cells, the protein extracts were immunoprecipitated with phospho-tyrosine antibodies and subjected to immunoblot using ErbB3-specific antibodies. Figure 4.4B shows that Ad6F significantly decreases the phosphorylation status of ErbB3. It is difficult to determine whether Ad6F has an effect of ErbB3 protein levels since the C-17 antibody used against ErbB3 cannot distinguish between wild-type and mutant ErbB3. Furthermore, Ad6F does not have an effect on total Neu protein levels nor its phosphorylation state (Figure 4.4C).

Ad6F leads to dephosphorylation of mTOR-specific Thr 389 site on S6K and mTOR-specific Ser 65 site on 4EBP1 only. Ad6F does not have an effect on phosphorylation of Thr 421/424 on S6K and Thr 70 on 4EBP1 (Figure 4.5). These results suggest that ErbB-3 is involved in the phosphorylation and activation of S6K and 4EBP1 in NAFA cells. Interestingly, inhibition of ErbB3-p85 interaction has no effect on the phosphorylation status of Akt. This finding refutes an important aspect of the hypothetical model and suggests that ErbB3 activates mTOR through mechanisms that are independent of Akt.

In addition to dephosphorylation of Ser 65 on 4EBP1, Ad6F leads to a significant increase in the levels of total 4EBP1 (Figure 4.5). This finding is interesting and suggests that ErbB36F increases the active hypophosphorylated form of 4EBP1 which would favor a decrease in protein translation.

4.2.7 ErbB3-6F decreases Neu-mediated transformation in Rat-1 fibroblasts

We determined whether ErbB3 provides cell survival signals that are necessary during Neu-mediated transformation by specifically coupling to the p85 subunit and subsequently activating PI-3K. In order to do so, focus forming assays were performed **Figure 4.5. ErbB3-6F leads to dephosphorylation of S6K and increases the amounts of active hypophosphorylated 4EBP1.**Western immunoblot showing that the ErbB3-6F mutant leads to dephosphorylation S6K and 4EBP1. NAFA cells were infected with AdErbB3-6F and equivalent amounts of total cell lysates were electrophoresed on a 4-12% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was probed with either phospho-specific Akt (Ser 473), phosphor-S6K (Thr 421/424 and Thr389), phospho-4EBP1-specific (Ser65), S6Kspecific or 4EBP1-specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies. Note that the ErbB3-6F mutant does not affect Akt phosphorylation status, but does induce specific dephosphorylation of mTOR-specific Thr 389 site on S6K and Ser 65 site on 4EBP1. Ad6F does not have an effect on phosphorylation of Thr 421/424 on S6K and Thr 70 on 4EBP1. Of special note is the significant increase in total 4EBP1 protein levels upon treatment of NAFA cells with AdErbB3-6F.



in order to determine whether inhibition of the ErbB3-p85 interaction would have an affect on Neu-mediated transformation of Rat-1 fibroblasts. cDNAs for wild type Neu (NeuN), point mutant (NT), deletion mutant (8142), wild type ErbB3 (B3) and mutant ErbB3 (6F) were used in the assay which is summarized in Figure 4.6. Coexpression of NeuNT and with wild-type ErbB3 resulted in approximately 25% increase in foci formation. Furthermore, coexpression of Neu8142 with ErbB3 resulted in a 2 fold increase in the number of foci. Co-expression of wild-type Neu with ErbB3, on the other hand, does not significantly affect transformation. Consistent with previous findings, these results suggest that wild-type ErbB3 synergizes with altered Neu receptors during Neu-mediated transformation (Siegel et al., 1999). Interestingly, coexpression of Neu8142 with the ErbB3-6F mutant decreases the number of foci formation by approximately 2 fold. These results very strongly support hypothetical model which suggests that the interaction of ErbB3 and PI-3K play an important role during Neu-mediated transformation.

4.2.8 ErbB3-6F induces apoptosis in NAFA cells prevents growth of NAFA cells *in vivo*

To test whether ErbB3 is providing antiapoptotic signals by binding to p85 subunit of PI-3K, we determined whether the ErbB3-6F mutant could induce apoptosis in activated Neu-induced tumors. NAFA cells were infected with the Ad6F virus for 48 hours. The cells were then subjected to TUNEL assay. The results in Figure 4.7 clearly demonstrate that Ad6F induces apoptosis of NAFA cells. The nuclei of the cells treated with Ad6F are stained dark brown which is indicative of apoptotic cell death. Cells undergoing apoptosis were not detected in NAFA cells treated with Adlacz suggesting that the induction of apoptosis was not a viral effect but rather due to the presence of ErbB3-6F mutant alone. The last panel is a higher magnification showing a representative cell undergoing apoptosis with its nucleus stained dark brown. These results strongly suggest that ErbB-3 is providing anti-apoptotic signals by coupling to the p85 domain of PI-3K in Neu-induced tumors.

The promising results illustrating the ability of ErbB3-6F to inhibit Neu-induced transformation of Rat-1 fibroblasts led to the testing of this ErbB3 mutant for any anti-

Figure 4.6. ErbB3-6F mutant decreases Neu-mediated transformation of Rat-1 fibroblasts. Bar graph illustrating results of focus forming assays using activated Neu and ErbB3-6F mutant. cDNAs for wild type Neu (NeuN), point mutant (NT), deletion mutant (8142), wild type ErbB3 (B3) and mutant ErbB3 (6F) were cloned into pJ4 Ω construct containing the MoMULV LTR promoter. The constructs were cotransfected using lipofectamine and the transforming ability was determined by focus forming assays using rat-1 fibroblasts. Note that while B3 increases Neu-mediated foci formation by approximately 50 %, 6F mutant leads to a decrease in Neu-mediated foci formation suggesting the importance of the interaction of ErbB3 and PI3'K during Neu-mediated transformation. Error bars represent standard deviation.



ErbB3-6F Mutant Decreases Neu-induced Transformation in Rat-1 Fibroblasts

Expression Plasmid

Figure 4.7. Mutant ErbB3-6F induces apoptotic cell death. TUNEL analysis showing induction of apoptosis in NAFA cells after 48 hr treatment with AdErbB3-6F. NAFA cell lines were infected with either control Adlacz virus or AdErbB3-6F followed by TUNEL assay. AdErbB3-5F leads to apoptotic cell death whereas cells left untreated or infected with Adlacz do not show signs of apoptotic cell death. Cells undergoing apoptosis have their nucleus stained dark brown. The last panel is a higher magnification (×200) showing a representative cell with its nucleus stained brown (apoptotic) or blue/green (normal).



140

tumor activity *in vivo*. To determine whether ErbB3-6F inhibits or decreases the rate of tumor growth of NAFA cells *in vivo*, a transplanted mouse clinical trial was performed.

NAFA cells were infected with either Ad6F, Adlacz or mock for 48 hours after which the cells were transplanted subcutaneously into Fvb female mice. Mice were randomized to receive either Ad6F,Adlacz or mock infected NAFA cells. Each of the three groups consisted of 5 mice each. The tumor volumes in all three groups were measured weekly using calipers. The mice were euthanized at 5 weeks post-transplant since the tumors had reached ethical endpoint. Figure 4.8 depicts the results of this trial. The control groups (NAFA, Adlacz) show a linear increase in tumor volume between 1 to 3 weeks post-transplant. Interestingly however, the Ad6F group did not start to develop measurable tumors until week 2. Although tumor growth was slow between week 2 and 3, the growth dramatically increased after week 3 reaching 0.5 cm³ by week 4. The tumor volume of the Ad6F group was very comparable to that of the NAFA group at weeks 4 and 5. The transient nature of ErbB3-6F expression in these cells may account for the differential pattern of tumor growth in mice transplanted with ErbB3-6F-infected NAFA cells. The results of this trial suggest that the ErbB3-6F mutant delays the onset of Neu-induced tumors.

The ability of the ErbB3-6F mutant to delay tumor onset and growth compounded with the fact that this mutant leads to apoptotic cell death, led to determining whether Ad6F is capable of regressing tumors *in vivo*. A randomized mouse placebo controlled trial was performed in order to test the anti-tumor efficacy of Ad6F. Six groups of five mice (n=5) each were used. All mice were transplanted with untreated NAFA cells (10^7 cells) in the right flank. The groups received intratumoral injections of either PBS (NAFA), Adlacz or Ad6F. The first group received Ad6F after 1 week of tumor transplantation. The second group received intratumoral injections of Ad6F after 2 weeks and so on. The therapeutic benefit obtained by injecting Ad6F into Neu-induced tumors *in vivo* are summarized in Figure 4.9. One week after NAFA transplantation, the tumors grew to a size that was difficult to measure using calipers, however, it could be detected by palpation of the tumor transplanted site. Injections of Ad6F after 1 week post-transplantation resulted in complete tumor regression. However, when the tumors were allowed to grow either 2 or 3 weeks before initiation of intratumoral injections of Ad6F,

Figure 4.8 Mutant ErbB3-6F prevents the growth of NAFA cells *in vivo*. Graph showing that ErbB3-6F inhibits tumor progression. NAFA cells were infected with either mock, Adlacz or Ad6F (moi=5) for 48 hrs. Cells were then removed from tissue culture plate, washed 3X in PBS and transplanted into the right flanks of Fvb/n mice. Each of the three groups consisted of 5 mice. The tumor volumes in all three groups (n=5) were measured weekly using calipers. Note that Ad6F delays tumor onset although tumor volume starts to increase after 2 weeks. Also note that Adlacz behaves similarly to the control vehicle group.



ErbB3-6F Mutant Prevents Neu-induced Tumor Growth

Figure 4.9 Mutant ErbB3-6F facilitates Neu-mediated tumor regression. Graph showing that ErbB3-6F mutant facilitates Neu-mediated tumor regression. Each of the 6 groups consisted of 5 mice (n=5). All mice were transplanted with untreated NAFA cells (10⁷ cells) in the right flank. The groups received intratumoral injections of either Adlacz or Ad6F at various times points after palpable tumor onset. At week one, tumors were palpable and measured approximately 0.2 cm³. Intratumoral injections of AdErbB3-6F after week 1 led to complete regression of the palpable tumor. Note that intratumoral injections of AdErbB3-6F beginning at week2,3 and 4 post-transplant had no effect on tumor regression.





the tumors fail to regress. In summary, the tumor regresses and remains regressed if treatment is given at the earliest time-point (1 week). Treatment after 1 week does not affect tumor size. The results of this mouse randomized controlled trial suggest that although the effect of Ad6F on tumor growth is not robust, these preliminary observations suggest that the ErbB3-6F mutant has anti-tumor properties that are worth investigating further.

4.3 DISCUSSION

The results in this chapter illustrate that constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation of ErbB3 is dependent on the activity of overexpressed Neu. More importantly, the activity of PI-3K and mTOR targets (S6K and 4EBP1) are fully dependent on the activity of Neu and the ability of phospho-ErbB3 to recruit the p85 regulatory unit of PI-3K. Finally, inhibition of ErbB3/p85 interaction is apoptotic and decreases the proliferation of Neu-induced tumors in cell culture and *in vivo*. These results provide possibly the first direct evidence for a significant role for ErbB3 in Neu-induced tumors, and strongly suggests that Neu requires ErbB3-dependent activation of PI-3K/mTOR cell survival signaling pathway for its full oncogenic potential.

Evidence suggesting that Neu/ErbB3 co-receptor activity is important *in vivo* comes from studies using MMTV-Neu Deletion mutant transgenic mouse tumor model showing that endogenous expression and phosphorylation of ErbB3, but not ErbB1 or ErbB4 was increased in these tumors (Siegel et al., 1999). In addition to this, the study also showed that co-expression of Neu and ErbB3 had a synergistic effect on foci formation in Rat-1 fibroblasts (Siegel et al., 1999). Further evidence for the importance of Neu/ErbB3 co-receptor activity comes from studies using ErbB2-overexpressing human breast tumor cell lines. In these studies, loss of functional ErbB3 in SKBR3, MB361 and BT474 was strongly antiproliferative. Interestingly, each of these cell lines also express ErbB1 and BT474 expresses ErbB4. However, neither ErbB1 nor ErbB4 could drive cell proliferation by replacing ErbB3 as the heterodimerization partner for ErbB2 (Holbro et al., 2003). These studies support the notion that ErbB3 is the biologically relevant partner for overexpressed Neu.

As mentioned earlier, activation of kinase dead ErbB-3 during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis most likely results from transmodulation by Neu. In order to explore the contribution of Neu/Ras/MAPK proliferative pathway in ErbB3/PI-3K/mTOR regulation, NeuKD was used to inhibit the function of NeuNT by formation of inactive homodimers. Rat-1 fibroblasts containing inactive NeuNT/NeuKD dimers lost complete transforming ability when compared to rat-1 fibroblasts containing NeuNT homodimers. Furthermore, NAFA cells infected with NeuKD (therefore containing NeuNT/NeuKD inactive dimers) showed a dramatic decrease in the signaling potential of the ErbB3/PI-3K/mTOR pathways. This interesting finding not only supports the hypothesis but also supports other studies that have shown that a major consequence of targeting overexpressed ErbB2 is a substantial decrease in PI-3K activity (Basso et al., 2002; Lane et al., 2000; Neve et al., 2000). Further evidence supporting these results come from studies showing that in ErbB2 overexpressing breast tumor cell lines, there is a correlation between ErbB3 expression levels and sensitivity to ErbB2-directed inhibitors (Holbro et al., 2003; Lane et al., 2001; Munster et al., 2002). For example, the MKN7 tumor cell line, which has high levels of ErbB2 but lacks ErbB3, is insensitive to ErbB2-directed inhibitors such as 4D5 and 17-AAG (Lane et al., 2001; Munster et al., 2002). Further evidence comes from studies showing that intracellular retention of ErbB2 leads to a dramatic dephosphorylation of ErbB3 along with a decrease in its ability to associate with PI-3K and a subsequently inhibit proliferation of breast cancer cells (Neve et al., 2000). Furthermore, treatment with HER2 blocking antibody, herceptin, blocks the constitutive phosphorylation of ErbB3, disrupts the ErbB3/p85 association and inhibits cell proliferation in BT-474 cells (Yakes et al., 2002). Although the above mentioned studies only elude to the fact that the ErbB3/p85 interaction may be important for proliferation, they do not directly assess the biological significance of this interaction. These results suggest that mitogenic signaling pathways originating from activated Neu result in activation of ErbB3/PI-3K/mTOR pathways.

A much more novel and interesting finding was that infection of NAFA cells with AdNeuKD led to a decrease in ErbB3 protein levels as well as decrease in its phosphorylation state. NeuKD also led to dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1. Strikingly, inhibition of Neu had a dramatic impact on the phosphorylation of the Thr421/424 site on S6K. This supports studies that have shown that S6K may be phosphorylated at this site by mTOR-insensitive pathways such as Ras/MAPK and that MAPK signal-integrating kinases like Mnk1/2 can phosphorylate 4EBP1 independent of mTOR. One explanation for this is that inhibiting the ability of Neu to transphosphorylate and activate ErbB3 prevents ErbB3 from binding to PI-3K and activating mTOR, 4EBP1 and S6K.

The fact that NeuKD induced apoptosis in NAFA cells in addition to downregulation of ErbB3, suggests that ErbB3 in conjunction with ErbB2 may be activating the antiapoptotic pathway. Indeed studies have shown that intratumoral injections of an adenovirus expressing NeuKD has a therapeutic effect on ErbB2-induced tumor growth by inducing apoptosis (Palmer et al., 2002). However, the mechanism of NeuKD-induced apoptosis has yet to be addressed. Biochemical results obtained in this chapter from NeuKD-infected NAFA cells suggests that one mechanism by which NeuKD may be facilitating ErbB2-induced tumor regression and apoptosis may be through dephosphorylation of ErbB3 as well as decrease in its protein levels which subsequently results in downregulation of the essential cell survival signals provided by PI-3K/mTOR pathways. Therefore, targeting ErbB2-driven tumors with agents that disrupt formation of an active ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer may be useful. In this respect, it was recently shown that mAb 2C4, which blocks ErbB2's ability to heterodimerize with ErbB3, efficiently inhibits the growth of BT474 tumor cells in a xenograft model (Agus et al., 2002).

Among the known intracellular effects of the Neu/ErbB3 coreceptor are Ras/MAPK and PI-3K signaling. Several studies have suggested that PI-3K is the preferred partner for ErbB3 since it has six docking sites for p85 adaptor subunit of PI-3K compared to one Shc-binding site (NPXY1325)(Vijapurkar et al., 1998). Complexes of ErbB2, ErbB3 and p85 have been reported in breast carcinoma cell lines (Ram and Ethier, 1996). Some studies suggest that the constitutive ErbB3/p85 complexes are present due to ligand independent expression of ErbB2 while others show that these complexes are present due to the presence of HRG/ErbB3 autocrine loop in a number of ErbB3 expressing breast cancer cells (Alimandi et al., 1995; Kim et al., 1994; Kraus et al., 1993; Ram and Ethier, 1996). However, very little is known about the significance of the ErbB2/ErbB3/p85 complex.

Biochemical analysis of the Ad6F-infected NAFA cells clearly illustrate that substitution of the six tyrosine residues with phenylalanine did not alter the conformation of the C-terminal domain of ErbB3 such that the Shc binding site was less accessible. This was important in order to confirm that any proliferative or signaling changes observed by the introduction of ErbB-6F is strictly due to the inability of ErbB3 to recruit p85. The observation that NAFA cells lacking ErbB3/p85 interaction still maintain the same high levels of phosphorylated Neu as do control NAFA cells after 48 hrs yet show a dramatic dephosphorylation of S6K (Thr 389) and 4EBP1 (Ser65) highlights the essential role of ErbB3 in recruiting PI-3K and activating mTOR-specific targets. The most striking result is the site-specific dephosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1 by ErbB3-6F. Phosphorylation of Thr421/Ser424 sites on S6K remain unaffected in cells lacking ErbB3/p85 interaction, however S6K is completely dephosphorylated at the Thr 389 site. This strongly implicates that the PI-3K-induced phosphorylation of the rapamycinsensitive site on S6K is completely dependent on the ability of phospho ErbB3 to interact with p85. Support for this finding come from studies with the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1). Engagement of insulin receptor by insulin leads to recruitment of the IRS-1 protein, which subsequently recruits PI-3K. Mutations within the IRS-1 that blocks the recruitment of p85 also blocks activation of S6K (Myers, Jr. et al., 1994; Myers, Jr. et al., 1996). Furthermore, treatment of cells with a PI-3K inhibitor wortmannin, blocks the insulin signal to 4EBP (Ser 65, Thr 70) and S6K (Thr 389) but does not affect Thr 421/Ser424 (Gingras et al., 2001a; Grammer et al., 1996). Studies have not clearly demonstrated the significance of Thr421/424 sites on S6K. Although it has been suggested that this site is important for S6K function, most studies agree that the Thr 389 site most parallels kinase function and leads to phosphorylation of the S6 protein on the small ribosomal unit and subsequent initiation of translation (Gingras et al., 2001b; Pearson et al., 1995). Although the Ser 65 site on 4EBP1 is regulated my mTOR, our studies show that this phosphorylation is fully dependent on the recruitment of PI-3K by ErbB3 in this particular tumor cell line. Previous studies have implicated that the phosphorylation sites on S6K and 4EBP1 are very tightly regulated. The fact that NAFA

cells lacking ErbB3/p85 interaction still contain phosphorylated Neu suggests that the MAPK signaling pathway originating from Neu is still active. This may be one explanation as to why there are no changes in the phosphorylation status of the Thr421/Ser424 site on S6K. Indeed studies have shown that Ras/MAPK pathway can phosphorylate S6K at Thr421/424 which is independent of mTOR function (Lehman et al., 2003). As for the phosphorylation sites on 4EBP1, studies have provided evidence showing that 4EBP1 is phosphorylated at Thr37, Thr46, Thr70, Ser65 sites in a sequential fashion until the final phosphorylation of Ser65 which is required for 4EBP1 to dissociate from eIF4E. The striking result that ErbB3 regulates Ser 65 phosphorylation strongly raises the possibility that in Neu-induced tumors, ErbB3 plays a key role in maintaining 4EBP1 in its inactive, eIF4E-unbound state thereby allowing uncontrolled translation of proteins predominantly regulated by mTOR.

Another very striking result is the fact that NAFA cells lacking ErbB3/p85 interaction show an increase in total 4EBP1 protein levels compared to controls. Therefore, one mechanism by which ErbB3-6F may downregulate the PI-3K and mTOR pathways may be by increasing the total levels of hypophosphorylated 4EBP1. This would lead to an increase in eIF4E-4EBP1 complexes and a further suppression of mTOR-regulated proteins. Whether the regulation of 4EBP1 by ErbB3 is at the mRNA level as well remains to be determined. Nonetheless, these results strongly implicate that one potential signaling role of ErbB3 in Neu-induced tumors may be to sustain 4EBP1 in its inactive hyperphosphorylated state thereby increasing translation of proteins involved in cell growth and proliferation.

Interestingly, results in the previous chapter suggest that mTOR / 4EBP1 pathway itself may be involved in the regulation of ErbB3. Therefore, another potential reason for ErbB3 to activate the mTOR/4EBP1 pathway may be to activate the pathway that is required to sustain high levels of endogenous ErbB3 protein. There is a possibility that under normal biological conditions, the actions of ErbB3 restrict the extent of mTOR activity, which in turn restricts the stability of ErbB3 itself. However, in Neuoverexpressing tumor cells, continuous phosphorylation and activation of ErbB3 leads to uncontrolled activity of mTOR which ultimately leads to an increase in translational efficiency of target proteins such as ErbB3.

The ability of the Neu/ErbB3-6F co-receptor to decrease the number of foci of Rat-1 fibroblasts expressing the point and deletion mutants of Neu highly suggests that ErbB3-induced recruitment of p85 is required for Neu-induced proliferation. In this regard studies have shown that interaction of ErbB3 with PI-3K is correlated with malignant phenotypes of adenocarcinomas (Kobayashi et al., 2003). In particular, this study demonstrated that ErbB3 is constitutively phosphorylated and that this activation of ErbB3 results in activation of PI-3K in signet-ring cell carcinoma cells. Furthermore, expression of the constitutively active ErbB2/ErbB3 chimeric receptor revealed that PI-3K signaling triggered by ErbB3 phosphorylation was essential for phenotypes such as loss of cell-cell interaction (Kobayashi et al., 2003).

ErbB3-6F was not as potent in inhibiting transforming ability of neu harbouring the point mutation in the transmembrane domain as it was for the deletion mutant. Although both the point and deletion mutants of Neu lead to constitutive dimerization and activation, the deletion mutant is weaker in its ability to transform Rat-1 fibroblasts (Siegel and Muller, 1996) for reasons not understood. The potent nature of NeuNT may be one explanation as to differences in proliferative block by ErbB3-6F. Nonetheless, these results highlight the importance of PI-3K activation in these tumors.

Studies have investigated the relative contributions of the MAPK and PI-3K pathways to the mitogenic and transforming potential of the ErbB2/ErbB3 activated coreceptor and have shown that the PI-3K anti-apoptotic pathway clearly predominates in the induction of cellular transformation (Vijapurkar et al., 2003). In support of this finding, studies have shown that breast cancer cell lines with ErbB2 overexpression possess an increased growth requirement from PI-3K and S6K (Hermanto et al., 2001) and are very sensitive to inhibitors of this pathway. The underlying mechanism of the increased sensitivity to PI-3K and S6K has not been addressed. One possibility may be that this phenomenon may be directly related to the phosphorylation status of ErbB2. Low ErbB2-expressing breast cancer cell lines were not sensitive to PI-3K inhibition, however, forced expression of ErbB2 in the same cell lines led to a dramatic increase in sensitivity to PI-3K inhibition (Hermanto et al., 2001).

Another possibility is that the ErbB3-mediated amplification of PI-3K signaling may result in downregulation of other pathway(s) that have a function equivalent to the

PI-3K pathway and that are otherwise active and important in facilitating tumor growth. As a consequence, ErbB-2 overexpressing cell develop a greater reliance on PI-3K signaling in anchorage-independent growth and therefore have increased sensitivity to inhibition of PI-3K signaling. The results described in this chapter along with the above findings may suggest that ErbB3 plays a key role in the increase in ErbB2-associated PI3K activity and may indict ErbB3 overexpression in the genesis and maintenance of Neu-induced tumors.

The results in this chapter strongly suggest that as a potential regulator of cell growth and proliferation, ErbB3 mediates a PI-3K-dependent mitogenic signaling pathway essential for the growth of tumors harboring amplification of the Neu oncogene. This renders ErbB3 and its downstream signal transducers, such as PI-3K and mTOR as potential targets for the treatment of breast tumors. To explore this possibility, we examined the ability of an adenovirus expressing ErbB3-6F to inhibit the growth of a Neu-induced tumor cell line (NAFA) in vivo. Interestingly, mice transplanted with AdErbB3-6F-infected NAFA cells show a delay in tumor onset by approximately 2 weeks. The tumor then starts to grow after 2 weeks and reaches tumor volumes comparable to the control groups. The explanation for this may be simply due to the transient nature of adenoviral infection. Since the ErbB3-6F mutant is no longer being overexpressed at 2 weeks, we see an increase in tumor volume from perhaps those cells that have escaped the mechanism of tumor inhibition. AdErbB3-6F also showed an effect on tumor regression only if the virus was intratumorally introduced when the tumor was palpable (1 week post-transplant). The mechanisms of tumor regression in these mice were not studied. However, since ErbB3-6F leads to apoptotic cell death of NAFA cells, we can speculate that tumor regression may be a result of apoptosis of the cells. Another possibility may be that AdErbB3-6F provides tumor antigens to dendritic cells through apoptotic bodies and stimulates an antitumor immune response. In support, Ronchetti et al. have shown that injection of apoptotic tumor cells elicits an antitumor immune response (Ronchetti et al., 1999). The inability of AdErbB3-6F to regress tumors that grew beyond 1 week may be simply due to the inability to reach therapeutic efficacy. Perhaps the therapeutic effect of AdErbB3-6F could be enhanced by the addition of a dominant negative ErbB member such as NeuKD. The ErbB3-6F tumor studies further support the strong biological role of ErbB3 during ErbB2-mediated transformation. The fact that ErbB3-6F mutant did not lose its ability of associate with the Shc binding site (Y1325) certainly highlights the importance of the interaction of ErbB3 with PI-3K and strongly suggests that ErbB3 may be providing survival signals by recruiting the essential antiapoptotic pathway during Neu-mediated tumorigenesis. In support of these findings, studies done by Holbro et al (2003) have also highlighted the importance of ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer-dependent PI-3K signaling in breast cancer cell proliferation. They demonstrated that ErbB3 is an essential partner in the transformation process and that lack of ErbB2 or ErbB3 has similar effects on cell proliferation and cell cycle regulators (Holbro et al., 2003). Another study demonstrated that amplification of PIK3CA, which encodes the catalytic subunit (p110 α) of PI3K, is amplified in human ovarian tumors (Shayesteh et al., 1999) and cervical cancers (Ma et al., 2000). Interestingly, many of the ovarian cancer cells overexpress ErbB2 but lack ErbB3 expression suggesting that PI3K may substitute for elevated ErbB3 protein in these tumors.

Results from the *in vivo* randomized controlled mouse trial suggest that ErbB3 may be a potential therapeutic target for those tumors that contain ErbB3-driven amplification of PI-3K/mTOR pathways. In support of this, studies have shown that tumors containing ErbB2/ErbB3/p85 complexes are the most potent signaling complex in terms of growth and transformation and can lead to enhanced chemotherapeutic drug resistance (Alimandi et al., 1995; Alroy and Yarden, 1997; Chen et al., 2000; Ram and Ethier, 1996). Although the reason for the high potency is not well understood, it may be that this potency is related to the ability of ErbB3 to recruit p85 and activate mTOR and other potentially novel downstream signaling molecules.

Recent studies have focused on determining a more detailed mechanism by which Neu leads to induction of mammary tumors. Identification of the precise roles played by mitogenic and anti-apoptotic signal transduction pathways in Neu-mediated tumors will lead to both a better understanding of the mechanisms underlying the biological behaviour of Neu-induced tumors and the potential development of effective strategies to treat those tumors. Demonstration of ErbB3's essential role in cell survival by coupling to p85 and activating S6K and 4EBP1, provides a model that could explain why preventing the activity of ErbB3 as well as ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimers may have a therapeutic effect in tumors that overexpress ErbB2.

CHAPTER 5

Conclusions and Future Directions

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

The progression of mammary epithelial cells to the malignant phenotype involves cumulative genetic changes that alter growth signal transduction pathways governing cell proliferation. Proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes regulate normal cellular growth and are frequently altered in breast cancer. Of relevance to this thesis is the observation that activating RTKs are amplified in the genesis of human breast cancer. In this regard, overexpression of wild-type ErbB2, generally attributable to gene amplification, occurs in 25-30% of human breast cancer and correlates with short time to relapse and lower overall survival (King et al., 1985; Slamon et al., 1987; Slamon et al., 1989; Yokota et al., 1986). Previous studies confirm the oncogenic potential of the Neu (the rat homologue of ErbB2) receptor through the generation of transgenic mice expressing wild type Neu in the mammary gland (Guy et al., 1992b). Furthermore, Siegel et al. had shown that activating mutations within the extracellular domain of Neu were present in 65% of the mammary tumors arising in the MMTV/wt Neu strain (Siegel et al., 1994). Moreover, these altered Neu receptors had the capacity to induce tumors when expressed in the mammary gland of transgenic mice (Siegel and Muller, 1996) suggesting that the activating mutations in Neu play a causal role in the transformation process.

Siegel et al also characterized these activated Neu-induced tumors which revealed a potential collaborating event with another EGFR member, namely ErbB3, during Neumediated tumorigenesis. Specifically, endogenous ErbB3 protein levels were found to be uniformly upregulated by 10-20 fold in mammary tumors overexpressing Neu (Siegel et al., 1999). The presence of equivalence levels of ErbB3 transcript in normal versus tumor tissues suggests that this increase is a result of either increase translation or stability of the ErbB3 protein. However, the mechanism of ErbB3 translational and/or posttranslational regulation needs to be elucidated. Previous studies have also demonstrated that the overexpressed endogenous ErbB3 observed in Neu-induced tumors was constitutively tyrosine phosphorylated which suggests an active signaling role for this receptor during Neu-mediated transformation (Siegel et al., 1999). ErbB3 itself however, has impaired tyrosine kinase activity (Guy et al., 1994b) and needs a dimerization partner to become phosphorylated and acquire signaling potential (Kim et al., 1998). Since ErbB2 is overexpressed in these tumors, it is the most likely candidate to transphosphorylate and activate ErbB3. The above observations compliment published results demonstrating elevated levels of ErbB2 and ErbB3 in human breast cancers (Naidu et al., 1998; Siegel et al., 1999).

Clinical studies have attempted to report the significance of ErbB3 expression in breast cancer. Expression of ErbB3 was investigated in 104 primary breast carcinomas. A high percentage (67%) of ErbB2 positive DCIS was strongly positive for ErbB3. Furthermore, a significant relationship between ErbB3 and histological grade was observed in these tumors. Many studies agree that there is a tendency for an observed increase in tumor size and a decrease in survival prognosis in patients that overexpress ErbB3 (Bacus et al., 1996; Gasparini et al., 1994; Knowlden et al., 1998; Srinivasan et al., 2000; Travis et al., 1996; Vogt et al., 1998). Indeed earlier studies performed with other types of tumors attribute clinical significance to co-expression of ErbB receptors. For example, co-expression of ErbB2 with ErbB3 critically improved the predicting power of patient outcome in oral squamous cell cancer (Xia et al., 1999). Perhaps future studies on breast tumors may reveal similar relationships. Taken together, these clinical findings suggest that overexpression of ErbB3 could play an important role during tumor progression. However, the significance of ErbB3 overexpression in Neu-mediated tumorigenesis remains unknown.

An important question to be addressed is whether ErbB3 phosphorylation is a mere consequence of ErbB2 activation or whether it is necessary for ErbB2's full oncogenic potential. One explanation for this co-expression may be that both ErbB2 and ErbB3 recruit distinct yet complimentary signaling pathways that cooperate during mammary tumor progression. In support of this hypothesis, studies have shown that cell proliferation and cell survival are distinct yet coupled processes that are required for complete transformation (Amundadottir et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2003; Menu et al., 2004;

Xia et al., 2002). It has been previously shown that ErbB2 sends strong proliferative signals predominantly through the Ras/MAPK pathway. Perhaps the role of ErBb3 in these tumors is to provide cell survival signals by recruiting the p85 regulatory unit of PI-3K and activating mTOR and its downstream targets. Transgenic mouse models for breast cancer support this hypothesis (Amundadottir et al., 1996; Hutchinson et al., 2001; Webster et al., 1998). One example supporting the importance of PI-3K/Akt cell survival pathway during transformation derives from studies using transgenic mice overexpressing a mutant PyVmT (mT) antigen (Y315/322F) uncoupled to the PI-3K pathway (Webster et al., 1998). These mice develop apoptotic epithelial hyperplasias compared to wild-type mT antigen-expressing transgenics that develop multi-focal metastatic mammary tumors (Guy et al., 1992a). Further support for the importance of survival signals during mammary tumorigenesis comes from bigenics expressing the Y315/322 mT mutant and a constitutively activated form of Akt (Hutchinson et al., These bigenics show a dramatic acceleration of mammary tumorigenesis, 2001). compared to Y315/322 mT mice, which correlates with reduced apoptotic cell death and a significant upregulation of cyclin D1. These studies suggest that PI-3K contributes to tumor progression by providing important cell survival signals.

Studies have shown that the PI-3K-dependent activation of the mTOR/4EBP1 signaling pathway is critical for cell growth and survival (Bretland et al., 2001; Jacinto and Hall, 2003; Martin and Blenis, 2002; Raught et al., 2001; Vogt, 2001). Dysregulation of this pathway generates a favourable oncogenic environment and has been documented in a variety of transformed cells and human tumors (reviewed in (Hidalgo and Rowinsky, 2000; Mita et al., 2003b). Although mutations of mTOR itself have not been reported, mutations in the components of the mTOR-related signaling pathways have frequently been described in human malignant diseases including breast cancer (Dancey, 2002; Huang and Houghton, 2002; Vogt, 2001). Elevated levels or constitutive activation of growth factor receptors, PI-3K, Akt, S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1 are found in breast tumors.

The focus of this thesis was to determine the molecular pathway (s) involved in ErbB3 regulation and the biological significance of ErbB3 during Neu-mediated tumorigenesis. The results of this thesis conclude the following and are illustrated in Figure 5.1: (1) Both PI-3K and mTOR are involved in sustaining the high levels of endogenous ErbB3 by increasing the stability of the protein (2) A major consequence of inhibiting Neu is dephosphorylation and downregulation of ErbB3 and members of the PI-3K/mTOR pathway suggesting that ErbB3 depends on Neu for its activation. This supports the hypothesis that both the proliferative and survival pathways are coupled (3) Further support for collaboration of these two pathways comes from results demonstrating that activation of the PI-3K/mTOR pathway depends on the ability of phospho-ErbB3 to recruit and activate PI-3K (4) ErbB3 in conjunction with Neu, is involved in the activation of S6K, 4EBP1 and cyclin D1 (5) Importantly, inhibition of mTOR in a mouse tumor model delays tumor onset and progression which correlates with a decrease in ErbB3 activation and S6K/4EBP1 phosphorylation.

Taken together, these results demonstrate that the PI-3K/mTOR pathway, in part, accounts for the increase in endogenous ErbB3 protein observed in Neu-induced tumors. Moreover, Neu requires anti-apoptotic signals provided by ErbB3 for its full oncogenic potential suggesting that the Neu/ErbB3 heterodimer functions as a unit during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis. Importantly, the results of the mouse randomized controlled trial provides a rationale for the use of the rapamycin analogue CCI-779 in the therapy of those breast tumors that overexpress both HER-2 and ErbB3.

5.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Interesting findings in this thesis lend themselves to future studies. This section highlights future experiments to improve the understanding of the molecular mechanism of ErbB3 regulation and its role during Neu-mediated mammary tumorigenesis.

As cited in Chapter 3, NDL transgenic mice demonstrated significant response to rapamycin treatment, supporting the mechanism observed in NAFA cells in this thesis. In the future, PI-3K/mTOR-dependent regulation of ErbB3 should be tested in a wide range of breast tumor cell lines. However, despite the historical significance of long-term *in vitro* cultures (Boyd MR, 1989; Goldin et al., 1979; Monks et al., 1991), there is often significant phenotypic diversity between established cell lines and primary tumors from which they were derived (Band et al., 1990; Lukashov and Goudsmit, 1995; Sen et al.,

1995). Selection both during initial culture and long-term propagation may lead to important biological differences between different sublines (Band et al., 1990; Crepin et al., 1990; Hiorns et al., 2004; Lukashov and Goudsmit, 1995; Osborne et al., 1987). These above findings provide supportive data for evidence that cell lines do evolve in culture, thereby weakening the direct relevance of such cultures as models of human cancer. Therefore, the hypothetical model presented in Figure 1.2 must also be tested in other transplanted and transgenic mouse models.

Although the studies presented in this thesis implicate the importance of PI-3K/mTOR in the translational and/or post-translational control of ErbB3, the results do not provide sufficient evidence to understand the precise mechanism of mTOR-dependent ErbB3 regulation. Importantly, whether mTOR is involved in the regulation of ErbB3 translation needs to be determined. In a staged program of research, it should first be determined whether the polysomal representation of ErbB3 mRNA is increased in Neuinduced tumors. Next, it should be determined whether ErbB3 mRNA contains a long 5'UTR with characteristic features of a typical translationally repressed transcript. This could be confirmed by analyzing the distribution of ErbB3 mRNA after sedimentation in sucrose gradients. The effects of LY294002 and rapamycin on ErbB3 translation rate requires clarification. If inhibition of protein translation is observed then it can be concluded that PI-3K and mTOR regulate the translation as well as the stability of ErbB3. Indeed mTOR is known to regulate both the translation and stability of cyclin D1 which is PI-3K mediated (Hashemolhosseini et al., 1998; Muise-Helmericks et al., 1998; Panwalkar et al., 2004). If ErbB3 lacks polypyrimidine sequences in its 5'UTR then other mechanisms of mTOR-dependent ErbB3 translational regulation should be explored.

Recent studies support the rationale of this approach. Defatta and De Benedetti demonstrated that mTOR-regulated eIF4E exerts its full oncogenic potential by increasing the translational efficiency of oncogenes and growth-promoting transcripts normally repressed by their 5'UTR (Defatta and De Benedetti, 2003). An example of such an oncogene is src-like kinase yes. The yes kinase gene encodes a protein similar to p60src both in size and sequence (Yamamoto and Toyoshima, 1987) and has been shown to bind Neu through the same phosphorylation site utilized by c-src (Muthuswamy and Muller, 1995b). yes has also been implicated in the progression of mammary tumors by

impinging on the initial phases of mitosis (Hansen et al., 2001; Moasser et al., 1999). The yes mRNA contains polypyrimidine sequences in its 5'UTR which is a target of eIF4E (Defatta and De Benedetti, 2003). Furthermore, transformation of yes-null fibroblasts by eIF4E was significantly impaired. These findings support the possibility that eIF4E and other mTOR targets may depend on translational regulation of other oncogenes, such as overexpressed ErbB3, for their complete transforming ability.

If LY294002 and rapamycin do not inhibit protein translation then a closer look at protein degradation is required. The pulse chase analysis performed for this thesis implicates PI-3K and mTOR in the regulation of ErbB3 stability. However, future experiments should examine the reversal of LY294002 and rapamycin-induced degradation of ErbB3 with lactacystin, MG-132 and other proteosome inhibitors. One could also determine whether LY294002 and/or rapamycin lead to an increase in ubiquitinated forms of ErbB3, and whether rapamycin-resistant mTOR has any effect on the half-life of ErbB3. These studies would further solidify the notion that mTOR regulates ErbB3 stability during Neu-mediated transformation.

Although the possibility of translational and/or post-translational regulation of ErbB3 is novel, it is a phenomenon not unique to EGFR members. Initially, ErbB2 overexpression was thought to occur only through amplified copies of the gene (King et al., 1985; Yokota et al., 1986). However, studies later demonstrated that ErbB2 overexpression also involved transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms (Berger et al., 1988; Guerin et al., 1988; Slamon et al., 1989). Interestingly, subsequent independent studies clearly demonstrate that ErbB2 is also regulated at the translational level (Buhring et al., 1995; Child et al., 1999a; Child et al., 1999b; Oshima et al., 1995) in human breast cancer cell lines such as BT474 and MCF-7 (Child et al., 1999a). This heightens the possibility of other EGFR members such as ErbB3 being regulated at the translational level.

The observation of Akt phosphorylation remaining unchanged when NAFA cells were treated with LY294002, rapamycin, AdNeuKD, and AdErbB36F is interesting. This most certainly refutes the hypothesis of Akt being involved in the regulation of ErbB3. Although PI-3K-dependent activation of S6K and 4EBP1 was predominantly believed to occur via Akt, recent evidence shows that PI-3K can activate S6K independently of Akt

through an alternative pathway involving PDK1 (Radimerski et al., 2002). Future experiments may determine whether a constitutively active PDK1 can prevent LY294002 and rapamycin-induced ErbB3 downregulation and proliferation. To determine whether Akt is involved in the regulation of ErbB3, NAFA cells expressing a constitutively active Akt can be treated with LY294002. If ErbB3 is downregulated, then this would strongly suggest Akt is not involved in its regulation. Alternatively, a dominant negative Akt may be used to confirm this notion.

Rapamycin had a significant effect on tumor onset and progression in both the transplanted in transgenic mouse models, confirming its antiproliferative effect on activated Neu-induced tumors. In the transplanted tumor model, tumor size at the end of study was significantly smaller in rapamycin-treated mice vs. control mice. This thesis, however, did not directly assess the mechanism by which tumor growth was inhibited throughout the course of the study. The biochemical analysis of these tumors were performed at the end of the study, and revealed no differences in phosphorylation states of Neu, ErbB3, S6K and 4EBP1, nor changes in ErbB3 or cyclin D1 protein levels (data not shown). Biochemical results may have been derived from those tumor cells which developed escape mechanisms of tumor inhibition by rapamycin. True biochemical changes may have been observed at earlier stages of the study. Future experiments should increase the sample size of mice so that a proportion can be sacrificed at various stages of the study, and the biochemical characteristics of the tumors examined. Assessing the percentage of cells arrested in G1, the phosphorylation statuses of S6K/4EBP1 and whether they correlate with ErbB3 protein levels throughout the course of the treatment would be important in directly assessing the mechanism of rapamycininduced tumor inhibition in Neu-induced tumors.

Further experimentation is necessary to determine the extent by which ErbB3 is involved in Neu-mediated transformation. Many studies have used bigenic mice to assess the collaboration of various proteins in transforming the mammary epithelial gland (Amundadottir et al., 1996). Indeed bigenics were derived by combining mice overexpressing a transgene with mice lacking an endogenous gene (Donehower et al., 1995; Guy et al., 1994a; Hundley et al., 1997). In a similar fashion, transgenic mice overexpressing either wild-type or activated Neu can be established with a genetic background that lacks ErbB3 expression. Given ErbB3 deficient mice die during gestation, conditional activation of ErbB3 would need to be considered.

Further research is necessary to illustrate the importance of the ErbB3-p85 interaction in providing cell survival signals by activating the PI-3K/mTOR pathway. In this regard, ErbB3-6F knock-in mice have been generated and are currently being crossed with transgenic mice overexpressing activated Neu (W.J.Muller, unpublished) The outcome of such an *in vivo* experiment may corroborate results obtained with the ErbB36F mutant (Chapter 4).

In addition to studying the significance of the ErbB3-p85 interaction, further research should characterize the significance of the Y1325 Shc binding site located in the C-terminus of ErbB3. Since Shc has been implicated in mitogenic signaling by interacting with ErbB2 and activating the Ras/MAPK pathway (Dankort et al., 2001; Dankort et al., 1997; Saucier et al., 2004; Stevenson et al., 1999), examining the relative contributions of Shc and p85 in the induction of cellular transformation in various tumor cells would be useful. This would further detail the importance of ErbB3-p85 interaction in Neu-mediated transformation.

Although the ability of AdErbB3-6F to prevent tumor growth and facilitate tumor regression is interesting, further studies need to establish the efficacy of the adenovirus. It remains to be determined if this virus is similar in effect to rapamycin, when given systemically prior to tumor cell transplantation and prior to tumor onset in transgenic mice overexpressing Neu. The AdErbB3-6F virus may be more effective in delaying tumor onset and progression versus tumor regression. In this regard, anti-VEGF antibodies used in phase II clinical trials were shown to significantly delay the time to tumor onset and progression in kidney cancer (Yang et al., 2003). Interestingly, this antibody did not have an effect on tumor regression. Since PI-3K and mTOR are involved in the regulation of VEGF through HIF-1 α (Hudson et al., 2002; Zhong et al., 2000), there is a possibility that downregulation of VEGF may be another mechanism by which rapamycin exerts its anti-proliferative effects. Similarly, based on the results of this thesis, the phase II results of CCI-779 in breast cancer may question whether mTOR inhibitors work, in part, by downregulating ErbB3. This may be particularly true in those tumors that rely on ErbB3-related pathways for proliferation.

The ErbB receptor family has unique properties. Dimerization between family members recruits various downstream signaling molecules and diversifies the biological response, The type and amplitude of signaling depend upon the co-expression of receptors. Expression of active ErbB2/ErbB3 dimers in breast tumors provide potent mitogenic signals that activate the PI-3K pathway. ErbB3 tyrosine phosphorylation is not merely a consequence of ErbB2 signaling, but rather may be a necessary step to activate the PI-3K pathway. Indeed, aberrant signaling of the PI-3K pathway is associated with breast cancer. Furthermore, tumor cells overexpressing ErbB3 are perhaps dependent on ErbB3 for the activation of PI-3K and mTOR. The mTOR/4EBP1 pathway controls the downstream outcome of PI-3K signaling by supplying critical input regarding protein translation and cell cycle signaling. The inter-dependence of these two pathways is best demonstrated by the ability of rapamycin to display potency against tumors and transformed cell lines with hyperactive PI-3K.

The identification of new components of the regulatory modes in the mTOR signaling circuitry should uncover novel drug targets and help develop new diagnostic and therapeutic strategies. This approach appears promising given an emerging concept that tumors often become dependent upon dysregulated signaling pathways and are therefore hypersensitive to downregulation of these signals (Weinstein, 2002). In this regard, in addition to Herceptin and other ErbB2 targeted therapies, tumors with active ErbB2/ErbB3 dimers may be particularly sensitive to ErbB3-targeted therapeutics, compared to tumors that have upregulated PI-3K/mTOR signaling due to other aberrant signaling molecules. In support of this notion, studies have shown that tumors resulting from overexpression of c-Myc in mice are highly sensitive to even transient inactivation of the oncogene (Jain et al., 2002). Cells that are not dependent on this dysregulated pathway are much less affected by such targeted therapy.

In addition to Akt and PTEN, ErbB3 may serve as a useful prognostic marker. Screening for ErbB3 and components of the PI-3K/mTOR pathway may identify those patients that benefit most from certain treatments. Indeed there is a possibility that cancer cells that overexpress ErbB3 are dependent on an ErbB3-related pathway for proliferation. On that note, ErbB3's essential role in activating the PI-3K/mTOR pathway and driving proliferation of tumor cells provides a model that could explain why the use of rapamycin in breast tumors overexpressing both ErbB2 and ErbB3 may be beneficial. In addition to clinical trials which establish the effectiveness of CCI-779 in breast cancer, subgroup analyses could determine whether the effectiveness of CCI-779 is most pronounced in those HER2 tumors overexpressing ErbB3.

To maximize response and minimize chemotherapeutic drug resistance, mTOR inhibitors should be used in combination therapy. Clinical trials are often conducted without sufficient molecular insight into the mechanism of response to the intervention. This thesis highlights the potential of mTOR / ErbB3 inhibitor combination therapy, particularly in those breast cancers with activation of PI-3K/mTOR and ErbB3. Although we can only hope for success, this strategy is strikingly similar to recent combination trials of EGFR inhibitors with chemotherapy in advanced stage lung cancer (Dancey and Freidlin, 2003) and the combination trials with CCI-779 and interferon in kidney cancer (Sawyers, 2003a; Sawyers, 2003b). A complete understanding of how mTOR inhibits tumor growth could translate into combination therapy tailored to the biology of the individual tumors. This tailored approach promises to increase the chance of efficacy while minimizing drug toxicity.

Figure 5.1. Model illustrating the conclusions derived from the results obtained in this thesis. This model illustrates the conclusions of the thesis. (1) Both PI-3K and mTOR-dependent phosphorylation of S6K and 4EBP1 are involved in sustaining the high levels of endogenous ErbB3 protein levels by increasing the stability of the protein (2) A major consequence of targeting Neu is dephosphorylation and a decrease in ErbB3 protein as well as members of the PI-3K/mTOR pathway (3) Anti-apoptotic and cell cycle signals provided by PI-3K and mTOR depend, in part, on the ability of phospho-ErbB3 to recruit p85 (4) ErbB3 in conjunction with Neu is involved in the S6K/4EBP1-dependent upregulation of cyclin D1 mRNA and protein in Neu-induced tumors (5) Importantly, inhibition of mTOR in a mouse tumor model delays tumor onset and progression which correlates with a decrease in ErbB3 protein, site-specific dephosphorylation of S6K/4EBP1 and an increase in total hypophosphorylated 4EBP1. (6) Inhibition of ErbB3/p85 interaction decreases transformation and inhibits Neumediated tumor growth *in vivo*. (7) Taken together, Neu requires cell cycle and antiapoptotic signals provided, in part, by ErbB3 for its full oncogenic potential.
CONCLUSIONS



Figure 5.1

References

- Abraham, R.T. and Wiederrecht, G.J., (1996) Immunopharmacology of rapamycin. Annu Rev Immunol, 14, 483-510.
- Agus, D.B., Akita, R.W., Fox, W.D., Lewis, G.D., Higgins, B., Pisacane, P.I., Lofgren, J.A., Tindell, C., Evans, D.P., Maiese, K., Scher, H.I., and Sliwkowski, M.X., (2002) Targeting ligand-activated ErbB2 signaling inhibits breast and prostate tumor growth. Cancer Cell, 2, 127-137.
- Albanese, C., Johnson, J., Watanabe, G., Eklund, N., Vu, D., Arnold, A., and Pestell, R.G., (1995) Transforming p21ras mutants and c-Ets-2 activate the cyclin D1 promoter through distinguishable regions. J Biol Chem, 270, 23589-23597.
- Alimandi, M., Romano, A., Curia, M.C., Muraro, R., Fedi, P., Aaronson, S.A., di Fiore, P.P., and Kraus, M.H., (1995) Cooperative signaling of ErbB3 and ErbB2 in neoplastic transformation and human mammary carcinomas. Oncogene, 10, 1813-1821.
- Allred, D.C., Clark, G.M., Molina, R., Tandon, A.K., Schnitt, S.J., Gilchrist, K.W., Osborne, C.K., Tormey, D.C., and McGuire, W.L., (1992) Overexpression of HER-2/neu and its relationship with other prognostic factors change during the progression of in situ to invasive breast cancer. Hum Pathol, 23, 974-979.
- Alroy, I. and Yarden, Y., (1997) The ErbB signaling network in embryogenesis and oncogenesis: signal diversification through combinatorial ligand-receptor interactions. FEBS Lett, 410, 83-86.
- Amundadottir, L.T., Nass, S.J., Berchem, G.J., Johnson, M.D., and Dickson, R.B., (1996) Cooperation of TGF alpha and c-Myc in mouse mammary tumorigenesis: coordinated stimulation of growth and suppression of apoptosis. Oncogene, 13, 757-765.
- Atalay, G., Cardoso, F., Awada, A., and Piccart, M.J., (2003) Novel therapeutic strategies targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family and its downstream effectors in breast cancer. Ann Oncol, 14, 1346-1363.
- AutovacTM Pipeline [on-line], (2004) <u>www.pharexa.com/140.asp?menu=0202</u>. (March 2004, date last accessed),
- Aziz, N., Cherwinski, H., and McMahon, M., (1999) Complementation of defective colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor signaling and mitogenesis by Raf and v-Src. Mol Cell Biol, 19, 1101-1115.
- Bacus, S.S., Altomare, D.A., Lyass, L., Chin, D.M., Farrell, M.P., Gurova, K., Gudkov, A., and Testa, J.R., (2002) AKT2 is frequently upregulated in HER-

2/neu-positive breast cancers and may contribute to tumor aggressiveness by enhancing cell survival. Oncogene, 21, 3532-3540.

- Bacus, S.S., Chin, D., Yarden, Y., Zelnick, C.R., and Stern, D.F., (1996) Type 1 receptor tyrosine kinases are differentially phosphorylated in mammary carcinoma and differentially associated with steroid receptors. Am J Pathol, 148, 549-558.
- Band, V., Zajchowski, D., Swisshelm, K., Trask, D., Kulesa, V., Cohen, C., Connolly, J., and Sager, R., (1990) Tumor progression in four mammary epithelial cell lines derived from the same patient. Cancer Res, 50, 7351-7357.
- Banerjee, P., Ahmad, M.F., Grove, J.R., Kozlosky, C., Price, D.J., and Avruch, J., (1990) Molecular structure of a major insulin/mitogen-activated 70-kDa S6 protein kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87, 8550-8554.
- Banerji, U., O'Donell, A., and Scurr, M., (2001) Phase 1 rail of the heat shock protein 90 inhibitor 17-allyamino 17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17 AAG. Pharmacokinetic profile and pharmacodynamic endpoints). Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol, 20:82a (Abstr 326),
- Bargmann, C.I., Hung, M.C., and Weinberg, R.A., (1986a) Multiple independent activations of the neu oncogene by a point mutation altering the transmembrane domain of p185. Cell, 45, 649-657.
- Bargmann, C.I., Hung, M.C., and Weinberg, R.A., (1986b) The neu oncogene encodes an epidermal growth factor receptor-related protein. Nature, 319, 226-230.
- Barlund, M., Monni, O., Kononen, J., Cornelison, R., Torhorst, J., Sauter, G., Kallioniemi, O.L.L.I., and Kallioniemi, A., (2000) Multiple genes at 17q23 undergo amplification and overexpression in breast cancer. Cancer Res, 60, 5340-5344.
- Bartkova, J., Lukas, J., and Bartek, J., (1997) Aberrations of the G1- and G1/Sregulating genes in human cancer. Prog Cell Cycle Res, 3, 211-220.
- Bartkova, J., Lukas, J., Muller, H., Lutzhoft, D., Strauss, M., and Bartek, J., (1994) Cyclin D1 protein expression and function in human breast cancer. Int J Cancer, 57, 353-361.
- Basso, A.D., Solit, D.B., Munster, P.N., and Rosen, N., (2002) Ansamycin antibiotics inhibit Akt activation and cyclin D expression in breast cancer cells that overexpress HER2. Oncogene, 21, 1159-1166.
- Batzer, A.G., Rotin, D., Urena, J.M., Skolnik, E.Y., and Schlessinger, J., (1994) Hierarchy of binding sites for Grb2 and Shc on the epidermal growth factor receptor. Mol Cell Biol, 14, 5192-5201.

- Beerli, R.R., Graus-Porta, D., Woods-Cook, K., Chen, X., Yarden, Y., and Hynes, N.E., (1995) Neu differentiation factor activation of ErbB-3 and ErbB-4 is cell specific and displays a differential requirement for ErbB-2. Mol Cell Biol, 15, 6496-6505.
- Ben Levy, R., Paterson, H.F., Marshall, C.J., and Yarden, Y., (1994) A single autophosphorylation site confers oncogenicity to the Neu/ErbB-2 receptor and enables coupling to the MAP kinase pathway. EMBO J, 13, 3302-3311.
- Berger, M.S., Locher, G.W., Saurer, S., Gullick, W.J., Waterfield, M.D., Groner, B., and Hynes, N.E., (1988) Correlation of c-erbB-2 gene amplification and protein expression in human breast carcinoma with nodal status and nuclear grading. Cancer Res, 48, 1238-1243.
- Bieche, I., Onody, P., Tozlu, S., Driouch, K., Vidaud, M., and Lidereau, R., (2003) Prognostic value of ERBB family mRNA expression in breast carcinomas. Int J Cancer, 106, 758-765.
- Blalock, W.L., Navolanic, P.M., Steelman, L.S., Shelton, J.G., Moye, P.W., Lee, J.T., Franklin, R.A., Mirza, A., McMahon, M., White, M.K., and McCubrey, J.A., (2003) Requirement for the PI3K/Akt pathway in MEK1-mediated growth and prevention of apoptosis: identification of an Achilles heel in leukemia. Leukemia, 17, 1058-1067.
- Bodine, S.C., Latres, E., Baumhueter, S., Lai, V.K., Nunez, L., Clarke, B.A.,
 Poueymirou, W.T., Panaro, F.J., Na, E., Dharmarajan, K., Pan, Z.Q.,
 Valenzuela, D.M., DeChiara, T.M., Stitt, T.N., Yancopoulos, G.D., and Glass,
 D.J., (2001) Identification of ubiquitin ligases required for skeletal muscle atrophy. Science, 294, 1704-1708.
- Bowe, D.B., Kenney, N.J., Adereth, Y., and Maroulakou, I.G., (2002) Suppression of Neu-induced mammary tumor growth in cyclin D1 deficient mice is compensated for by cyclin E. Oncogene, 21, 291-298.
- **Boyd MR**, (1989) Status of the NCI preclinical antitumor drug discovery screen: implications for selection of new agents for clinical trial. In Cancer, Principles and Practice of Oncology, Update Series, Vol. 3, DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds). pp 1 - 12. New York: Academic Press,
- Brandt-Rauf, P.W., Pincus, M.R., Chen, J.M., and Lee, G., (1989) Conformational energy analysis of the leucine repeat regions of C/EBP, GCN4, and the proteins of the myc, jun, and fos oncogenes. J Protein Chem, 8, 679-688.
- Brandt-Rauf, P.W., Pincus, M.R., and Monaco, R., (1995) Conformation of the transmembrane domain of the c-erbB-2 oncogene-encoded protein in its monomeric and dimeric states. J Protein Chem, 14, 33-40.

- **Brandt-Rauf, P.W., Rackovsky, S., and Pincus, M.R.,** (1990) Correlation of the structure of the transmembrane domain of the neu oncogene-encoded p185 protein with its function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87, 8660-8664.
- Bretland, A.J., Lawry, J., and Sharrard, R.M., (2001) A study of death by anoikis in cultured epithelial cells. Cell Prolif, 34, 199-210.
- Brown, E.J., Beal, P.A., Keith, C.T., Chen, J., Shin, T.B., and Schreiber, S.L., (1995) Control of p70 s6 kinase by kinase activity of FRAP in vivo. Nature, 377, 441-446.
- Brunn, G.J., Hudson, C.C., Sekulic, A., Williams, J.M., Hosoi, H., Houghton, P.J., Lawrence, J.C., Jr., and Abraham, R.T., (1997) Phosphorylation of the translational repressor PHAS-I by the mammalian target of rapamycin. Science, 277, 99-101.
- Buckley, M.F., Sweeney, K.J., Hamilton, J.A., Sini, R.L., Manning, D.L., Nicholson, R.I., deFazio, A., Watts, C.K., Musgrove, E.A., and Sutherland, R.L., (1993) Expression and amplification of cyclin genes in human breast cancer. Oncogene, 8, 2127-2133.
- Buhring, H.J., Sures, I., Jallal, B., Weiss, F.U., Busch, F.W., Ludwig, W.D., Handgretinger, R., Waller, H.D., and Ullrich, A., (1995) The receptor tyrosine kinase p185HER2 is expressed on a subset of B-lymphoid blasts from patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood, 86, 1916-1923.
- Burgering, B.M. and Coffer, P.J., (1995) Protein kinase B (c-Akt) in phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signal transduction. Nature, 376, 599-602.
- Burnett, P.E., Barrow, R.K., Cohen, N.A., Snyder, S.H., and Sabatini, D.M., (1998) RAFT1 phosphorylation of the translational regulators p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95, 1432-1437.
- Cao, H., Bangalore, L., Dompe, C., Bormann, B.J., and Stern, D.F., (1992) An extra cysteine proximal to the transmembrane domain induces differential cross-linking of p185neu and p185neu. J Biol Chem, 267, 20489-20492.
- Carraway, C.A., Carvajal, M.E., Li, Y., and Carraway, K.L., (1993) Association of p185neu with microfilaments via a large glycoprotein complex in mammary carcinoma microvilli. Evidence for a microfilament-associated signal transduction particle. J Biol Chem, 268, 5582-5587.
- **Carraway, K.L., III and Cantley, L.C.,** (1994) A neu acquaintance for erbB3 and erbB4: a role for receptor heterodimerization in growth signaling. Cell, 78, 5-8.

- Carraway, K.L., Carraway, C.A., and Carraway, K.L., III, (1997) Roles of ErbB-3 and ErbB-4 in the physiology and pathology of the mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2, 187-198.
- Carraway, K.L., III, Sliwkowski, M.X., Akita, R., Platko, J.V., Guy, P.M., Nuijens, A., Diamonti, A.J., Vandlen, R.L., Cantley, L.C., and Cerione, R.A., (1994) The erbB3 gene product is a receptor for heregulin. J Biol Chem, 269, 14303-14306.
- Carraway, K.L., III, Soltoff, S.P., Diamonti, A.J., and Cantley, L.C., (1995) Heregulin stimulates mitogenesis and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in mouse fibroblasts transfected with erbB2/neu and erbB3. J Biol Chem, 270, 7111-7116.
- Chan, S., Johnson, S., and Scheulen, M.E., (2002) Phase II safety and activity trail of two dose levels of CCI-779 in women with previously treated locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 76 (Suppl 1), S132 (Abstr 526)-
- Chen, X., Yeung, T.K., and Wang, Z., (2000) Enhanced drug resistance in cells coexpressing ErbB2 with EGF receptor or ErbB3. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 277, 757-763.
- Cheng, J.Q., Ruggeri, B., Klein, W.M., Sonoda, G., Altomare, D.A., Watson, D.K., and Testa, J.R., (1996) Amplification of AKT2 in human pancreatic cells and inhibition of AKT2 expression and tumorigenicity by antisense RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 93, 3636-3641.
- Cheng, M., Sexl, V., Sherr, C.J., and Roussel, M.F., (1998) Assembly of cyclin Ddependent kinase and titration of p27Kip1 regulated by mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK1). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95, 1091-1096.
- Child, S.J., Miller, M.K., and Geballe, A.P., (1999a) Cell type-dependent and independent control of HER-2/neu translation. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 31, 201-213.
- Child, S.J., Miller, M.K., and Geballe, A.P., (1999b) Translational control by an upstream open reading frame in the HER-2/neu transcript. J Biol Chem, 274, 24335-24341.
- Cohen, B.D., Kiener, P.A., Green, J.M., Foy, L., Fell, H.P., and Zhang, K., (1996) The relationship between human epidermal growth-like factor receptor expression and cellular transformation in NIH3T3 cells. J Biol Chem, 271, 30897-30903.
- Courjal, F., Louason, G., Speiser, P., Katsaros, D., Zeillinger, R., and Theillet, C., (1996) Cyclin gene amplification and overexpression in breast and ovarian cancers: evidence for the selection of cyclin D1 in breast and cyclin E in ovarian tumors. Int J Cancer, 69, 247-253.

- Crepin, M., Salle, V., Raux, H., Berger, R., Hamelin, R., Brouty-Boye, D., and Israel, L., (1990) Steroid hormone receptors and tumorigenicity of sublines from breast tumor metastatic MDA-MB 231 cell line. Anticancer Res, 10, 1661-1666.
- Daly, R.J., Binder, M.D., and Sutherland, R.L., (1994) Overexpression of the Grb2 gene in human breast cancer cell lines. Oncogene, 9, 2723-2727.
- Dan, H.C., Sun, M., Yang, L., Feldman, R.I., Sui, X.M., Ou, C.C., Nellist, M., Yeung, R.S., Halley, D.J., Nicosia, S.V., Pledger, W.J., and Cheng, J.Q., (2002) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway regulates tuberous sclerosis tumor suppressor complex by phosphorylation of tuberin. J Biol Chem, 277, 35364-35370.
- **Dancey**, J.E., (2002) Clinical development of mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am, 16, 1101-1114.
- **Dancey, J.E. and Freidlin, B.**, (2003) Targeting epidermal growth factor receptor--are we missing the mark? Lancet, 362, 62-64.
- Dankort, D., Maslikowski, B., Warner, N., Kanno, N., Kim, H., Wang, Z., Moran, M.F., Oshima, R.G., Cardiff, R.D., and Muller, W.J., (2001) Grb2 and Shc adapter proteins play distinct roles in Neu (ErbB-2)-induced mammary tumorigenesis: implications for human breast cancer. Mol Cell Biol, 21, 1540-1551.
- Dankort, D.L., Wang, Z., Blackmore, V., Moran, M.F., and Muller, W.J., (1997) Distinct tyrosine autophosphorylation sites negatively and positively modulate neu-mediated transformation. Mol Cell Biol, 17, 5410-5425.
- Davies, C.C., Mason, J., Wakelam, M.J., Young, L.S., and Eliopoulos, A.G., (2004) Inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase- and ERK MAPK-regulated protein synthesis reveals the pro-apoptotic properties of CD40 ligation in carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem, 279, 1010-1019.
- **Defatta, R.J. and De Benedetti, A.**, (2003) Translational upregulation of yes accompanies eIF4E-mediated oncogenic transformation. Int J Oncol, 23, 1709-1713.
- **Dennis, P.B., Pullen, N., Kozma, S.C., and Thomas, G.,** (1996) The principal rapamycin-sensitive p70(s6k) phosphorylation sites, T-229 and T-389, are differentially regulated by rapamycin-insensitive kinase kinases. Mol Cell Biol, 16, 6242-6251.
- Dhand, R., Hara, K., Hiles, I., Bax, B., Gout, I., Panayotou, G., Fry, M.J., Yonezawa, K., Kasuga, M., and Waterfield, M.D., (1994) PI 3-kinase: structural and functional analysis of intersubunit interactions. EMBO J, 13, 511-521.

- Di Como, C.J. and Arndt, K.T., (1996) Nutrients, via the Tor proteins, stimulate the association of Tap42 with type 2A phosphatases. Genes Dev, 10, 1904-1916.
- di Fiore, P.P., Pierce, J.H., Kraus, M.H., Segatto, O., King, C.R., and Aaronson, S.A., (1987) erbB-2 is a potent oncogene when overexpressed in NIH/3T3 cells. Science, 237, 178-182.
- Di Marco, E., Pierce, J.H., Knicley, C.L., and di Fiore, P.P., (1990) Transformation of NIH 3T3 cells by overexpression of the normal coding sequence of the rat neu gene. Mol Cell Biol, 10, 3247-3252.
- Diehl, J.A., Cheng, M., Roussel, M.F., and Sherr, C.J., (1998) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. Genes Dev, 12, 3499-3511.
- **DiGiovanna, M.P. and Stern, D.F.**, (1995) Activation state-specific monoclonal antibody detects tyrosine phosphorylated p185neu/erbB-2 in a subset of human breast tumors overexpressing this receptor. Cancer Res, 55, 1946-1955.
- Dilling, M.B., Dias, P., Shapiro, D.N., Germain, G.S., Johnson, R.K., and Houghton, P.J., (1994) Rapamycin selectively inhibits the growth of childhood rhabdomyosarcoma cells through inhibition of signaling via the type I insulin-like growth factor receptor. Cancer Res, 54, 903-907.
- Dittadi, R., Donisi, P.M., Brazzale, A., Cappellozza, L., Bruscagnin, G., and Gion, M., (1993) Epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer. Comparison with non malignant breast tissue. Br J Cancer, 67, 7-9.
- **Dobashi, K., Davis, J.G., Mikami, Y., Freeman, J.K., Hamuro, J., and Greene, M.I.,** (1991) Characterization of a neu/c-erbB-2 protein-specific activating factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 88, 8582-8586.
- Donehower, L.A., Godley, L.A., Aldaz, C.M., Pyle, R., Shi, Y.P., Pinkel, D., Gray, J., Bradley, A., Medina, D., and Varmus, H.E., (1995) Deficiency of p53 accelerates mammary tumorigenesis in Wnt-1 transgenic mice and promotes chromosomal instability. Genes Dev, 9, 882-895.
- **Downward, J.**, (1998) Mechanisms and consequences of activation of protein kinase B/Akt. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 10, 262-267.
- Drenan, R.M., Liu, X., Bertram, P.G., and Zheng, X.F., (2004) FKBP12-rapamycinassociated protein or mammalian target of rapamycin (FRAP/mTOR) localization in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus. J Biol Chem, 279, 772-778.
- Earp, H.S., Dawson, T.L., Li, X., and Yu, H., (1995) Heterodimerization and functional interaction between EGF receptor family members: a new signaling paradigm with implications for breast cancer research. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 35, 115-132.

- Eng, C.P., Sehgal, S.N., and Vezina, C., (1984) Activity of rapamycin (AY-22,989) against transplanted tumors. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 37, 1231-1237.
- Escobedo, J.A., Navankasattusas, S., Kavanaugh, W.M., Milfay, D., Fried, V.A., and Williams, L.T., (1991) cDNA cloning of a novel 85 kd protein that has SH2 domains and regulates binding of PI3-kinase to the PDGF beta-receptor. Cell, 65, 75-82.
- Fadden, P., Haystead, T.A., and Lawrence, J.C., Jr., (1997) Identification of phosphorylation sites in the translational regulator, PHAS-I, that are controlled by insulin and rapamycin in rat adipocytes. J Biol Chem, 272, 10240-10247.
- Fang, Y., Vilella-Bach, M., Bachmann, R., Flanigan, A., and Chen, J., (2001) Phosphatidic acid-mediated mitogenic activation of mTOR signaling. Science, 294, 1942-1945.
- Fazioli, F., Kim, U.H., Rhee, S.G., Molloy, C.J., Segatto, O., and di Fiore, P.P., (1991) The erbB-2 mitogenic signaling pathway: tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase C-gamma and GTPase-activating protein does not correlate with erbB-2 mitogenic potency. Mol Cell Biol, 11, 2040-2048.
- Fedi, P., Pierce, J.H., di Fiore, P.P., and Kraus, M.H., (1994) Efficient coupling with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, but not phospholipase C gamma or GTPase-activating protein, distinguishes ErbB-3 signaling from that of other ErbB/EGFR family members. Mol Cell Biol, 14, 492-500.
- Ferrari, S., Bannwarth, W., Morley, S.J., Totty, N.F., and Thomas, G., (1992) Activation of p70s6k is associated with phosphorylation of four clustered sites displaying Ser/Thr-Pro motifs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 7282-7286.
- Fingar, D.C., Salama, S., Tsou, C., Harlow, E., and Blenis, J., (2002) Mammalian cell size is controlled by mTOR and its downstream targets S6K1 and 4EBP1/eIF4E. Genes Dev, 16, 1472-1487.
- Fruman, D.A., Wood, M.A., Gjertson, C.K., Katz, H.R., Burakoff, S.J., and Bierer, B.E., (1995) FK506 binding protein 12 mediates sensitivity to both FK506 and rapamycin in murine mast cells. Eur J Immunol, 25, 563-571.
- Gao, N., Zhang, Z., Jiang, B.H., and Shi, X., (2003) Role of PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling in the cell cycle progression of human prostate cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 310, 1124-1132.
- Gao, X., Zhang, Y., Arrazola, P., Hino, O., Kobayashi, T., Yeung, R.S., Ru, B., and Pan, D., (2002) Tsc tumour suppressor proteins antagonize amino-acid-TOR signalling. Nat Cell Biol, 4, 699-704.
- Gasparini, G., Gullick, W.J., Maluta, S., Dalla, P.P., Caffo, O., Leonardi, E., Boracchi, P., Pozza, F., Lemoine, N.R., and Bevilacqua, P., (1994) c-erbB-3

and c-erbB-2 protein expression in node-negative breast carcinoma--an immunocytochemical study. Eur J Cancer, 30A, 16-22.

- Gillett, C., Fantl, V., Smith, R., Fisher, C., Bartek, J., Dickson, C., Barnes, D., and Peters, G., (1994) Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D1 in breast cancer detected by immunohistochemical staining. Cancer Res, 54, 1812-1817.
- Gingras, A.C., Gygi, S.P., Raught, B., Polakiewicz, R.D., Abraham, R.T., Hoekstra, M.F., Aebersold, R., and Sonenberg, N., (1999a) Regulation of 4E-BP1 phosphorylation: a novel two-step mechanism. Genes Dev, 13, 1422-1437.
- Gingras, A.C., Kennedy, S.G., O'Leary, M.A., Sonenberg, N., and Hay, N., (1998) 4E-BP1, a repressor of mRNA translation, is phosphorylated and inactivated by the Akt(PKB) signaling pathway. Genes Dev, 12, 502-513.
- Gingras, A.C., Raught, B., and Sonenberg, N., (1999b) eIF4 initiation factors: effectors of mRNA recruitment to ribosomes and regulators of translation. Annu Rev Biochem, 68, 913-963.
- Gingras, A.C., Raught, B., and Sonenberg, N., (2001a) Control of translation by the target of rapamycin proteins. Prog Mol Subcell Biol, 27, 143-174.
- Gingras, A.C., Raught, B., and Sonenberg, N., (2001b) Regulation of translation initiation by FRAP/mTOR. Genes Dev, 15, 807-826.
- **Gjoerup, O., Lukas, J., Bartek, J., and Willumsen, B.M.**, (1998) Rac and Cdc42 are potent stimulators of E2F-dependent transcription capable of promoting retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product hyperphosphorylation. J Biol Chem, 273, 18812-18818.
- Goldin, A., Schepnz, S.A., Venditti, J.M., and DeVita Jr., V.T., (1979) Historical development and current strategy of the National Cancer Institute drug development program. In Methods in Cancer Research XVI, DeVita Jr VT, Busch H (eds) pp 165-245 New York: Academic Press,
- Goldman, R., Levy, R.B., Peles, E., and Yarden, Y., (1990) Heterodimerization of the erbB-1 and erbB-2 receptors in human breast carcinoma cells: a mechanism for receptor transregulation. Biochemistry, 29, 11024-11028.
- Grammer, T.C., Cheatham, L., Chou, M.M., and Blenis, J., (1996) The p70S6K signalling pathway: a novel signalling system involved in growth regulation. Cancer Surv, 27, 271-292.
- Graus-Porta, D., Beerli, R.R., Daly, J.M., and Hynes, N.E., (1997) ErbB-2, the preferred heterodimerization partner of all ErbB receptors, is a mediator of lateral signaling. EMBO J, 16, 1647-1655.

- **Graus-Porta, D., Beerli, R.R., and Hynes, N.E.,** (1995) Single-chain antibody-mediated intracellular retention of ErbB-2 impairs Neu differentiation factor and epidermal growth factor signaling. Mol Cell Biol, 15, 1182-1191.
- Grewe, M., Gansauge, F., Schmid, R.M., Adler, G., and Seufferlein, T., (1999) Regulation of cell growth and cyclin D1 expression by the constitutively active FRAP-p70s6K pathway in human pancreatic cancer cells. Cancer Res, 59, 3581-3587.
- Grolleau, A., Bowman, J., Pradet-Balade, B., Puravs, E., Hanash, S., Garcia-Sanz, J.A., and Beretta, L., (2002) Global and specific translational control by rapamycin in T cells uncovered by microarrays and proteomics. J Biol Chem, 277, 22175-22184.
- Grove, J.R., Banerjee, P., Balasubramanyam, A., Coffer, P.J., Price, D.J., Avruch, J., and Woodgett, J.R., (1991) Cloning and expression of two human p70 S6 kinase polypeptides differing only at their amino termini. Mol Cell Biol, 11, 5541-5550.
- **Guan, K.L.**, (1994) The mitogen activated protein kinase signal transduction pathway: from the cell surface to the nucleus. Cell Signal, 6, 581-589.
- Guba, M., von Breitenbuch, P., Steinbauer, M., Koehl, G., Flegel, S., Hornung, M., Bruns, C.J., Zuelke, C., Farkas, S., Anthuber, M., Jauch, K.W., and Geissler, E.K., (2002) Rapamycin inhibits primary and metastatic tumor growth by antiangiogenesis: involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor. Nat Med, 8, 128-135.
- Guerin, M., Barrois, M., Terrier, M.J., Spielmann, M., and Riou, G., (1988) Overexpression of either c-myc or c-erbB-2/neu proto-oncogenes in human breast carcinomas: correlation with poor prognosis. Oncogene Res, 3, 21-31.
- Gullick, W.J., Bottomley, A.C., Lofts, F.J., Doak, D.G., Mulvey, D., Newman, R., Crumpton, M.J., Sternberg, M.J., and Campbell, I.D., (1992) Three dimensional structure of the transmembrane region of the proto-oncogenic and oncogenic forms of the neu protein. EMBO J, 11, 43-48.
- Guy, C.T., Cardiff, R.D., and Muller, W.J., (1992a) Induction of mammary tumors by expression of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: a transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease. Mol Cell Biol, 12, 954-961.
- Guy, C.T., Muthuswamy, S.K., Cardiff, R.D., Soriano, P., and Muller, W.J., (1994a) Activation of the c-Src tyrosine kinase is required for the induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice. Genes Dev, 8, 23-32.
- Guy, C.T., Webster, M.A., Schaller, M., Parsons, T.J., Cardiff, R.D., and Muller, W.J., (1992b) Expression of the neu protooncogene in the mammary epithelium

of transgenic mice induces metastatic disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 10578-10582.

- Guy, P.M., Platko, J.V., Cantley, L.C., Cerione, R.A., and Carraway, K.L., III, (1994b) Insect cell-expressed p180erbB3 possesses an impaired tyrosine kinase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 91, 8132-8136.
- Han, J.W., Pearson, R.B., Dennis, P.B., and Thomas, G., (1995) Rapamycin, wortmannin, and the methylxanthine SQ20006 inactivate p70s6k by inducing dephosphorylation of the same subset of sites. J Biol Chem, 270, 21396-21403.
- Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R.A., (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100, 57-70.
- Hansen, R.K., Parra, I., Hilsenbeck, S.G., Himelstein, B., and Fuqua, S.A., (2001) Hsp27-induced MMP-9 expression is influenced by the Src tyrosine protein kinase yes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 282, 186-193.
- Hara, K., Maruki, Y., Long, X., Yoshino, K., Oshiro, N., Hidayat, S., Tokunaga, C., Avruch, J., and Yonezawa, K., (2002) Raptor, a binding partner of target of rapamycin (TOR), mediates TOR action. Cell, 110, 177-189.
- Harari, D. and Yarden, Y., (2000) Molecular mechanisms underlying ErbB2/HER2 action in breast cancer. Oncogene, 19, 6102-6114.
- Hashemolhosseini, S., Nagamine, Y., Morley, S.J., Desrivieres, S., Mercep, L., and Ferrari, S., (1998) Rapamycin inhibition of the G1 to S transition is mediated by effects on cyclin D1 mRNA and protein stability. J Biol Chem, 273, 14424-14429.
- Heitman, J., Movva, N.R., and Hall, M.N., (1991) Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. Science, 253, 905-909.
- Heldin, C.H., (1995) Dimerization of cell surface receptors in signal transduction. Cell, 80, 213-223.
- Hellyer, N.J., Cheng, K., and Koland, J.G., (1998) ErbB3 (HER3) interaction with the p85 regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. Biochem J, 333 (Pt 3), 757-763.
- Hellyer, N.J., Kim, M.S., and Koland, J.G., (2001) Heregulin-dependent activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase and Akt via the ErbB2/ErbB3 co-receptor. J Biol Chem, 276, 42153-42161.
- Hermanto, U., Zong, C.S., and Wang, L.H., (2001) ErbB2-overexpressing human mammary carcinoma cells display an increased requirement for the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling pathway in anchorage-independent growth. Oncogene, 20, 7551-7562.

- Hidalgo, M. and Rowinsky, E.K., (2000) The rapamycin-sensitive signal transduction pathway as a target for cancer therapy. Oncogene, 19, 6680-6686.
- Hiles, I.D., Otsu, M., Volinia, S., Fry, M.J., Gout, I., Dhand, R., Panayotou, G., Ruiz-Larrea, F., Thompson, A., Totty, N.F., and ., (1992) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase: structure and expression of the 110 kd catalytic subunit. Cell, 70, 419-429.
- Hiorns, L.R., Bradshaw, T.D., Skelton, L.A., Yu, Q., Kelland, L.R., and Leyland-Jones, B., (2004) Variation in RNA expression and genomic DNA content acquired during cell culture. Br J Cancer, 90, 476-482.
- Holbro, T., Beerli, R.R., Maurer, F., Koziczak, M., Barbas, C.F., III, and Hynes, N.E., (2003) The ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer functions as an oncogenic unit: ErbB2 requires ErbB3 to drive breast tumor cell proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 8933-8938.
- Hosoi, H., Dilling, M.B., Shikata, T., Liu, L.N., Shu, L., Ashmun, R.A., Germain, G.S., Abraham, R.T., and Houghton, P.J., (1999) Rapamycin causes poorly reversible inhibition of mTOR and induces p53-independent apoptosis in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Cancer Res, 59, 886-894.
- Houghton, P.J. and Huang, S., (2004) mTOR as a target for cancer therapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 279, 339-359.
- Hu, L., Zaloudek, C., Mills, G.B., Gray, J., and Jaffe, R.B., (2000) In vivo and in vitro ovarian carcinoma growth inhibition by a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor (LY294002). Clin Cancer Res, 6, 880-886.
- Hu, P., Mondino, A., Skolnik, E.Y., and Schlessinger, J., (1993) Cloning of a novel, ubiquitously expressed human phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and identification of its binding site on p85. Mol Cell Biol, 13, 7677-7688.
- Huang, S. and Houghton, P.J., (2002) Inhibitors of mammalian target of rapamycin as novel antitumor agents: from bench to clinic. Curr Opin Investig Drugs, 3, 295-304.
- Huang, S. and Houghton, P.J., (2003) Targeting mTOR signaling for cancer therapy. Curr Opin Pharmacol, 3, 371-377.
- Hudson, C.C., Liu, M., Chiang, G.G., Otterness, D.M., Loomis, D.C., Kaper, F., Giaccia, A.J., and Abraham, R.T., (2002) Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha expression and function by the mammalian target of rapamycin. Mol Cell Biol, 22, 7004-7014.
- Hudziak, R.M., Schlessinger, J., and Ullrich, A., (1987) Increased expression of the putative growth factor receptor p185HER2 causes transformation and tumorigenesis of NIH 3T3 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 84, 7159-7163.

- Hundley, J.E., Koester, S.K., Troyer, D.A., Hilsenbeck, S.G., Subler, M.A., and Windle, J.J., (1997) Increased tumor proliferation and genomic instability without decreased apoptosis in MMTV-ras mice deficient in p53. Mol Cell Biol, 17, 723-731.
- Hutchinson, J., Jin, J., Cardiff, R.D., Woodgett, J.R., and Muller, W.J., (2001) Activation of Akt (protein kinase B) in mammary epithelium provides a critical cell survival signal required for tumor progression. Mol Cell Biol, 21, 2203-2212.
- Inoki, K., Li, Y., Xu, T., and Guan, K.L., (2003) Rheb GTPase is a direct target of TSC2 GAP activity and regulates mTOR signaling. Genes Dev, 17, 1829-1834.
- Inoki, K., Li, Y., Zhu, T., Wu, J., and Guan, K.L., (2002) TSC2 is phosphorylated and inhibited by Akt and suppresses mTOR signalling. Nat Cell Biol, 4, 648-657.
- Jacinto, E. and Hall, M.N., (2003) Tor signalling in bugs, brain and brawn. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 4, 117-126.
- Jain, M., Arvanitis, C., Chu, K., Dewey, W., Leonhardt, E., Trinh, M., Sundberg, C.D., Bishop, J.M., and Felsher, D.W., (2002) Sustained loss of a neoplastic phenotype by brief inactivation of MYC. Science, 297, 102-104.
- Jallal, B., Schlessinger, J., and Ullrich, A., (1992) Tyrosine phosphatase inhibition permits analysis of signal transduction complexes in p185HER2/neuoverexpressing human tumor cells. J Biol Chem, 267, 4357-4363.
- Janes, P.W., Daly, R.J., deFazio, A., and Sutherland, R.L., (1994) Activation of the Ras signalling pathway in human breast cancer cells overexpressing erbB-2. Oncogene, 9, 3601-3608.
- Jeno, P., Ballou, L.M., Novak-Hofer, I., and Thomas, G., (1988) Identification and characterization of a mitogen-activated S6 kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 85, 406-410.
- Karunagaran, D., Tzahar, E., Beerli, R.R., Chen, X., Graus-Porta, D., Ratzkin, B.J., Seger, R., Hynes, N.E., and Yarden, Y., (1996) ErbB-2 is a common auxiliary subunit of NDF and EGF receptors: implications for breast cancer. EMBO J, 15, 254-264.
- Kelleher, R.J., III, Govindarajan, A., Jung, H.Y., Kang, H., and Tonegawa, S., (2004) Translational control by MAPK signaling in long-term synaptic plasticity and memory. Cell, 116, 467-479.
- Kim, D.H., Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., King, J.E., Latek, R.R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Sabatini, D.M., (2002) mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-sensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. Cell, 110, 163-175.

- Kim, H.H., Sierke, S.L., and Koland, J.G., (1994) Epidermal growth factor-dependent association of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase with the erbB3 gene product. J Biol Chem, 269, 24747-24755.
- Kim, H.H., Vijapurkar, U., Hellyer, N.J., Bravo, D., and Koland, J.G., (1998) Signal transduction by epidermal growth factor and heregulin via the kinase-deficient ErbB3 protein. Biochem J, 334 (Pt 1), 189-195.
- Kim, J.E. and Chen, J., (2000) Cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling of FKBP12-rapamycinassociated protein is involved in rapamycin-sensitive signaling and translation initiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97, 14340-14345.
- King, C.R., Kraus, M.H., and Aaronson, S.A., (1985) Amplification of a novel v-erbBrelated gene in a human mammary carcinoma. Science, 229, 974-976.
- Klijn, J.G., Berns, P.M., Schmitz, P.I., and Foekens, J.A., (1992) The clinical significance of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R) in human breast cancer: a review on 5232 patients. Endocr Rev, 13, 3-17.
- Knowlden, J.M., Gee, J.M., Seery, L.T., Farrow, L., Gullick, W.J., Ellis, I.O., Blamey, R.W., Robertson, J.F., and Nicholson, R.I., (1998) c-erbB3 and cerbB4 expression is a feature of the endocrine responsive phenotype in clinical breast cancer. Oncogene, 17, 1949-1957.
- Kobayashi, M., Iwamatsu, A., Shinohara-Kanda, A., Ihara, S., and Fukui, Y., (2003) Activation of ErbB3-PI3-kinase pathway is correlated with malignant phenotypes of adenocarcinomas. Oncogene, 22, 1294-1301.
- Kodaki, T., Woscholski, R., Hallberg, B., Rodriguez-Viciana, P., Downward, J., and Parker, P.J., (1994) The activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by Ras. Curr Biol, 4, 798-806.
- Kokai, Y., Myers, J.N., Wada, T., Brown, V.I., LeVea, C.M., Davis, J.G., Dobashi, K., and Greene, M.I., (1989) Synergistic interaction of p185c-neu and the EGF receptor leads to transformation of rodent fibroblasts. Cell, 58, 287-292.
- Koltin, Y., Faucette, L., Bergsma, D.J., Levy, M.A., Cafferkey, R., Koser, P.L., Johnson, R.K., and Livi, G.P., (1991) Rapamycin sensitivity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is mediated by a peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase related to human FK506-binding protein. Mol Cell Biol, 11, 1718-1723.
- Kozma, S.C., Ferrari, S., Bassand, P., Siegmann, M., Totty, N., and Thomas, G., (1990) Cloning of the mitogen-activated S6 kinase from rat liver reveals an enzyme of the second messenger subfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87, 7365-7369.

- **Krasilnikov, M.A.**, (2000) Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase dependent pathways: the role in control of cell growth, survival, and malignant transformation. Biochemistry (Mosc), 65, 59-67.
- Kraus, M.H., Fedi, P., Starks, V., Muraro, R., and Aaronson, S.A., (1993) Demonstration of ligand-dependent signaling by the erbB-3 tyrosine kinase and its constitutive activation in human breast tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 90, 2900-2904.
- Kraus, M.H., Issing, W., Miki, T., Popescu, N.C., and Aaronson, S.A., (1989) Isolation and characterization of ERBB3, a third member of the ERBB/epidermal growth factor receptor family: evidence for overexpression in a subset of human mammary tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 86, 9193-9197.
- Lane, H.A., Beuvink, I., Motoyama, A.B., Daly, J.M., Neve, R.M., and Hynes, N.E., (2000) ErbB2 potentiates breast tumor proliferation through modulation of p27(Kip1)-Cdk2 complex formation: receptor overexpression does not determine growth dependency. Mol Cell Biol, 20, 3210-3223.
- Lane, H.A., Motoyama, A.B., Beuvink, I., and Hynes, N.E., (2001) Modulation of p27/Cdk2 complex formation through 4D5-mediated inhibition of HER2 receptor signaling. Ann Oncol, 12 Suppl 1, S21-S22.
- Lawlor, M.A. and Alessi, D.R., (2001) PKB/Akt: a key mediator of cell proliferation, survival and insulin responses? J Cell Sci, 114, 2903-2910.
- Lazaris-Karatzas, A., Montine, K.S., and Sonenberg, N., (1990) Malignant transformation by a eukaryotic initiation factor subunit that binds to mRNA 5' cap. Nature, 345, 544-547.
- Lee, H.Y., Srinivas, H., Xia, D., Lu, Y., Superty, R., LaPushin, R., Gomez-Manzano, C., Gal, A.M., Walsh, G.L., Force, T., Ueki, K., Mills, G.B., and Kurie, J.M., (2003) Evidence that phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase- and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase-4/c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase-dependent Pathways cooperate to maintain lung cancer cell survival. J Biol Chem, 278, 23630-23638.
- Lee, R.J., Albanese, C., Fu, M., D'Amico, M., Lin, B., Watanabe, G., Haines, G.K., III, Siegel, P.M., Hung, M.C., Yarden, Y., Horowitz, J.M., Muller, W.J., and Pestell, R.G., (2000) Cyclin D1 is required for transformation by activated Neu and is induced through an E2F-dependent signaling pathway. Mol Cell Biol, 20, 672-683.
- Lehman, J.A., Calvo, V., and Gomez-Cambronero, J., (2003) Mechanism of ribosomal p70S6 kinase activation by granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor in neutrophils: cooperation of a MEK-related, THR421/SER424 kinase and a rapamycin-sensitive, m-TOR-related THR389 kinase. J Biol Chem, 278, 28130-28138.

- Lemoine, N.R., Barnes, D.M., Hollywood, D.P., Hughes, C.M., Smith, P., Dublin, E., Prigent, S.A., Gullick, W.J., and Hurst, H.C., (1992) Expression of the ERBB3 gene product in breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 66, 1116-1121.
- Li, B.D., Liu, L., Dawson, M., and De Benedetti, A., (1997) Overexpression of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) in breast carcinoma. Cancer, 79, 2385-2390.
- Li, B.D., McDonald, J.C., Nassar, R., and De Benedetti, A., (1998) Clinical outcome in stage I to III breast carcinoma and eIF4E overexpression. Ann Surg, 227, 756-761.
- Li, S., Sonenberg, N., Gingras, A.C., Peterson, M., Avdulov, S., Polunovsky, V.A., and Bitterman, P.B., (2002a) Translational control of cell fate: availability of phosphorylation sites on translational repressor 4E-BP1 governs its proapoptotic potency. Mol Cell Biol, 22, 2853-2861.
- Li, Y., Inoki, K., Yeung, R., and Guan, K.L., (2002b) Regulation of TSC2 by 14-3-3 binding. J Biol Chem, 277, 44593-44596.
- Lofts, F.J., Hurst, H.C., Sternberg, M.J., and Gullick, W.J., (1993) Specific short transmembrane sequences can inhibit transformation by the mutant neu growth factor receptor in vitro and in vivo. Oncogene, 8, 2813-2820.
- Lukashov, V.V. and Goudsmit, J., (1995) Increasing genotypic and phenotypic selection from the original genomic RNA populations of HIV-1 strains LAI and MN (NM) by peripheral blood mononuclear cell culture, B-cell-line propagation and T-cell-line adaptation. AIDS, 9, 1307-1311.
- Luttrell, D.K., Lee, A., Lansing, T.J., Crosby, R.M., Jung, K.D., Willard, D., Luther, M., Rodriguez, M., Berman, J., and Gilmer, T.M., (1994) Involvement of pp60c-src with two major signaling pathways in human breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 91, 83-87.
- Ma, Y.Y., Wei, S.J., Lin, Y.C., Lung, J.C., Chang, T.C., Whang-Peng, J., Liu, J.M., Yang, D.M., Yang, W.K., and Shen, C.Y., (2000) PIK3CA as an oncogene in cervical cancer. Oncogene, 19, 2739-2744.
- Mabjeesh, N.J., Post, D.E., Willard, M.T., Kaur, B., Van Meir, E.G., Simons, J.W., and Zhong, H., (2002) Geldanamycin induces degradation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha protein via the proteosome pathway in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res, 62, 2478-2482.
- Mack, L., Kerkvliet, N., Doig, G., and O'Malley, F.P., (1997) Relationship of a new histological categorization of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast with size and the immunohistochemical expression of p53, c-erb B2, bcl-2, and ki-67. Hum Pathol, 28, 974-979.

- Manning, B.D., Tee, A.R., Logsdon, M.N., Blenis, J., and Cantley, L.C., (2002) Identification of the tuberous sclerosis complex-2 tumor suppressor gene product tuberin as a target of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/akt pathway. Mol Cell, 10, 151-162.
- Martin, K.A. and Blenis, J., (2002) Coordinate regulation of translation by the PI 3kinase and mTOR pathways. Adv Cancer Res, 86, 1-39.
- Mass, R.D., (2004) The HER receptor family: a rich target for therapeutic development. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 58, 932-940.
- Mateo-Lozano, S., Tirado, O.M., and Notario, V., (2003) Rapamycin induces the fusion-type independent downregulation of the EWS/FLI-1 proteins and inhibits Ewing's sarcoma cell proliferation. Oncogene, 22, 9282-9287.
- McCormick, F., (1994) Activators and effectors of ras p21 proteins. Curr Opin Genet Dev, 4, 71-76.
- McGlade, C.J., Ellis, C., Reedijk, M., Anderson, D., Mbamalu, G., Reith, A.D., Panayotou, G., End, P., Bernstein, A., Kazlauskas, A., and ., (1992) SH2 domains of the p85 alpha subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase regulate binding to growth factor receptors. Mol Cell Biol, 12, 991-997.
- Medina, R., Wing, S.S., and Goldberg, A.L., (1995) Increase in levels of polyubiquitin and proteasome mRNA in skeletal muscle during starvation and denervation atrophy. Biochem J, 307 (Pt 3), 631-637.
- Menu, E., Kooijman, R., Valckenborgh, E.V., Asosingh, K., Bakkus, M., Camp, B.V., and Vanderkerken, K., (2004) Specific roles for the PI3K and the MEK-ERK pathway in IGF-1-stimulated chemotaxis, VEGF secretion and proliferation of multiple myeloma cells: study in the 5T33MM model. Br J Cancer, 90, 1076-1083.
- Mita, M.M., Mita, A., and Rowinsky, E.K., (2003a) Mammalian target of rapamycin: a new molecular target for breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer, 4, 126-137.
- Mita, M.M., Mita, A., and Rowinsky, E.K., (2003b) The molecular target of rapamycin (mTOR) as a therapeutic target against cancer. Cancer Biol Ther, 2, S169-S177.
- Moasser, M.M., Srethapakdi, M., Sachar, K.S., Kraker, A.J., and Rosen, N., (1999) Inhibition of Src kinases by a selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor causes mitotic arrest. Cancer Res, 59, 6145-6152.
- Mohi, M.G., Boulton, C., Gu, T.L., Sternberg, D.W., Neuberg, D., Griffin, J.D., Gilliland, D.G., and Neel, B.G., (2004) Combination of rapamycin and protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) inhibitors for the treatment of leukemias caused by oncogenic PTKs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A,

- Monks, A., Scudiero, D., Skehan, P., Shoemaker, R., Paull, K., Vistica, D., Hose, C., Langley, J., Cronise, P., Vaigro-Wolff, A., and ., (1991) Feasibility of a highflux anticancer drug screen using a diverse panel of cultured human tumor cell lines. J Natl Cancer Inst, 83, 757-766.
- Muise-Helmericks, R.C., Grimes, H.L., Bellacosa, A., Malstrom, S.E., Tsichlis, P.N., and Rosen, N., (1998) Cyclin D expression is controlled post-transcriptionally via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem, 273, 29864-29872.
- Munster, P.N., Marchion, D.C., Basso, A.D., and Rosen, N., (2002) Degradation of HER2 by ansamycins induces growth arrest and apoptosis in cells with HER2 overexpression via a HER3, phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase-AKT-dependent pathway. Cancer Res, 62, 3132-3137.
- Muthukkumar, S., Ramesh, T.M., and Bondada, S., (1995) Rapamycin, a potent immunosuppressive drug, causes programmed cell death in B lymphoma cells. Transplantation, 60, 264-270.
- Muthuswamy, S.K. and Muller, W.J., (1995a) Activation of Src family kinases in Neuinduced mammary tumors correlates with their association with distinct sets of tyrosine phosphorylated proteins in vivo. Oncogene, 11, 1801-1810.
- Muthuswamy, S.K. and Muller, W.J., (1995b) Direct and specific interaction of c-Src with Neu is involved in signaling by the epidermal growth factor receptor. Oncogene, 11, 271-279.
- Muthuswamy, S.K., Siegel, P.M., Dankort, D.L., Webster, M.A., and Muller, W.J., (1994) Mammary tumors expressing the neu proto-oncogene possess elevated c-Src tyrosine kinase activity. Mol Cell Biol, 14, 735-743.
- Myers, M.G., Jr., Grammer, T.C., Wang, L.M., Sun, X.J., Pierce, J.H., Blenis, J., and White, M.F., (1994) Insulin receptor substrate-1 mediates phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase and p70S6k signaling during insulin, insulin-like growth factor-1, and interleukin-4 stimulation. J Biol Chem, 269, 28783-28789.
- Myers, M.G., Jr., Zhang, Y., Aldaz, G.A., Grammer, T., Glasheen, E.M., Yenush, L., Wang, L.M., Sun, X.J., Blenis, J., Pierce, J.H., and White, M.F., (1996) YMXM motifs and signaling by an insulin receptor substrate 1 molecule without tyrosine phosphorylation sites. Mol Cell Biol, 16, 4147-4155.
- Naidu, R., Yadav, M., Nair, S., and Kutty, M.K., (1998) Expression of c-erbB3 protein in primary breast carcinomas. Br J Cancer, 78, 1385-1390.
- Naito, K., Matsutani, E., and Tamura, T., (2002) TAK-165, a selective inhibitor or HER-2 tyrosine kinase: 1. Nature of tyrosine kinase inhibition and selective antitumor activity in vivo and in vitro. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res, 43, Abstr 3897-

- Nakatani, K., Thompson, D.A., Barthel, A., Sakaue, H., Liu, W., Weigel, R.J., and Roth, R.A., (1999) Up-regulation of Akt3 in estrogen receptor-deficient breast cancers and androgen-independent prostate cancer lines. J Biol Chem, 274, 21528-21532.
- Nave, B.T., Ouwens, M., Withers, D.J., Alessi, D.R., and Shepherd, P.R., (1999) Mammalian target of rapamycin is a direct target for protein kinase B: identification of a convergence point for opposing effects of insulin and aminoacid deficiency on protein translation. Biochem J, 344 Pt 2, 427-431.
- Nellist, M., Goedbloed, M.A., de Winter, C., Verhaaf, B., Jankie, A., Reuser, A.J., van den Ouweland, A.M., van der, S.P., and Halley, D.J., (2002) Identification and characterization of the interaction between tuberin and 14-3-3zeta. J Biol Chem, 277, 39417-39424.
- Neve, R.M., Sutterluty, H., Pullen, N., Lane, H.A., Daly, J.M., Krek, W., and Hynes, N.E., (2000) Effects of oncogenic ErbB2 on G1 cell cycle regulators in breast tumour cells. Oncogene, 19, 1647-1656.
- Normanno, N., Ciardiello, F., Brandt, R., and Salomon, D.S., (1994) Epidermal growth factor-related peptides in the pathogenesis of human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 29, 11-27.
- Olayioye, M.A., Neve, R.M., Lane, H.A., and Hynes, N.E., (2000) The ErbB signaling network: receptor heterodimerization in development and cancer. EMBO J, 19, 3159-3167.
- Oldham, S. and Hafen, E., (2003) Insulin/IGF and target of rapamycin signaling: a TOR de force in growth control. Trends Cell Biol, 13, 79-85.
- **Osborne, C.K., Hobbs, K., and Trent, J.M.,** (1987) Biological differences among MCF-7 human breast cancer cell lines from different laboratories. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 9, 111-121.
- Oshima, M., Weiss, L., Dougall, W.C., Greene, M.I., and Guroff, G., (1995) Downregulation of c-neu receptors by nerve growth factor in PC12 cells. J Neurochem, 65, 427-433.
- Otsu, M., Hiles, I., Gout, I., Fry, M.J., Ruiz-Larrea, F., Panayotou, G., Thompson, A., Dhand, R., Hsuan, J., Totty, N., and ., (1991) Characterization of two 85 kd proteins that associate with receptor tyrosine kinases, middle-T/pp60c-src complexes, and PI3-kinase. Cell, 65, 91-104.
- Padhy, L.C., Shih, C., Cowing, D., Finkelstein, R., and Weinberg, R.A., (1982) Identification of a phosphoprotein specifically induced by the transforming DNA of rat neuroblastomas. Cell, 28, 865-871.

- Pages, G., Lenormand, P., L'Allemain, G., Chambard, J.C., Meloche, S., and Pouyssegur, J., (1993) Mitogen-activated protein kinases p42mapk and p44mapk are required for fibroblast proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 90, 8319-8323.
- Palmer, K., Sharan, N., Emtage, P., Gauldie, J., Muller, W.J., and Wan, Y., (2002) Intratumoral administration of an adenovirus expressing a kinase dead form of ErbB-2 inhibits tumor growth. Gene Ther, 9, 898-905.
- Panwalkar, A., Verstovsek, S., and Giles, F.J., (2004) Mammalian target of rapamycin inhibition as therapy for hematologic malignancies. Cancer, 100, 657-666.
- Pawson, T., (1995) Protein modules and signalling networks. Nature, 373, 573-580.
- Pearson, R.B., Dennis, P.B., Han, J.W., Williamson, N.A., Kozma, S.C., Wettenhall, R.E., and Thomas, G., (1995) The principal target of rapamycin-induced p70s6k inactivation is a novel phosphorylation site within a conserved hydrophobic domain. EMBO J, 14, 5279-5287.
- Peles, E., Bacus, S.S., Koski, R.A., Lu, H.S., Wen, D., Ogden, S.G., Levy, R.B., and Yarden, Y., (1992) Isolation of the neu/HER-2 stimulatory ligand: a 44 kd glycoprotein that induces differentiation of mammary tumor cells. Cell, 69, 205-216.
- Peles, E., Levy, R.B., Or, E., Ullrich, A., and Yarden, Y., (1991) Oncogenic forms of the neu/HER2 tyrosine kinase are permanently coupled to phospholipase C gamma. EMBO J, 10, 2077-2086.
- Pene, F., Claessens, Y.E., Muller, O., Viguie, F., Mayeux, P., Dreyfus, F., Lacombe, C., and Bouscary, D., (2002) Role of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt and mTOR/P70S6-kinase pathways in the proliferation and apoptosis in multiple myeloma. Oncogene, 21, 6587-6597.
- Peng, T., Golub, T.R., and Sabatini, D.M., (2002) The immunosuppressant rapamycin mimics a starvation-like signal distinct from amino acid and glucose deprivation. Mol Cell Biol, 22, 5575-5584.
- Peterson, R.T., Beal, P.A., Comb, M.J., and Schreiber, S.L., (2000) FKBP12rapamycin-associated protein (FRAP) autophosphorylates at serine 2481 under translationally repressive conditions. J Biol Chem, 275, 7416-7423.
- Pinkas-Kramarski, R., Alroy, I., and Yarden, Y., (1997) ErbB receptors and EGF-like ligands: cell lineage determination and oncogenesis through combinatorial signaling. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2, 97-107.
- Pinkas-Kramarski, R., Soussan, L., Waterman, H., Levkowitz, G., Alroy, I., Klapper, L., Lavi, S., Seger, R., Ratzkin, B.J., Sela, M., and Yarden, Y.,

(1996) Diversification of Neu differentiation factor and epidermal growth factor signaling by combinatorial receptor interactions. EMBO J, 15, 2452-2467.

- Plas, D.R. and Thompson, C.B., (2003) Akt activation promotes degradation of tuberin and FOXO3a via the proteasome. J Biol Chem, 278, 12361-12366.
- Plowman, G.D., Culouscou, J.M., Whitney, G.S., Green, J.M., Carlton, G.W., Foy, L., Neubauer, M.G., and Shoyab, M., (1993a) Ligand-specific activation of HER4/p180erbB4, a fourth member of the epidermal growth factor receptor family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 90, 1746-1750.
- Plowman, G.D., Green, J.M., Culouscou, J.M., Carlton, G.W., Rothwell, V.M., and Buckley, S., (1993b) Heregulin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of HER4/p180erbB4. Nature, 366, 473-475.
- Plowman, G.D., Whitney, G.S., Neubauer, M.G., Green, J.M., McDonald, V.L., Todaro, G.J., and Shoyab, M., (1990) Molecular cloning and expression of an additional epidermal growth factor receptor-related gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87, 4905-4909.
- Polunovsky, V.A., Rosenwald, I.B., Tan, A.T., White, J., Chiang, L., Sonenberg, N., and Bitterman, P.B., (1996) Translational control of programmed cell death: eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E blocks apoptosis in growth-factorrestricted fibroblasts with physiologically expressed or deregulated Myc. Mol Cell Biol, 16, 6573-6581.
- **Posada, J. and Cooper, J.A.**, (1992) Molecular signal integration. Interplay between serine, threonine, and tyrosine phosphorylation. Mol Biol Cell, 3, 583-592.
- Potter, C.J., Huang, H., and Xu, T., (2001) Drosophila Tsc1 functions with Tsc2 to antagonize insulin signaling in regulating cell growth, cell proliferation, and organ size. Cell, 105, 357-368.
- Potter, C.J., Pedraza, L.G., and Xu, T., (2002) Akt regulates growth by directly phosphorylating Tsc2. Nat Cell Biol, 4, 658-665.
- Press, M.F., Pike, M.C., Chazin, V.R., Hung, G., Udove, J.A., Markowicz, M., Danyluk, J., Godolphin, W., Sliwkowski, M., Akita, R., and ., (1993) Her-2/neu expression in node-negative breast cancer: direct tissue quantitation by computerized image analysis and association of overexpression with increased risk of recurrent disease. Cancer Res, 53, 4960-4970.
- Prigent, S.A. and Gullick, W.J., (1994) Identification of c-erbB-3 binding sites for phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase and SHC using an EGF receptor/c-erbB-3 chimera. EMBO J, 13, 2831-2841.
- **Proud**, C.G., (2002) Regulation of mammalian translation factors by nutrients. Eur J Biochem, 269, 5338-5349.

- Quinn, C.M., Ostrowski, J.L., Lane, S.A., Loney, D.P., Teasdale, J., and Benson, F.A., (1994) c-erbB-3 protein expression in human breast cancer: comparison with other tumour variables and survival. Histopathology, 25, 247-252.
- Radimerski, T., Montagne, J., Rintelen, F., Stocker, H., van der, K.J., Downes, C.P., Hafen, E., and Thomas, G., (2002) dS6K-regulated cell growth is dPKB/dPI(3)K-independent, but requires dPDK1. Nat Cell Biol, 4, 251-255.
- Rajasekhar, V.K., Viale, A., Socci, N.D., Wiedmann, M., Hu, X., and Holland, E.C., (2003) Oncogenic Ras and Akt signaling contribute to glioblastoma formation by differential recruitment of existing mRNAs to polysomes. Mol Cell, 12, 889-901.
- Ram, T.G. and Ethier, S.P., (1996) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase recruitment by p185erbB-2 and erbB-3 is potently induced by neu differentiation factor/heregulin during mitogenesis and is constitutively elevated in growth factor-independent breast carcinoma cells with c-erbB-2 gene amplification. Cell Growth Differ, 7, 551-561.
- Raught, B. and Gingras, A.C., (1999) eIF4E activity is regulated at multiple levels. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 31, 43-57.
- Raught, B., Gingras, A.C., and Sonenberg, N., (2001) The target of rapamycin (TOR) proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98, 7037-7044.
- Razeghi, P., Sharma, S., Ying, J., Li, Y.P., Stepkowski, S., Reid, M.B., and Taegtmeyer, H., (2003) Atrophic remodeling of the heart in vivo simultaneously activates pathways of protein synthesis and degradation. Circulation, 108, 2536-2541.
- **Riese, D.J. and Stern, D.F.**, (1998) Specificity within the EGF family/ErbB receptor family signaling network. Bioessays, 20, 41-48.
- Riese, D.J., van Raaij, T.M., Plowman, G.D., Andrews, G.C., and Stern, D.F., (1995) The cellular response to neuregulins is governed by complex interactions of the erbB receptor family. Mol Cell Biol, 15, 5770-5776.
- Rinker-Schaeffer, C.W., Austin, V., Zimmer, S., and Rhoads, R.E., (1992) Ras transformation of cloned rat embryo fibroblasts results in increased rates of protein synthesis and phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E. J Biol Chem, 267, 10659-10664.
- Rinker-Schaeffer, C.W., Graff, J.R., De Benedetti, A., Zimmer, S.G., and Rhoads, R.E., (1993) Decreasing the level of translation initiation factor 4E with antisense RNA causes reversal of ras-mediated transformation and tumorigenesis of cloned rat embryo fibroblasts. Int J Cancer, 55, 841-847.

- Robertson, K.W., Reeves, J.R., Smith, G., Keith, W.N., Ozanne, B.W., Cooke, T.G., and Stanton, P.D., (1996) Quantitative estimation of epidermal growth factor receptor and c-erbB-2 in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 56, 3823-3830.
- Ronchetti, A., Rovere, P., Iezzi, G., Galati, G., Heltai, S., Protti, M.P., Garancini, M.P., Manfredi, A.A., Rugarli, C., and Bellone, M., (1999) Immunogenicity of apoptotic cells in vivo: role of antigen load, antigen-presenting cells, and cytokines. J Immunol, 163, 130-136.
- **Rosenwald, I.B.**, (1995) Growth factor-independent expression of the gene encoding eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E in transformed cell lines. Cancer Lett, 98, 77-82.
- Rousseau, D., Gingras, A.C., Pause, A., and Sonenberg, N., (1996) The eIF4E-binding proteins 1 and 2 are negative regulators of cell growth. Oncogene, 13, 2415-2420.
- Sabatini, D.M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Lui, M., Tempst, P., and Snyder, S.H., (1994) RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycindependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. Cell, 78, 35-43.
- Sabers, C.J., Martin, M.M., Brunn, G.J., Williams, J.M., Dumont, F.J., Wiederrecht, G., and Abraham, R.T., (1995) Isolation of a protein target of the FKBP12-rapamycin complex in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem, 270, 815-822.
- Sainsbury, J.R., Farndon, J.R., Needham, G.K., Malcolm, A.J., and Harris, A.L., (1987) Epidermal-growth-factor receptor status as predictor of early recurrence of and death from breast cancer. Lancet, 1, 1398-1402.
- Sajot, N. and Genest, M., (2000) Structure prediction of the dimeric neu/ErbB-2 transmembrane domain from multi-nanosecond molecular dynamics simulations. Eur Biophys J, 28, 648-662.
- Samanta, A., LeVea, C.M., Dougall, W.C., Qian, X., and Greene, M.I., (1994) Ligand and p185c-neu density govern receptor interactions and tyrosine kinase activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 91, 1711-1715.
- Saucedo, L.J., Gao, X., Chiarelli, D.A., Li, L., Pan, D., and Edgar, B.A., (2003) Rheb promotes cell growth as a component of the insulin/TOR signalling network. Nat Cell Biol, 5, 566-571.
- Saucier, C., Khoury, H., Lai, K.M., Peschard, P., Dankort, D., Naujokas, M.A., Holash, J., Yancopoulos, G.D., Muller, W.J., Pawson, T., and Park, M., (2004) The Shc adaptor protein is critical for VEGF induction by Met/HGF and ErbB2 receptors and for early onset of tumor angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A,
- Sawyers, C.L., (2003a) Opportunities and challenges in the development of kinase inhibitor therapy for cancer. Genes Dev, 17, 2998-3010.

- Sawyers, C.L., (2003b) Will mTOR inhibitors make it as cancer drugs? Cancer Cell, 4, 343-348.
- Schechter, A.L., Stern, D.F., Vaidyanathan, L., Decker, S.J., Drebin, J.A., Greene, M.I., and Weinberg, R.A., (1984) The neu oncogene: an erb-B-related gene encoding a 185,000-Mr tumour antigen. Nature, 312, 513-516.
- Schlessinger, J. and Ullrich, A., (1992) Growth factor signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Neuron, 9, 383-391.
- Scott, G.K., Dodson, J.M., Montgomery, P.A., Johnson, R.M., Sarup, J.C., Wong, W.L., Ullrich, A., Shepard, H.M., and Benz, C.C., (1991) p185HER2 signal transduction in breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem, 266, 14300-14305.
- Scott, P.H., Brunn, G.J., Kohn, A.D., Roth, R.A., and Lawrence, J.C., Jr., (1998) Evidence of insulin-stimulated phosphorylation and activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin mediated by a protein kinase B signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95, 7772-7777.
- Seger, R. and Krebs, E.G., (1995) The MAPK signaling cascade. FASEB J, 9, 726-735.
- Sekulic, A., Hudson, C.C., Homme, J.L., Yin, P., Otterness, D.M., Karnitz, L.M., and Abraham, R.T., (2000) A direct linkage between the phosphoinositide 3kinase-AKT signaling pathway and the mammalian target of rapamycin in mitogen-stimulated and transformed cells. Cancer Res, 60, 3504-3513.
- Sen, S., Zhou, H., Andersson, B.S., Cork, A., Freireich, E.J., and Stass, S.A., (1995) p53 gene mutations with chromosome 17 abnormalities in chronic myelogenous leukemia blast crisis patients persist in long-term cell lines but may be acquired in acute myeloid leukemia cells in vitro. Cancer Genet Cytogenet, 82, 35-40.
- Seufferlein, T. and Rozengurt, E., (1996) Rapamycin inhibits constitutive p70s6k phosphorylation, cell proliferation, and colony formation in small cell lung cancer cells. Cancer Res, 56, 3895-3897.
- Shamji, A.F., Kuruvilla, F.G., and Schreiber, S.L., (2000) Partitioning the transcriptional program induced by rapamycin among the effectors of the Tor proteins. Curr Biol, 10, 1574-1581.
- Shayesteh, L., Lu, Y., Kuo, W.L., Baldocchi, R., Godfrey, T., Collins, C., Pinkel, D., Powell, B., Mills, G.B., and Gray, J.W., (1999) PIK3CA is implicated as an oncogene in ovarian cancer. Nat Genet, 21, 99-102.
- Sherr, C.J., (1994) G1 phase progression: cycling on cue. Cell, 79, 551-555.
- Sherr, C.J., (1996) Cancer cell cycles. Science, 274, 1672-1677.

- Sherr, C.J. and Roberts, J.M., (1999) CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. Genes Dev, 13, 1501-1512.
- Shi, Y., Frankel, A., Radvanyi, L.G., Penn, L.Z., Miller, R.G., and Mills, G.B., (1995) Rapamycin enhances apoptosis and increases sensitivity to cisplatin in vitro. Cancer Res, 55, 1982-1988.
- Shih, C., Padhy, L.C., Murray, M., and Weinberg, R.A., (1981) Transforming genes of carcinomas and neuroblastomas introduced into mouse fibroblasts. Nature, 290, 261-264.
- Shih, C., Shilo, B.Z., Goldfarb, M.P., Dannenberg, A., and Weinberg, R.A., (1979) Passage of phenotypes of chemically transformed cells via transfection of DNA and chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 76, 5714-5718.
- Siegel, P.M., Dankort, D.L., Hardy, W.R., and Muller, W.J., (1994) Novel activating mutations in the neu proto-oncogene involved in induction of mammary tumors. Mol Cell Biol, 14, 7068-7077.
- Siegel, P.M. and Muller, W.J., (1996) Mutations affecting conserved cysteine residues within the extracellular domain of Neu promote receptor dimerization and activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 93, 8878-8883.
- Siegel, P.M., Ryan, E.D., Cardiff, R.D., and Muller, W.J., (1999) Elevated expression of activated forms of Neu/ErbB-2 and ErbB-3 are involved in the induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice: implications for human breast cancer. EMBO J, 18, 2149-2164.
- Siegel, P.M., Shu, W., Cardiff, R.D., Muller, W.J., and Massague, J., (2003) Transforming growth factor beta signaling impairs Neu-induced mammary tumorigenesis while promoting pulmonary metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 8430-8435.
- Slamon, D.J., Clark, G.M., Wong, S.G., Levin, W.J., Ullrich, A., and McGuire, W.L., (1987) Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. Science, 235, 177-182.
- Slamon, D.J., Godolphin, W., Jones, L.A., Holt, J.A., Wong, S.G., Keith, D.E., Levin, W.J., Stuart, S.G., Udove, J., Ullrich, A., and ., (1989) Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science, 244, 707-712.
- Sliwkowski, M.X., Schaefer, G., Akita, R.W., Lofgren, J.A., Fitzpatrick, V.D., Nuijens, A., Fendly, B.M., Cerione, R.A., Vandlen, R.L., and Carraway, K.L., III, (1994) Coexpression of erbB2 and erbB3 proteins reconstitutes a high affinity receptor for heregulin. J Biol Chem, 269, 14661-14665.

- Smith, S.O., Smith, C.S., and Bormann, B.J., (1996) Strong hydrogen bonding interactions involving a buried glutamic acid in the transmembrane sequence of the neu/erbB-2 receptor. Nat Struct Biol, 3, 252-258.
- Soltoff, S.P., Carraway, K.L., III, Prigent, S.A., Gullick, W.G., and Cantley, L.C., (1994) ErbB3 is involved in activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by epidermal growth factor. Mol Cell Biol, 14, 3550-3558.
- Sonenberg, N. and Gingras, A.C., (1998) The mRNA 5' cap-binding protein eIF4E and control of cell growth. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 10, 268-275.
- Srinivasan, R., Gillett, C.E., Barnes, D.M., and Gullick, W.J., (2000) Nuclear expression of the c-erbB-4/HER-4 growth factor receptor in invasive breast cancers. Cancer Res, 60, 1483-1487.
- Stal, O., Borg, A., Ferno, M., Kallstrom, A.C., Malmstrom, P., and Nordenskjold, B., (2000) ErbB2 status and the benefit from two or five years of adjuvant tamoxifen in postmenopausal early stage breast cancer. Ann Oncol, 11, 1545-1550.
- Stern, D.F. and Kamps, M.P., (1988) EGF-stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of p185neu: a potential model for receptor interactions. EMBO J, 7, 995-1001.
- Sternberg, M.J. and Gullick, W.J., (1989) Neu receptor dimerization. Nature, 339, 587-
- Stevenson, L.E., Ravichandran, K.S., and Frackelton, A.R., Jr., (1999) Shc dominant negative disrupts cell cycle progression in both G0-G1 and G2-M of ErbB2positive breast cancer cells. Cell Growth Differ, 10, 61-71.
- Stocker, H., Radimerski, T., Schindelholz, B., Wittwer, F., Belawat, P., Daram, P., Breuer, S., Thomas, G., and Hafen, E., (2003) Rheb is an essential regulator of S6K in controlling cell growth in Drosophila. Nat Cell Biol, 5, 559-565.
- Tee, A.R., Anjum, R., and Blenis, J., (2003) Inactivation of the tuberous sclerosis complex-1 and -2 gene products occurs by phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Aktdependent and -independent phosphorylation of tuberin. J Biol Chem, 278, 37288-37296.
- **Thor, A.,** (2001) HER2--a discussion of testing approaches in the USA. Ann Oncol, 12 Suppl 1, S101-S107.
- Thor, A.D., Berry, D.A., Budman, D.R., Muss, H.B., Kute, T., Henderson, I.C., Barcos, M., Cirrincione, C., Edgerton, S., Allred, C., Norton, L., and Liu, E.T., (1998) erbB-2, p53, and efficacy of adjuvant therapy in lymph node-positive breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 90, 1346-1360.
- **Tirado, O.M., Mateo-Lozano, S., Sanders, S., Dettin, L.E., and Notario, V.,** (2003) The PCPH oncoprotein antagonizes the proapoptotic role of the mammalian target

of rapamycin in the response of normal fibroblasts to ionizing radiation. Cancer Res, 63, 6290-6298.

- Toker, A. and Cantley, L.C., (1997) Signalling through the lipid products of phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase. Nature, 387, 673-676.
- **Tolcher, A.W.,** (2004) Novel therapeutic molecular targets for prostate cancer: the mTOR signaling pathway and epidermal growth factor receptor. J Urol, 171, S41-S43.
- Travis, A., Pinder, S.E., Robertson, J.F., Bell, J.A., Wencyk, P., Gullick, W.J., Nicholson, R.I., Poller, D.N., Blamey, R.W., Elston, C.W., and Ellis, I.O., (1996) C-erbB-3 in human breast carcinoma: expression and relation to prognosis and established prognostic indicators. Br J Cancer, 74, 229-233.
- Tzahar, E., Waterman, H., Chen, X., Levkowitz, G., Karunagaran, D., Lavi, S., Ratzkin, B.J., and Yarden, Y., (1996) A hierarchical network of interreceptor interactions determines signal transduction by Neu differentiation factor/neuregulin and epidermal growth factor. Mol Cell Biol, 16, 5276-5287.
- Ullrich, A., Coussens, L., Hayflick, J.S., Dull, T.J., Gray, A., Tam, A.W., Lee, J., Yarden, Y., Libermann, T.A., and Schlessinger, J., (1984) Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. Nature, 309, 418-425.
- Varticovski, L., Harrison-Findik, D., Keeler, M.L., and Susa, M., (1994) Role of PI 3kinase in mitogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1226, 1-11.
- Vijapurkar, U., Cheng, K., and Koland, J.G., (1998) Mutation of a Shc binding site tyrosine residue in ErbB3/HER3 blocks heregulin-dependent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem, 273, 20996-21002.
- Vijapurkar, U., Kim, M.S., and Koland, J.G., (2003) Roles of mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphoinositide 3'-kinase in ErbB2/ErbB3 coreceptormediated heregulin signaling. Exp Cell Res, 284, 291-302.
- Vogt, P.K., (2001) PI 3-kinase, mTOR, protein synthesis and cancer. Trends Mol Med, 7, 482-484.
- Vogt, U., Bielawski, K., Schlotter, C.M., Bosse, U., Falkiewicz, B., and Podhajska, A.J., (1998) Amplification of erbB-4 oncogene occurs less frequently than that of erbB-2 in primary human breast cancer. Gene, 223, 375-380.
- Voisin, L., Breuille, D., Combaret, L., Pouyet, C., Taillandier, D., Aurousseau, E., Obled, C., and Attaix, D., (1996) Muscle wasting in a rat model of long-lasting sepsis results from the activation of lysosomal, Ca2+ -activated, and ubiquitinproteasome proteolytic pathways. J Clin Invest, 97, 1610-1617.

- von Manteuffel, S.R., Dennis, P.B., Pullen, N., Gingras, A.C., Sonenberg, N., and Thomas, G., (1997) The insulin-induced signalling pathway leading to S6 and initiation factor 4E binding protein 1 phosphorylation bifurcates at a rapamycinsensitive point immediately upstream of p70s6k. Mol Cell Biol, 17, 5426-5436.
- Wada, T., Qian, X.L., and Greene, M.I., (1990) Intermolecular association of the p185neu protein and EGF receptor modulates EGF receptor function. Cell, 61, 1339-1347.
- Wallasch, C., Weiss, F.U., Niederfellner, G., Jallal, B., Issing, W., and Ullrich, A., (1995) Heregulin-dependent regulation of HER2/neu oncogenic signaling by heterodimerization with HER3. EMBO J, 14, 4267-4275.
- Wang, S.C. and Hung, M.C., (2001) HER2 overexpression and cancer targeting. Semin Oncol, 28, 115-124.
- Webster, M.A., Hutchinson, J.N., Rauh, M.J., Muthuswamy, S.K., Anton, M., Tortorice, C.G., Cardiff, R.D., Graham, F.L., Hassell, J.A., and Muller, W.J., (1998) Requirement for both Shc and phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase signaling pathways in polyomavirus middle T-mediated mammary tumorigenesis. Mol Cell Biol, 18, 2344-2359.
- Weinberg, R.A., (1995) The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell, 81, 323-330.
- Weiner, D.B., Kokai, Y., Wada, T., Cohen, J.A., Williams, W.V., and Greene, M.I., (1989) Linkage of tyrosine kinase activity with transforming ability of the p185neu oncoprotein. Oncogene, 4, 1175-1183.
- Weinstat-Saslow, D., Merino, M.J., Manrow, R.E., Lawrence, J.A., Bluth, R.F., Wittenbel, K.D., Simpson, J.F., Page, D.L., and Steeg, P.S., (1995) Overexpression of cyclin D mRNA distinguishes invasive and in situ breast carcinomas from non-malignant lesions. Nat Med, 1, 1257-1260.
- Weinstein, I.B., (2002) Cancer. Addiction to oncogenes--the Achilles heal of cancer. Science, 297, 63-64.
- Wen, D., Peles, E., Cupples, R., Suggs, S.V., Bacus, S.S., Luo, Y., Trail, G., Hu, S., Silbiger, S.M., Levy, R.B., and ., (1992) Neu differentiation factor: a transmembrane glycoprotein containing an EGF domain and an immunoglobulin homology unit. Cell, 69, 559-572.
- Wiederrecht, G.J., Sabers, C.J., Brunn, G.J., Martin, M.M., Dumont, F.J., and Abraham, R.T., (1995) Mechanism of action of rapamycin: new insights into the regulation of G1-phase progression in eukaryotic cells. Prog Cell Cycle Res, 1, 53-71.

- Xia, W., Lau, Y.K., Zhang, H.Z., Xiao, F.Y., Johnston, D.A., Liu, A.R., Li, L., Katz, R.L., and Hung, M.C., (1999) Combination of EGFR, HER-2/neu, and HER-3 is a stronger predictor for the outcome of oral squamous cell carcinoma than any individual family members. Clin Cancer Res, 5, 4164-4174.
- Xia, W., Mullin, R.J., Keith, B.R., Liu, L.H., Ma, H., Rusnak, D.W., Owens, G., Alligood, K.J., and Spector, N.L., (2002) Anti-tumor activity of GW572016: a dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor blocks EGF activation of EGFR/erbB2 and downstream Erk1/2 and AKT pathways. Oncogene, 21, 6255-6263.
- Xie, Y., Pendergast, A.M., and Hung, M.C., (1995) Dominant-negative mutants of Grb2 induced reversal of the transformed phenotypes caused by the point mutation-activated rat HER-2/Neu. J Biol Chem, 270, 30717-30724.
- Yakes, F.M., Chinratanalab, W., Ritter, C.A., King, W., Seelig, S., and Arteaga, C.L., (2002) Herceptin-induced inhibition of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase and Akt Is required for antibody-mediated effects on p27, cyclin D1, and antitumor action. Cancer Res, 62, 4132-4141.
- Yamamoto, T., Ikawa, S., Akiyama, T., Semba, K., Nomura, N., Miyajima, N., Saito, T., and Toyoshima, K., (1986) Similarity of protein encoded by the human cerb-B-2 gene to epidermal growth factor receptor. Nature, 319, 230-234.
- Yamamoto, T. and Toyoshima, K., (1987) [The erbB-related protooncogenes encoding growth factor receptors]. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho, 14, 2075-2082.
- Yang, J.C., Haworth, L., Sherry, R.M., Hwu, P., Schwartzentruber, D.J., Topalian, S.L., Steinberg, S.M., Chen, H.X., and Rosenberg, S.A., (2003) A randomized trial of bevacizumab, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor antibody, for metastatic renal cancer. N Engl J Med, 349, 427-434.
- Yokota, J., Yamamoto, T., Toyoshima, K., Terada, M., Sugimura, T., Battifora, H., and Cline, M.J., (1986) Amplification of c-erbB-2 oncogene in human adenocarcinomas in vivo. Lancet, 1, 765-767.
- **Yoshida, S., Naito, K., and Hori, A.,** (2002) TAK-165, a selective inhibitor of HER-2 tyrosine kinase: 2. Mechanism of anti-tumor activity on HER-2 signal transduction pathway. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res, 43, Abst 3898-
- Yu, D., Liu, B., Jing, T., Sun, D., Price, J.E., Singletary, S.E., Ibrahim, N., Hortobagyi, G.N., and Hung, M.C., (1998) Overexpression of both p185cerbB2 and p170mdr-1 renders breast cancer cells highly resistant to taxol. Oncogene, 16, 2087-2094.
- Yu, K., Toral-Barza, L., Discafani, C., Zhang, W.G., Skotnicki, J., Frost, P., and Gibbons, J.J., (2001a) mTOR, a novel target in breast cancer: the effect of CCI-779, an mTOR inhibitor, in preclinical models of breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer, 8, 249-258.

- Yu, Q., Geng, Y., and Sicinski, P., (2001b) Specific protection against breast cancers by cyclin D1 ablation. Nature, 411, 1017-1021.
- Zhang, K., Sun, J., Liu, N., Wen, D., Chang, D., Thomason, A., and Yoshinaga, S.K., (1996) Transformation of NIH 3T3 cells by HER3 or HER4 receptors requires the presence of HER1 or HER2. J Biol Chem, 271, 3884-3890.
- Zhang, X., Shu, L., Hosoi, H., Murti, K.G., and Houghton, P.J., (2002) Predominant nuclear localization of mammalian target of rapamycin in normal and malignant cells in culture. J Biol Chem, 277, 28127-28134.
- Zhong, H., Chiles, K., Feldser, D., Laughner, E., Hanrahan, C., Georgescu, M.M., Simons, J.W., and Semenza, G.L., (2000) Modulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha expression by the epidermal growth factor/phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/PTEN/AKT/FRAP pathway in human prostate cancer cells: implications for tumor angiogenesis and therapeutics. Cancer Res, 60, 1541-1545.